

Southern African conservation projects and their impacts on local people's drought adaptation strategies

A Meta-synthesis

By D. Németh

Date of submitting: October, 17, 2020 Word count: 21087

Master 's Thesis Sustainable Development International Development Track Copernicus Institute for Sustainable Development Utrecht University

Submitted by Dániel Németh Student number: 6501532 <u>d.nemeth@students.uu.nl</u>

Supervisor: Dr. Kei Otsuki Assistant Professor Department of Human Geography and Planning Faculty of Geosciences, Utrecht University k.otsuki@uu.nl

Second reader: Dr. Murtah Shannon Lecturer Department of Human Geography and Planning Faculty of Geosciences, Utrecht University m.l.shannon@uu.nl

Cover photo from pxhere.com

Summary

This research explores the relationship between two increasingly central concepts of sustainability: drought adaptation strategies and conservation projects. Despite their importance, till time no attempt has been made of bridging them. Current research does so by asking how can conservation projects address local drought adaptation strategies in southern Africa. This question is answered through multiple stages. First, an extensive literature review was conducted in order to find out what drought adaptation strategies do local communities employ. Then, a meta-synthesis, containing more than 500 academic papers was employed in order to discover the different impacts conservation projects have on the local livelihood. These multi-dimensional impacts were spatially visualized with data-analysis and GIS mapping. Both the drought adaptation strategies and the conservation projects' impacts were categorized into the seven community capitals: natural, human, social, financial, built, cultural, and political capitals. The categorization illustrated that drought adaptation strategies are primarily based on the social and political capitals, while conservation projects can enhance financial and human capital the most and primarily depreciate the social and political ones. With the help of this categorization, the potential impacts of conservation projects on the drought adaptation strategies were explored. It is understood that the identified impacts are not static and set in stone, therefore with adequate management they can be steered towards addressing drought adaptation strategies in the most advantageous way. To do so, the research concludes with the following five suggestions for policy makers: increase local power, ensure fair benefit distribution, safeguard the inevitable livelihood transition, channel financial capital into reducing drought vulnerability, and avoid displacement.

Keywords: Conservation, Livelihood, Drought Adaptation Strategies, Southern Africa

Acknowledgments

I am deeply indebted to many people who contributed to this work. First of all, I would like to thank my mother for her continuous support of keeping me motivated and helping me through every deadlock I encountered. Furthermore, I cannot express my gratitude enough to my future wife, Lisa, who did not only accommodate me when COVID-19 canceled my original research plan, but also kept kindly reviewing my writings throughout all stages of the work. I am very thankful for professor Dr Maarten Zeylmans van Emmichoven and Balázs Horváth for their GIS-related support and for every researcher who kindly answered my inquiries. Lastly, but not the least I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr Kei Otsuki, and my second reader, Dr Murtah Shannon for their constructive criticism and useful suggestions.

Table of Contents

Summary
Acknowledgments
Table of Contents
List of Figures
List of Tables7
List of Maps7
List of Abbreviations
1 Introduction
1.1 Problem Definition
1.2 Knowledge Gap 10
1.3 Research Objectives and Research Questions
1.4 Relevance
1.4.1 Academic Relevance
1.4.2 Societal Relevance
2 Theoretical Framework 12
2.1 Drought Adaptation Strategies
2.1.1 Droughts
2.1.2 Adaptation Strategies
2.2 Conservation Project
2.2.1 Fortress Conservation
2.2.2 CBNRM Projects
2.2.3 TBNRM Projects
2.2.4 Hybrid Contemporary Approaches
2.3 Conservation Projects' Livelihood Impacts
2.3.1 Categorizing Livelihood Impacts into Community Capitals
2.3.2 Positive Conservation Livelihood Impacts
2.3.3 Negative Conservation Livelihood Impacts
2.4 Conceptual Framework
3 Research Design
3.1 Study Area
3.1.1 Study Area Identification
3.1.2 Study Area Description
3.2 Methodology

3.2.1 Literature Review	:3
3.2.2 Meta-synthesis	24
3.2.3 Data-analysis	27
3.2.4 GIS Mapping	:9
3.2.5 Concluding the Results	29
4 Results	0
4.1 General Findings	0
4.2 The Drought Adaptation Strategies	0
4.3 The Conservation Projects' Impacts	4
4.3.1 Natural Capital	5
4.3.2 Human Capital	7
4.3.3 Social Capital	9
4.3.4 Financial Capital	1
4.3.5 Built Capital	3
4.3.6 Cultural Capital 4	5
4.3.7 Political Capital	7
4.3.8 Crosscutting Issues	1
4.4 The Conservation Projects' Impacts on Drought Adaptation5	4
4.4.1 Positive Impacts	4
4.4.2 Negative Impacts	6
5 Discussion	8
5.1 Discussion of the Results	8
5.2 Risks and Limitations	9
5.3 Further Research	60
5.4 Reliability and Validity of the Data	60
6 Conclusion	52
6.1 Theoretical Implications	52
6.2 Implications for Policy makers	52
References	j 4
Appendix 7	'7
Papers included in the meta-synthesis	7

List of Figures

1. Figure: Conceptual Framework	21
2. Figure: The exclusion process of the selected literature	
3. Figure: Examples for the five rules of exclusion	27
4. Figure: Example of transferring data from the text to notes and the database	
5. Figure: Excerpt of the database containing the impacts on the human capital	29

List of Tables

1. Table: The comparison of the study area's main conservation approaches	
2. Table: Examples for the CCF capitals	17
3. Table: The drought adaptation strategies organized into the four groups of strategies and	nd the seven
community capitals	
4. Table: The conservation projects' impacts categorized into the seven community capitals	3 50
5. Table: Comparison of the two crosscutting issues' impacts	53
6. Table: The positive and negative conservation projects' impacts on the local drough	t adaptation
strategies, organized by key themes	
7. Table: Five suggestions for policy makers	63

List of Maps

1. Map: The study area shown on the map of Africa	10
2. Map: The study area, divided by political and climatic boundaries	22
3. Map: The geographic scopes of the reviewed papers on drought adaptation	24
4. Map: The geographic scopes of the synthesized literature on conservation	35
5. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' natural capital	37
6. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' human capital	39
7. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' social capital	41
8. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' financial capital	43
9. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' built capital	45
10. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' cultural capital	47
11. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' political capital	49
12. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities by HWC	52
13. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities by displacement	53

List of Abbreviations

AI: Aridity Index

CBNRM: Community-Based Natural Resource Management CCF: Community Capitals Framework GIS: Geographic Information System GLTBCA: Great Limpopo Transboundary Conservation Area HWC: Human-Wildlife Conflict LTBCA: Lubombo Transboundary Conservation Area SADC: Southern African Development Community SDG: Sustainable Development Goals SLA: Sustainable Livelihood Approach TBCA: Transboundary Conservation Area TBNRM: Transboundary Natural Resource Management Area

1 Introduction

1.1 Problem Definition

Climate change is expected to irreversibly transform key environmental processes and put adverse impacts on local communities. Amongst its numerous and complex impacts, droughts can be highlighted due to their higher prevalence in the developing world, where poor socio-economic conditions exacerbate the local population's vulnerability (Carrão et al., 2016). Droughts are the single largest reason behind food shortages in developing countries, affecting more people than any other natural hazards (FAO, n.d.a; FAO, n.d.b; FAO, 2019). The perceived severity of these impacts depends to a large extent on how successfully the affected communities can adapt. This makes climate change adaptation an increasingly pressing topic and "one of the most important research issues within the area of global environmental change" (Adger, 1999, pp.249).

Another central issue in the global environmental agenda is the unsustainable use of natural resources leading to biodiversity loss, habitat destruction, and resource depletion. To combat this complex problem, conservation projects aim to sustain the natural characteristics of intact or near intact natural environments (Aronson et al., 2006). By appointing the "safeguarding [of] ecosystems, species and genetic diversity" as one of the main goals for the decade, the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and the Aichi Targets clearly signals conservation's role in environmental protection (Convention on Biological Diversity, 2010). In addition, many researchers agree that human wellbeing is inseparable from the state of the environment (Beal, 2019), making conservation a crosscutting issue, central to the global agenda of sustainability. Its role in sustainable development is mirrored in the fact that five¹ out of the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) mention conservation among their indicators.

However, while aiming to solve global problems, conservation projects unintentionally create local ones. Ultimately, conservation is about the sustainable management of natural resources, so implementing it, inevitably leads to overwriting the previous resource management strategies and land uses (West et al., 2006; Coad et al., 2008). This is also the case in southern Africa, where rising tourism revenues further incentivize the establishment of conservation projects. Most of them are found in the drylands where agricultural returns are marginal (Von Maltitz et al., 2006), but incidentally, this area is also one of the most exposed and vulnerable to climate change, globally (Niang et al., 2014; New, 2015). Here, in the arid and semiarid regions of southern Africa, droughts are common and are expected to grow in both their frequency and intensity, potentially leading to adverse effects on food security, water availability, health, economic development, and the overall stability of the region (Niang et al., 2014).

The common local livelihood relies on certain natural resources, making these communities particularly vulnerable to drought. They employ diverse drought adaptation strategies but the effectiveness of these may be influenced by the conservation projects. As the adaptation strategies are understood in the context of livelihood, it can be hypothesized that the conservation projects' impacts on the latter can potentially alter the former. If such impacts exist, then we should also be able to channel them in a way that enhances, rather than depreciates, those livelihood capitals that are utilized for the adaptation strategies. To explore this potential relationship between the two concepts, I ask the following research question: How can conservation projects address drought adaptation in southern Africa?

The study area covers the arid and semiarid lands of southern Africa, indicated on Map 1.

¹ SDG2 (End Hunger), SDG6 (Clean Water and Sanitation), SDG11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities), SDG14 (Life Below Water) and SDG15 (Life on Land)



1. Map: The study area shown on the map of Africa

1.2 Knowledge Gap

Both drought adaptation strategies and the impacts of conservation projects are well-researched topics of the study area. The impacts of world-class conservation projects such as Kruger National park or the Okavango Delta have attracted researcher's attention for a long time, while the local communities' high vulnerability to drought has motivated an endless number of studies on their adaptation strategies. However, these works were conducted separately from each other, creating a wide academic knowledge gap stretching between the two vital concepts. Although both being of critical importance, till time no attempt has been made to synthesize the results of these papers separately piled on the two sides of the knowledge gap.

1.3 Research Objectives and Research Questions

The current research aims to fill this knowledge gap by synthesizing the relevant literature's findings on drought adaptation strategies and conservation projects' impacts and then conclude how the two are related. In order to achieve this objective, the following research questions are asked:

Sub-question 1: What drought adaptation strategies do communities in the study area employ?

The first sub-question explores the drought adaptation strategies employed by local communities in the study area in order to be able to tell how conservation projects can impact them. The question is answered through a literature review, described in *Chapter 3.2.1*. The identified drought adaptation strategies are categorized according to what community capital they utilize. The answer to this question is found in *Chapter 4.2*.

Sub-question 2: What livelihood impacts do conservation projects have in the study area?

The second sub-question aims to explore the impacts that conservation projects of the study area have on the local communities. The question is answered with the methodology of meta-synthesis and supplemented with data-analysis and GIS (Geographic Information System) mapping, described in *Chapters 3.2.2 – 3.2.4*. The synthesized impacts are categorized based on the community capital they (primarily) affect. The answer to this question is found in *Chapter 4.3*.

Sub-question 3: How can conservation projects impact local communities' drought adaptation strategies?

The third sub-question builds upon the answers of the previous two sub-questions. Their results are connected through the community capital categorization and conclusions on the relationship between drought adaptation strategies and conservation projects' impacts are made (*Chapter 3.2.5*). The answering to this question – elaborated in *Chapter 4.4* - identifies the main areas where the conservation projects impact the local drought adaptation and lists these in a table, categorizing them into positive and negative processes.

Main research question: How can conservation projects address drought adaptation in southern Africa?

The answering of the third sub-question clearly signals how do conservation projects affect drought adaptation strategies both positively and negatively. By discussing these results in *Chapter 5.1*, the research connects the two academic concepts and indicates how can conservation management best address the local drought adaptation strategies, thereby answering the main research question.

1.4 Relevance

1.4.1 Academic Relevance

Linking the impacts of conservation projects to climate change adaptation can benefit the academic community by establishing a new theory, bridging over these two relevant concepts of sustainability. In addition, by mapping the results, the research helps to highlight "research-hotspots" of southern Africa, where most of the academic focus goes. This in turn inevitably sheds light on areas of insufficient attention that need more research.

1.4.2 Societal Relevance

Local support is key to the success of the conservation projects (Aronson et al., 2006) and in order to know how to gain this support, it is paramount to explore what impacts conservation projects exactly have on the local livelihoods. By synthesizing the impacts mentioned in more than 500 academic papers, and bridging them with the drought adaptation strategies, current research highlights the main areas where conservation projects may address drought adaptation. By doing so, the increased local support can lead to the longevity, effectivity, and sustainability of the conservation projects.

2 Theoretical Framework

2.1 Drought Adaptation Strategies

2.1.1 Droughts

Drought has many definitions, but broadly speaking we can differentiate between meteorological, hydrological, agricultural, and socio-economic understandings. The meteorological and hydrological definitions take a natural science perspective and use indicators such as absolute precipitation and moisture data. However, in the case of current research, the agricultural and socio-economic perspectives seem to be more suitable. From these anthropocentric perspectives, the concept of drought is grasped through relative water availability. Thus, in this research droughts refer to the socio-economic crisis resulting from anthropologic water demand exceeding natural water supply (Wilhite & Glantz, 1985).

One critical thing to understand is that climate change does not happen in isolation, but is rather in a constant interplay with other environmental, social, or economic processes that are capable to amplify each other and exacerbate existing inequalities (Olsson et al., 2014, Porter et al., 2014; FAO, 2019). Drought reduces water access and agricultural yields, increases wildlife damage, livestock mortality, disease prevalence, erosion, and fire hazard. It mostly affects communities whose livelihood primarily depends on natural resources (Stringer et al., 2009) and for them, it leads to reduced income and increased insecurity. At the regional level, this translates into increased food prices, exacerbated inequalities, rising unemployment, and migration, while on the national level reduced tax revenues further aggravate the situation (FAO, n.d.b).

2.1.2 Adaptation Strategies

Although droughts are difficult to forecast their impacts can be minimized (FAO, n.d.a). Adaptation strategies play a key part in combating climate change (Stern et al., 2006) even more so since successful adaptation proved to be an effective poverty reduction tool too (Stringer et al., 2009). Success is understood as the strategy's ability to reduce vulnerability and increase resilience (Stringer et al., 2009). Vulnerability generally refers to the potential of loss (Cutter, 1996) and it is composed of three components: the exposure to disturbance, the sensitivity to this disturbance, and the ability to adapt (Kais & Islam, 2016). Resilience, on the other hand, signals the system's long-term capacity of withstanding external disturbance, including adaptation, recovery, and self-organization (Kais & Islam, 2016).

Besides adaptation, the terms "mitigation" and "coping" are also used in the literature. Mitigation is usually differentiated from adaptation as focusing on proactive – rather than reactive - strategies. Although this partition of the concepts might create an unwanted illusion of the two being opposing approaches, in fact, they are the two sides of the same coin, and to be effective, both are simultaneously needed (Laukkonen et al., 2009). Coping on the other hand is differentiated from adaptation as focusing on short-term goals (Vincent et al., 2013). Current research does not make a divide between these concepts, rather adopts the definition of Stringer et al. (2009) describing adaptation as the adjustment of a system either in response to or in anticipation of a disturbance, implying that proactive, reactive short-term, and long-term measures are all included. In addition, the research utilizes the definition of Mpandeli et al. (2015) too, that describes adaptation as a livelihood restoration strategy. Translating these definitions into the context of this research leads me to define drought adaptation strategies as any measures aimed to maintain or restore the livelihood in the anticipation or response to its disturbance by anthropogenic water demand exceeding natural water supply.

2.2 Conservation Project

In southern Africa, various types of conservation projects exist and to simplify terms, this research puts all national parks, game reserves, private game ranches, nature corridors, and every other form of protected areas under the umbrella term "conservation projects". Although Aronson et al. (2006) differentiates ecological restoration from conservation projects, the term "conservation projects" in this research refers to all activity that aims to maintain or enhance the natural characteristics of a certain geographic land area, regardless of its size, motivation or primary beneficiaries. In the following, I introduce and compare the main types of conservation projects of the study area.

2.2.1 Fortress Conservation

Early conservation practice of the study area was inspired by an overromanticized colonialist wilderness notion, regarding both the nature and people as exotic tokens (King, 2010). This approach - termed as fortress conservation - advocated strict, top-down external control with the sole focus being on the preservation of the pristine wilderness (Hutton et al., 2005), and thereby excluding the local communities from the decision-making, management, and benefit distribution. The approach resulted in significant local hardships and often displacements (Hackel, 1999). This fueled anti-conservation behaviors among the locals ultimately undermining the effectiveness of fortress conservation (Beal, 2019).

2.2.2 CBNRM Projects

During the last quarter of the 20th century, the realization of local support's significance resulted in the arrival of community involvement in the conservation discourse. The general consensus that local livelihood improvement and conservation can fuel each other was the ground for the establishment of Community-Based Natural Resource Management (CBNRM) projects, linking conservation and development efforts (Stone & Nyaupane, 2018). The notion, that local communities are the most appropriate governance body for the management of natural resources legitimized their presence in and around conservation areas (Stone, 2015). This has led to the local empowerment and inclusion not only politically but also physically (Hutton et al., 2005).

The obvious link to connect conservation and development proved to be tourism. Tourism in the study area is often categorized as either consumptive, such as trophy hunting, or non-consumptive, like wildlife viewing (Tremblay, 2001; Krug, 2001). Either way, the presence of large mammal species² maximizes the potential for economic return. Therefore early CBNRM projects tended to focus almost exclusively on wildlife conservation. This would not have been an issue in itself, but these financially motivated efforts were centered around tourism's market demand rather than the actual needs of biosphere restoration (Hutton et al., 2005).

Thus, CBNRM projects could only be expected to last as long as they were financially worthwhile, putting their conservation aims - and thus sustainability in general – into question (Hackel, 1999). The lack of focus on conservation efforts was not the only critic the CBNRM model received. Opposite to its promises, CBNRM did not adequately transfer the rights to local people (Katerere et al., 2001). In some cases, the projects were not locally initiated but even when it was, poor management, unequal benefit sharing, and deepening inequalities have often led to internal conflicts and negative conservation attitudes (Beal, 2019).

² Especially the "big five": lion, leopard, rhinoceros, elephant and cape buffalo

2.2.3 TBNRM Projects

The disappointing outcomes of the CBNRM approach resulted in yet another shift in conservation thinking. Although local involvement remained central, the environmental focus was restored by the introduction of another key concept; internationalism. The appraisal of international cooperation in conservation thinking has shifted the donor's attention from CBNRM to Transboundary Natural Resource Management (TBNRM), a move emphasized by the signature of the Southern African Development Community (SADC) treaty in 1992 (Katerere et al., 2001; Hutton et al., 2005). The TBNRM approach includes two, often overlapping types of conservation; the Transboundary Natural Resource Management Areas (TBNRMAs) and the Transboundary Conservation Areas (TBCAs) both implying a strong international focus (Swatuk, 2005).

The motivation behind TBNRM approach can be traced back to concepts like ecosystem management and global commons. The first argues that natural resources are more adequately managed on the ecosystem level rather than based on arbitrarily drawn political boundaries, while the latter expresses the idea that global problems require global solutions (Katerere et al., 2001). In addition, the TBNRM approach was also praised for its promise of reducing international conflicts (Hutton et al., 2005). Based on these considerations, southern Africa seemed to be a particularly suitable region for TBNRM projects because its international borders were drawn along remote, natural areas (Swatuk, 2005). Following the reasoning that a bigger area can support more wildlife thus maximizing both biodiversity and tourism revenue, the vast size of the TBNRM projects is regarded as the assurance of its viability (Katerere et al., 2001).

However, the TBNRM approach has its own flaws too. First, due to South Africa's significant regional dominance, the approach's objective of peacebuilding and just benefit sharing is frequently called into question (Sawtuk, 2005). Moreover, because TBNRM projects involve more countries, states play a more significant role than in the case of CBNRMs and the transboundary projects are also popular targets for foreign investors leading to an increased external control (Katerere et al., 2001; Hutton et al., 2005). The local exclusion from the management and decision-making is even more pronounced in the case of TBCAs. Although they also provide some trickle down benefits to the local communities, their primary goal is wildlife conservation, signaling a return to the fortress-style conservation (Katerere et al., 2001; Swatuk, 2005).

2.2.4 Hybrid Contemporary Approaches

This revival of fortress conservation is supported by a number of arguments. First, CBNRM projects were heavily criticized for following "unscientific postmodernist influences" rather than proving their commitment to conservation (Attwell & Cotterill, 2000). The assertation that conservation and development are unable to work together means that a difficult choice between the two must be made. Proponents of the fortress-approach argue that biodiversity conservation has a moral imperative over economic development. If so, the argument claims that effective conservation requires centralized authorities, top-down management, and strict governance without the involvement of local voices. This conclusion is mirrored by the global ecologic discourse's reasoning, namely, that emergency situations require extreme measures (Hutton et al., 2005).

However, it is worth noting that despite the apparent revival of strict governance, classic fortress-style conservations are now part of the past. Numerous studies have proven that depriving the local population undermines conservation efforts, while conservation projects that contribute to local empowerment are more likely to succeed with their environmental goals too (Oldekop et al., 2016). Thus, contemporarily conservation does not ask whether benefits should be shared with local communities, but rather what the size of this share should be. CBNRMs maximize this share, but in addition, Barrow and Murphree (2001) names two other types of management and benefit sharing conservation approaches. Protected

area outreach represents the old fortress-style but provides some benefits, while collaborative management intends to share both the benefits and management rights with the local communities in an equitable manner (Barrow & Murphree, 2001).

The debate on how to harmonize conservation and development objectives is far from being over with each approach having their good and bad sides constantly rediscovered. The study area's main conservation approaches are summarized and compared in the table below.

	Fortress	CBNRM	TBN	IRM	Hybrid
	Conservation		TBNRMA	TBCA	approaches
Goal	Wilderness preservation	Integrated conservation and development	Conservation across borders and local development	Conservation across borders	Maximizing conservation, while minimizing disturbance
Motivation	The last untouched wilderness areas need to be preserved	Local development and conservation can fuel each other	Natural resources must be managed in ecosystem levels and global problems require global solutions	Priority must be given to conservation and effective conservation excludes local management	With benefit sharing, local communities can be kept supportive, which enhances conservation success
Means	Exclusive national parks	Local level conservancies focused on wildlife- tourism	Large, transboundary conservation areas serving conservation, tourism and local development	Large, transboundary conservation areas serving conservation and tourism	Former fortress conservation parks updated with some level of local involvement
Achievements	Tourism	Empowerment of local communities	Maximizing tour conservation ef contributing to cooperation	Can contribute to both conservation and development	
Problems	Local disempower- ment and ineffective conservation	Inadequate emphasis on conservation and local conflicts	Increased external control and local disempowerment		There is no golden rule regarding the size of share communities should receive
Examples	Addo Elephant National Park, South Africa (earlier)	Torra Conservancy, Namibia	Zambezi River Basin	Great Limpopo Transboundary Conservation Area	Limpopo National Park, Mozambique

1. Table: The comparison of the study area's main conservation approaches

2.3 Conservation Projects' Livelihood Impacts

Despite their differences, one thing is common among the above-depicted types of conservation projects: They all place impacts on local communities. The exact impacts depend on various factors and to make matters even more complex they are also differently perceived by different members of the community. Their inherent relativity in both contextual and temporal terms challenges the researchers' effort to assess their relevance. For example, wildlife's crop raid during drought puts more pressure on the local community than if it happened in another time of the year (Suich, 2010). In the following pages, I illustrate how the conservation projects' impacts can be categorized.

2.3.1 Categorizing Livelihood Impacts into Community Capitals

When assessing the impacts of conservation projects, the focus often goes to economic development and although conventional development scholars view increased material wealth as the sole indicator of development (Trainer, 2001), this oversimplifies the issue. For this reason, the concept of livelihood is introduced. Livelihood is understood as the diverse portfolio of capabilities, assets, and resources one utilizes and balances for a living. This portfolio is unique, dynamic, and complex. Unique and dynamic because livelihood is highly context-specific, and complex because it is composed of several tangible and intangible assets (Krantz, 2001). The Sustainable Livelihood Approach (SLA) categorizes livelihood impacts into the five capital assets of natural, human, social, financial, and physical capitals (Serrat, 2017).

However, when working with community - rather than individual or household level - resources, the Community Capitals Framework (CCF) offers more potential. Similarly to the SLA, CCF is also a people-centered approach that allows us to focus on the dynamics of local development from a system's perspective (Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009). This means, that unlike the needs or deficits, CCF focuses on the community's existing resources (Emery & Flora, 2006; Duffy et al., 2017; Mattos, 2015; Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009). This helps the research to avoid the reinforcement of victim roles, and instead highlight local efforts, making the approach especially practical and useful for planning (Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009; Emery & Flora, 2006; Mattos, 2015). Moreover, CCF proved to be a particularly suitable tool for assessing the impacts of tourism on the community level (Duffy et al., 2017) making its application in current research highly relevant.

The framework classifies community resources into seven community capitals. These capitals can remain unused, be used up, changed, enhanced, depreciated, or invested to increase wealth, strengthen other capitals, contribute the local development and lead to empowerment (Mattos, 2015; Duffy et al., 2017; Emery & Flora, 2006; Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009; Jacobs, 2007). This may lead to an upward or downward spiral where the enhancement or depreciation of one capital can lead to the enhancement or depreciation of the other capitals, thereby defining the direction of community development (Emery & Flora, 2006; Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009). The seven community capitals are natural, human, social, financial, built, cultural, and political capitals. The table below gives examples to these seven capitals based on the works of Emery and Flora (2006), Duffy et al. (2017), Mattos (2015), and Jacobs (2007).

CCF	Examples
Natural Capital	 Availability of natural resources like water, soil, woods, and wildlife Location-related features like isolation, weather, and air quality Intangible values such as landscape and natural beauty
Human Capital	 Mental resources such as knowledge, skills, abilities, competences, experiences, level of creativity, and access to education Personal indicators affecting the general wellbeing, such as mental and physical health, self-esteem, and respect
Social capital	 Connection and networks between both individuals and organizations, like cooperation, trust, cohesion, norms of reciprocity, common visions, and diverse representations Bonding social capital: close, cohesion building ties Bridging social capital: loose ties between communities
Financial Capital	- Monetary resources such as wages, donations, gifts, contracts, loans, wealth transfers, and investments
Built Capital	- Physical assets like infrastructures (housing, transportation systems, telecommunication and hardware utilities), buildings, services, facilities, and structures
Cultural Capital	 Things that signal belonging, including history, traditions, heritages, languages, norms, values, worldviews, religions, beliefs, and common symbols Current community characteristics, such as a shared identity, common livelihood, certain behaviors, work ethics, dresses, foods, cultural events, and the pride of being a community member
Political Capital	- Resources providing access to the power of shaping community actions, influencing resource distribution, setting rules, and supervising their enforcements

2. Table: Examples for the CCF capitals

The term "positive impact" is used for impacts that enhance one or more community capitals, while "negative impact" refers to the consequences of conservation projects that depreciate community capital(s). Drought adaptation strategies are also fed from these seven capitals, so by enhancing or depreciating them, conservation projects influence the community's capacity for successful adaptation. Consequently, positive livelihood impacts on one capital signal the increased capacity of employing those drought adaptation strategies that make use of that particular capital, while negative conservation livelihood impacts. In addition, those impacts that don't directly affect adaptation itself, but reduce or increase the need for it (positively or negatively affecting the community's exposure or sensitivity to drought) are also regarded as positive or negative impacts on the drought adaptation strategies.

2.3.2 Positive Conservation Livelihood Impacts

In some cases, conservation projects lack positive impacts, while at other times they can be either the project's main goal or its mere side product (Salafsky & Wollenberg, 2000). The most frequently cited positive impacts are financial benefits either in the form of employment, community revenues, or payments for ecosystem services (West et al., 2006; Coad et al., 2008). Less directly, but conservation projects also contribute to the local livelihoods by increasing natural resource availability, which sometimes even spills over the borders of the conservation project (Coad et al., 2008; Salafsky & Wollenberg, 2000). In addition, some conservation projects may also provide less tangible benefits, such as legal protection (Coad et al., 2008) or a new community identity (West et al., 2006).

The majority of the positive conservation livelihood impacts originate in tourism development. Although it could be argued that tourism's impacts are not direct impacts of the conservation projects, at the community level these two are practically inseparable (Strickland-Munro et al., 2010), so this research regards the impacts of tourism that would not exist without the conservation project to be impacts of the conservation itself.

Due to its spillovers onto the rest of the economy, tourism has proved to significantly contribute to economic development (Marin, 1992; Balaguer & Cantavella-Jorda, 2002; Dritsakis, 2004). This is also the case in the SADC, where Makochekanwa (2013) regards tourism as the potential economic engine of the region. However, the significance of these positive impacts can vary greatly between different levels. Large and popular national parks, for instance, can significantly contribute to the national economy (Makochekanwa, 2013) while for the local communities they often provide no more than occasional employment opportunities. Generally speaking, the smaller the scale, the more economic development can be locally expected (Coad et al., 2008). For instance, community-based tourism is defined along the lines of reserving control and the majority of benefits for the local communities (Mearns, 2015; Stone; 2015). Another frequently used term is pro-poor tourism, aiming to benefit the poorest – with varying degrees of success (Ashley & Wolmer, 2003).

Nature tourism in the study area contributes to the local development both through creating employment opportunities and its "trickle-down" effect on the local economy. Tourism-related revenue enables households to invest in assets and education, which in turn improves their financial security (Snyman, 2012a). On the other hand, Coad et al. (2008) warns that successful tourism projects can put local livelihoods under an unhealthy single sector dependence. Moreover, the majority of tourism's positive local impacts are restricted to economic benefits that rarely find their ways to the poorest (Ashley & Wolmer, 2003).

2.3.3 Negative Conservation Livelihood Impacts

The most commonly cited negative impacts of the conservation projects are human-wildlife conflicts (HWC) and displacement due to their frequency and severity, respectively. Both can take various forms and lead to the threatening of all community capitals simultaneously. HWC is for instance most frequently mentioned in regard to agricultural losses like crop raid or livestock attacks, but it can also materialize in property or infrastructure damage and even human fatalities. These types of HWC events already illustrate the multitude of the affected community capitals, but continued instances can also undermine the local community's relationship with conservation authorities (Coad et al., 2008). Besides its direct costs on livelihood, even the sole potential of HWC leads to continuous mental stress (Thondhlana et al., 2020). This often results in reduced mobility that in turn can have negative impacts on resource access or even social capital (Gandiwa et al., 2012).

Displacement is the other most frequently cited negative impact of conservation. Due to the intervention's radical nature, displacement inevitably leads to livelihood disruption, while simultaneously threatens all community capitals and poses complex risks. In relation to displacement,

Cernea (2000) defines the following eight risks: landlessness, joblessness, homelessness, marginalization, food insecurity, increased morbidity and mortality, loss of access to common property, and social disarticulation. Besides its diverse negative implications on local communities, displacements can even undermine conservation efforts, by encouraging the displaced community to simply transfer their land uses to areas adjacent to the conservation projects that were formerly unused (Coad et al., 2008).

Contrary to many studies' distinction between the terms "displacement" and "resettlement", I consequently refer to any voluntary or involuntary change of residence necessitated by a conservation project as displacement. In addition, despite the academic understanding that restricted resource access, without any physical move, has comparable livelihood disruptions to that of classic displacements and therefore the two should be treated together (Coad et al., 2008), in order to keep this research's nomenclature simple and self-explanatory, I decided not to adopt this definition and use the term "displacement" only in cases where an actual change of residency has been reported. In those cases that lie therefore outside of the scope of my displacement definition, I refer to the impact differently, such as "restricted land access", or "restricted livelihood options".

These restrictions primarily affect the community's most vulnerable and marginalized people, who are the most dependent on natural resources (Salafsky & Wollenberg, 2000; Coad et al., 2008). The restrictions can lead to disrupted local identities, eroding traditional knowledge systems, increased external dependence, and forceful livelihood shift (Thondhlana et al., 2020; Coad et al., 2008). Those people, on the other hand, who resist these changes often find their traditional activities criminalized (West et al., 2006). The externally imposed restructuration of authority and resource access weakens local institutions and erodes political capital (Fairhead et al., 2012; Bruna, 2019; Suich, 2010; Coad et al., 2008). To understand the reasons behind these tendencies, we must examine the underlying forces.

Starting from the late 2000's development scholars started to be increasingly concerned about the phenomena termed land grab. Although land has been acquired throughout history, large scale development projects have both accelerated the process and drawn attention to its consequences. One form of livelihood disruption, particularly relevant for the establishment of conservation projects is the so-called "green grab". What exactly qualifies as a green grab is a well-debated question in development studies but in the case of this research, it is understood as a non-locally initiated, environmentally motivated land use change leading to negative local impacts. It is therefore important to note that not all conservation projects used in this research involve green grabs (for example CBNRMs) and also not all green grabs are linked to conservation projects (for example biofuel plantations). Green grabs don't necessarily involve directly depriving local people of their land but they can impose restrictions on their access to certain (tangible or intangible) resources (Fairhead et al., 2012).

Yet, focusing on green grabs as the actual event can distract us from understanding the underlying drivers. As Franco and Borras (2019) proved, it is not the actual land use change itself that impacts the local people but the grab's acknowledged existence such as its rumors, or speculations of it. The case of Mozambique's Massingir can be used to illustrate this difference. At the southern borders of the Limpopo National Park, a sugarcane producer, ProCana obtained land rights in 2007, exacerbating the already severe local land conflicts. A few years later their rights were revoked, but this didn't mean that their impacts ceased to exist. Rather, they were solely replaced by another sugarcane producer, keeping the land under the same high level of pressure (Kronenburg Garcia et al., 2016). Therefore, what actually led to these impacts was never ProCana, but the underlying notion that biofuel plantation offers a more efficient and environment-friendly land use than local agricultural practices.

Green grabbing therefore is frequently justified and legitimized by development and climate change policies. It is vital to note that even the term "climate change policies" is highly political, only used on formally constituted policies that are labeled effective by certain powerful entities and does not for instance recognize traditional knowledge as a reference - thereby already signaling an unbalanced power

structure benefitting the global and powerful (Franco & Borras, 2019; Denton et al., 2014). Most of these policies are centered around the reproduction, redistribution, and consumption of natural resources – the very same assets rural communities often base their livelihoods on (Borras et al., 2018). To justify overwriting local livelihoods for the sake of global policies, the formers are often condemned to be ecologically harmful, economically ineffective, or both.

This signals that the core problem is the commodification of local resources (Ashley & Wolmer, 2003), meaning that the value of these resources and their uses are assessed solely on the regard of their potential for return – both in economic and ecologic manners -, sidelining and replacing traditional livelihoods and local interests. Therefore, local resource access gets dependent on market forces and policy goals, giving external actors and actions increasing control (Hughes, 2001; Katerere et al., 2001). This leads to the ironic situation that strong, global climate change policies potentially hamper the local level climate change adaptation strategies, portraying the opposite of what the popular phrase of sustainability "think globally, act locally" calls for.

The top-down imposed livelihood changes evoke the dominant discourse of early development thinking, the modernization theory. The theory depicts development as a one-way street, where the distance from western living conditions is the sole indicator of development (Tipps, 1973). For instance, although Climate Smart Agriculture projects are being implemented around the developing world, their three main goals (increased productivity, increased resilience, and reduced emission) mirror western and globalist development thinking, while largely ignoring the more nuanced local impacts, such as inequality or resource access (Franco & Borras, 2019). Although it can be argued that the local level inconveniences are for the greater good of minimizing the effects of climate change, in fact, this is not always the case. The resulting local harm often outweighs global gains and undermine – mostly informal – local level climate change adaptation strategies (Franco & Borras, 2019).

2.4 Conceptual Framework

Based on the theoretical framework, the main concepts used in this study are related as follows: Conservation projects inherently place positive and negative impacts on the local communities. These impacts can be understood in the context of community capitals, where positive impacts enhance, and negative impacts depreciate one or more of the seven community capitals. This enhancement and depreciation affect the community's access to resources, which in turn impacts the community's development (Ellis, 2000). The community's access³ to resources determines the level of potential adaptation strategies (Adger & Kelly, 1999), which means that an enhanced and balanced access to the community capitals strengthens the community's capacity to employ adaptation strategies (Kais & Islam, 2016). Therefore, it can be understood that conservation projects can and do impact local drought adaptation strategies both positively and negatively. The following flowchart illustrates the linkages between the main concepts of the research.

³ Adger and Kelly (1999) uses the concept "entitlement" instead of access, but in the scope of this research the two concepts are essentially interchangeable: they mean the ability to use the resources. Since this study consistently uses the concept of access, the concept of "entitlement" was decided not to be introduced.



1. Figure: Conceptual Framework

3 Research Design

3.1 Study Area

3.1.1 Study Area Identification

In order to get an objective boundary of southern Africa, the 16 member states of the SADC were selected. This territory was further trimmed down to its most drought-prone areas: arid and semiarid drylands, based on the classification of UNEP-WCMC (2020). To ensure that the synthesis does not ignore impacts that are located "just outside" of the arid and semiarid areas, the study area was supplemented with a 100 kilometers wide buffer zone. In sum, the study area is composed of three zones: arid, semiarid, and the buffer areas, as depicted on the map below.



2. Map: The study area, divided by political and climatic boundaries

3.1.2 Study Area Description

The study area lies in the savannas of southern Africa, where monthly rainfall ranges from 0 to 60mm (Southern African Development Community, 2020). Yet, more problematic than the low level of precipitation is its unreliability and seasonality compounded with high evaporation, which frequently results in low rates of runoff (Schulze et al., 2001). The average annual precipitation divided by the potential evapotranspiration shows the Aridity Index (AI), established by the UNEP in order to categorize drylands. The arid and semiarid areas have an AI between 0.05 and 0.5 while the buffer zone covers areas with both higher (sub-humid) and lower (hyperarid) AI values (Middleton & Thomas, 1992).

In the course of the last century, the study area has experienced a shift toward both more extreme rainfall events and more frequent droughts (Fauchereau et al., 2003). As for the future, until 2050, Schulze et al. (2001) predicts a significant growth in the areas with water shortages, reaching as high as 17% for

Namibia, 42% for South Africa, and 66% for Mozambique⁴. In this water-scarce environment, the region's hydrology plays an irreplaceable role in sustaining both the biosphere and economic development. The study area's largest rivers are the Okavango, Zambezi, Oranje, and Limpopo.

The study area stretches over 10 countries. However these international borders are solely the results of the colonizers' power relations and in most cases do not match with the region's ethnic, linguistic, or cultural composition. Consequently, these are no boundaries of identity, making cross-border migration a popular phenomenon in the study area (Norman, 2005; Daimon, 2016).

Since the study area does not follow political boundaries, it is somewhat confusing to estimate its population and economic power. The whole SADC has a population exceeding 300 million and a GDP approximating one trillion US dollars (Southern African Development Community, 2018). As shown on the map above (*Map 2*) the study area covers roughly one-third of this territory. However, assuming the third of these values would be misleading, since the study area is composed of mostly rural and peripheric areas with sparse population and little economic concentration. It excludes the region's largest metropolitan area around Johannesburg and Pretoria, alongside with the capital cities of Zambia, Zimbabwe, Madagascar, and Malawi and other large cities such as Nampula, Beira, and Durban. The largest urban centers of the study area are the coastal cities of Cape Town, Luanda, Maputo, and Port Elizabeth. Moreover, it can be argued that even these cities should not be used to characterize the study area, since the research focuses on the impacts of nature conservation projects, implying that they are primarily felt in the rural areas.

The economic engine of the study area is mining, but tourism is a quickly growing industry too (Makochekanwa, 2013). However, most of the study area's rural communities remain subsistence farmers, characterized by small lands, low levels of technology, and high vulnerability to environmental conditions (Newsham & Thomas, 2009; Stringer et al., 2009; Mavhura et al., 2015; Nangombe, 2015). Because subsistence farming is the typical way of life in the study area, this is the livelihood context in which the conservation projects' impacts need to be understood.

3.2 Methodology

3.2.1 Literature Review

To find out what practices do people in the study area employ for drought adaptation and thus answer the first sub-question, a literature review was conducted. The research articles were selected through google scholar on the criteria that they describe local level drought adaptation strategies of a place, located inside the study area. In order to ensure that the literature review allows a general overview, special attention was paid to select papers that base their findings on different locations, spreading over the whole study area. Therefore, a trade-off between the papers' relevance and content had to be made. This means that the selected papers are neither the most cited works of the field and nor do their geographic scopes cover the study area homogenously, rather these are compromised to make the results both relevant and generalizable. *Map 3* shows the distribution of the reviewed papers'⁵ geographic scopes over the study area.

Following the collection of the drought adaptation strategies, they were grouped into the seven community capitals based on which capital they utilize.

⁴ It is however, worth to note that their analysis used a high demand scenario and two countries from the study area (Angola and Madagascar) were not included in the model.

⁵ In addition, there were some papers that based their findings on the entire South African region, so not all the reviewed papers are represented by this map.



3. Map: The geographic scopes of the reviewed papers on drought adaptation

3.2.2 Meta-synthesis

Meta-synthesis differs from conventional literature review in the sense that rather than selecting the most relevant studies, it targets all the researches within a particular scope. It was chosen for this research, because it results in more comprehensive results (Britten et al., 2002) with a greater level of generalizability than each of those individual studies it synthesizes (M. Jones, 2004), making it particularly suitable for phrasing policy recommendations. The question is, however, how to access such a large number of relevant studies. Since there are no established set of rules that I could have followed, in the following pages I will transparently go through the whole process.

The process generally followed the three levels of sifting presented by Meade and Richardson (1997), meaning that in the first step researches with relevant tittles were searched, then their abstracts were reviewed, and finally came the full text read. However, it is important noting, that these three steps were not strictly following each other but executed in an iterative process with constant updates and new searches following the new findings. This represented the majority of the time assigned for this research with the whole process lasting from the 20th of June until the 30th of August, 2020, when data saturation was reached and most of the new findings have led to papers that were already reviewed. The references of those papers that were included in the meta-synthesis are available in the *Appendix*.

Tittle search

First, an extensive search was conducted on google scholar using the keywords of "SADC conservation livelihood", "SADC conservation impact", "SADC Protected Areas", and "X conservation project impact", where X was replaced by the names of the study area's 10 countries. All pages of these 13 search results were browsed through and every available paper with relevant sounding tittles were

downloaded. Next, the most relevant journals were identified. The three main concepts of the research (conservation, geography, and development) were applied on the journal search site of scimagoir.com (Scimago Journal & Country Rank, 2020) and the five journals with the highest Journal Rank Indicator⁶ for each of the concepts (according to the most recent year, available) were selected. Additionally, at a later stage, I added the journal "Conservation and Society" too, which proved to have highly relevant content. These 16 journals ⁷were browsed through entirely and all available articles with relevant sounding tittles were downloaded.

The resulting list of references was browsed through in order to identify which authors appear most frequently on it. Their e-mail addresses were looked up and inquiries were sent out, contacting 79 relevant experts. I attached the list and asked them to tell me what papers did I so far overlook. Of the 79 e-mails, 12 could not be delivered, and from the remaining 68, I received 13 answers, adding approximately another 200 papers to the list. During the phase of full text read additional researchers were consulted when the results needed to be clarified. In the course of the full text read, citation networks, bibliographies, and recommended databases of the reviewed papers were used too. In addition to including the literature selections of Hughes and Flintan (2001), Nielsen et al. (2006), Suich (2010), and Whande (2007), the online library of CBNRM Network (Soeftestad, 2020) was also browsed through. These searches resulted in approximately 100 additional papers.

Resulting from these channels, a total number of 1548 papers were identified. Of these, I was unable to access 226, while the remaining 1322 were all downloaded. Among these, there were research articles, book chapters, theses, project reports, and entire books with fairly diverse disciplinary backgrounds.

Abstract check and full text read

In the next step, these papers' abstracts were checked to confirm their relevance. In cases with lacking or uninformative abstracts, the paper was quickly browsed through and if its irrelevance could not be securely confirmed, the paper was selected. In this phase, 707 papers were excluded due to their topic's irrelevance (450) or because of the lack of concrete cases depicted from the study area (257). The relevant sections (introduction, study area description, results, and discussion) of the remaining 615 papers were read. This resulted in the exclusion of another 85 papers due to their irrelevant topic (33) or the absence of concrete cases described from the study area (52). Later, in the stage of mapping, some impacts proved to fall outside of the study area, resulting in further exclusion of 4 papers.

⁶ Scimagojr's Journal Rank Indicator is the average number of weighted citations received in 2018 for articles published between 2015 and 2018.

⁷ The 16 journals are: Conservation Letters, Conservation Biology, Biological Conservation, Wildlife Monographs, Ecosystem Services, Progress in Human Geography, Global Environmental Change, Economic Geography, WIREs Climate Change, Nature Sustainability, Journal of Development Economics, Tourism Management, Population and Development Review, International Journal of Urban and Regional Research World Development and Conservation and Society.

34% 51%	Literature search	Abstract check	Full text read	Mapping	Synthesis
Not accessed	226				
		707			
Excluded			85		
				4	
Included					526

2. Figure: The exclusion process of the selected literature

During the reading of these 526 works, special attention was paid to the mentioning of conservation projects' impacts and these were noted down in a separate document. As straightforward as it might sounds, the process undoubtedly involved a lot of personal judgment about what qualifies to be an impact. Therefore, five rules were set and consequently followed throughout the full text read.

First, the impact must have already happened or must be happening at the time of writing, thus no speculations or probable consequences were included. Second, the impact must be on the local level. Third, the impact must result from conservation or in a few cases from something that is an inseparable consequence of conservation, such as employment in the tourism sector (Strickland-Munro et al., 2010) or food insecurity due to HWC. Forth, generalized statements were excluded, and fifth, the description of an impact's absence was not considered either. The exception from the last rule is when an impact (such as employment) was promised to or expected by the local community and its absence caused unrest or dissatisfaction. In the following table, examples are given to each of these five rules of exclusion.

1) Future impact	"At their most recent annual meeting, conservancy members decided to set aside N\$30,000 (approximately US\$4,500) to provide micro-loans for people within the conservancy, which they hope will spark further entrepreneurship and additional economic development." (Boudreaux, 2007)
2) Not local impact	"Torra and Mayuni also show relatively high annual contributions to national income as well as some overall gains in wildlife stocks." (Barnes, MacGregor & Weaver, 2001)
3) Not conservation- induced impact	"In addition, the residents of Mapungubwe were forced out of the area because of the mass removal of the late 1960s when black people were resettled on an ethnic basis." (Sinthumule, 2014)
4) Generalized impact	"Most of the trusts in Ngamiland are engaged in activities such as sub-leasing their concessions to safari companies, managing cultural tourism, marketing baskets and crafts, photographic tourism, and marketing reeds and grass" (Thakadu, Mangadi, Bernard, & Mbwaia, 2005)
5) Absence of impact	"However, the formation of the Great Limpopo has not improved crossborder access for local communities." (Van Amerom & Büscher, 2005)
1) Boudreaux, K. (2007). Community-Based Natural Resource 1 Barnes 1 MacGregor 1 & Weaver 1 C (2001) Ecor	, urce Management and Poverty Alleviation in Namibia: A Case Study. Mercatus Policy Series, Policy Comment, (10 nomic analysis of community wildlife use initiatives in Namibia (No. 42). Directorate of Environmental Affairs

Ministry of Environment and Tourism. 3) Sinthumule, N. I. (2014). Land use change and bordering in the Greater Mapungubwe Transfrontier Conservation Area (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Town).

4) Thakadu, O. T., Mangadi, K. T., Bernard, F. E., & Mbaiwa, J. E. (2005). The economic contribution of safari hunting to rural livelihoods in the Okavango: The case of

Sankuyo village. Botswana Notes & Records, 37(1), 22-39. 5) Van Amerom, M., & Büscher, B. (2005). Peace parks in Southern Africa: bringers of an African Renaissance?. Journal of Modern African Studies, 159-182.

3. Figure: Examples for the five rules of exclusion

Although the systematic adherence to these rules minimized the risk of personal judgment, it has to be nevertheless acknowledged, that it is highly probable that some impacts were not or not correctly noted down. Thus – although aiming to be as precise as possible - I do not claim that the meta-synthesis captured all impacts mentioned in the relevant literature. Impacts that were not excluded through the five ways described above, were noted down. This stage resulted in a 217 pages long document of notes.

3.2.3 Data-analysis

In the next step, these notes were transferred into an excel database, and the impacts themselves were standardized. Notes such as "got land", "land restitution" or "accessing land" were for instance all put under the new standardized impact of "Improved land access". When this would have resulted in significant information loss, comments were added in a parallel column, unused for the data-analysis and mapping but used during the description of the results in *Chapter 4.3*. The figure below illustrates the process of data transfer from text to notes and then to the database.

Pure text	⇒ Notes ⊏	⇒ D	atabase					
"[] a stretch of 20.000 ha. [land] of the	Makuleke	Impact	Location	Source	CCF			
world-famous Kruger National Park was transferred back to the Makuleke people	got land Training Employment	Improved land access	Makuleke	Kothari (2008)	P+			
[] Since then, many Makuleke youth	Tourism revenue	Training and skills	Makuleke	Kothari (2008)	H+			
have been trained as rangers, and the communities are benefited from tourism		Employment	Makuleke	Kothari (2008)	F+			
generated revenue (Fabricius 2006)." (Kothari, 2008)		Tourism revenue	Makuleke	Kothari (2008)	F+			
Kothari, A. (2008). Diversifying Protected Area Governance: Ecological, Social, and Economical Benefits. Protected Areas in Today's World: Their Values and Benefits for the Welfare of the Planet, 57.								

4. Figure: Example of transferring data from the text to notes and the database

Following the process described above, the database was filled with information regarding the impact, its location, and its source. Additionally, a unique identification number was added to each row to facilitate data searches and allow backtracking.

Following this, the impacts were sorted into 14 groups based on the community capital that the mentioned impact influenced and whether this influence was positive or negative. Then, the names of the locations were standardized because many papers referred to the same location in differing⁸ ways. The locations were looked up on the map (using the software of Google Earth) and pinned with a placemark. This file was downloaded and fed back into the excel table, successfully linking spatial data to the impacts.

At this stage, the duplicated rows of the database (the same source mentioning the same impact for the same location with the same comment) were removed. Then in a new worksheet, the number of mentioned impacts for each of the locations were counted with excel's COUNTIFS function, resulting in a table containing every location and the total number of each impact mentioned in relation to each. This was then divided into 7 excel tables based on the community capitals. To illustrate how these tables looked, the beginning of the table on human capital is illustrated below.

⁸ Due to spelling differences or historical name changes.

location	ns1:longit	ns1:latitud	loc_no	Training a	Supportin	Education	Improved	Poorer die	Health ris	Medical a	Loss of inc	Sum
!Khob !Na	18.11237	-25.8955	2	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2
Addo Elep	25.75058	-33.4834	6	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Anabeb	13.73336	-19.1333	10	2	1	1	2	0	0	0	0	6
Ancuabe	39.85409	-12.978	12	0	0	2	1	0	0	0	0	3
Andavado	43.30951	-22.0759	13	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Balyerwa	23.58622	-18.2653	17	1	0	1	3	0	0	0	0	5
Bamanu C	24.08449	-18.047	19	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Beetsha, (22.73756	-18.7199	23	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	3
Beitbridge	29.99131	-22.2017	24	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Bezà Mah	44.59332	-23.682	27	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Beza Maha	44.58315	-23.6801	28	1	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	3
Binga dist	27.73836	-17.9839	29	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	2
Bokspits,	20.66697	-26.8375	31	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
Borakalol	27.82728	-25.1623	32	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	2
Boteti sub	24.54416	-20.8513	34	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Bwabwata	21.5813	-18.0989	39	1	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	4

5. Figure: Excerpt of the database containing the impacts on the human capital

The numbers in the impacts' columns, thus refer to how many times that impact was mentioned in regard to the associated location. For instance, !Khob !Naub Conservancy had a total of 2 impacts on the human capital mentioned, both being positive, one associated with training and skills, and one with improved diet. Based on these datasets, pie charts for the individual locations could be created. These tables meant the input for the GIS mapping.

3.2.4 GIS Mapping

With the help of the longitude and latitude data, the seven tables were turned into seven GIS layers and opened in the software ArcGIS Pro as point layers. The data was visualized with chart symbology, assigning each location the pie charts, mentioned above. The positive impacts received different shades of green, while the negative impacts were colored with shades⁹ of red. The size of the pie chart shows the total number of impacts for the location, while its divisions depict how the induvial – positive and negative - impacts contribute to the total. Together with the two maps depicting the crosscutting issues, these 9 maps were added to the results.

3.2.5 Concluding the Results

The literature review resulted in a table (*Table 3*) categorizing the drought adaptation strategies according to which of the seven community capitals they utilize. Similarly, the meta-synthesis and the subsequent data-analysis resulted in yet another table (*Table 4*) categorizing the conservation projects' impacts into the community capitals according to which of them the mentioned impact influences and how (positive or negative impact).

Following the research's initial assumption, that an enhanced community capital leads to more successful adaptation and a depreciated community capital to a less successful, the two tables were synthesized and conclusions were made. This final stage allowed me to explore what impacts conservation projects have on the local drought adaptation strategies, and thereby answer the third sub-question - ultimately leading to the answering of the main research question too.

 $^{^{9}}$ It is important to note that these shades do not refer to the intensity or the importance of the data – every color represents a distinct impact. They are grouped into variations of green and red solely in order to help us to better see the difference between positive and negative impacts.

4 Results

4.1 General Findings

When organizing the drought adaptation strategies into the seven community capitals, it can be discovered that social and political capitals are the most frequently utilized, closely followed by the human and cultural capitals. In case of the conservation project's impacts, human, financial, and built capitals receive mostly positive impacts, while social and political capitals are overwhelmingly negatively affected. For natural and cultural capitals, the distribution of positive and negative impacts seems to be more even.

Comparing the conservation projects' impacts on the drought adaptation strategies lets us discover some intersection points where the former places impacts on the latter. These impacts may be positive or negative, direct or indirect, and avoidable or unavoidable. Yet, it is found that conservation projects can be managed in a way that maximizes their positive and minimizes their negative impacts. For this reason, the chapter ends with a conclusion, where I outline some general interpretations of the results.

4.2 The Drought Adaptation Strategies

As Ellis (2000) outlined, adaptation is a lengthy and dynamic process, where the individual measures evolve from each other. They follow a sequence starting from easily implementable and reversible, subtle livelihood adjustments towards more radical changes. Although Ellis (2000) places the diversification of income sources in the first place of the sequence, based on the literature review, I argue that in the study area, local communities tend to adjust their original livelihood first. Due to the prevalent livelihood being subsistence farming, these first measures aim to avoid, restore, or mitigate the agricultural losses of drought.

In order to successfully employ these agricultural strategies, early warning systems and weather forecasting – both traditional and modern - are regularly employed (Kolawole et al., 2016; Spear et al., 2018; Kamara et al., 2018; Matlou, 2019; Pelema, 2018; Uganai & Murwira, 2010; Mavhura et al., 2015; Mutekwa, 2009). While indigenous knowledge-based forecasts are jeopardized by increasing westernization, modern ones are often still not understood by the local communities (Spear et al., 2018; Kamara et al., 2018). Additionally, climate change makes weather patterns more unpredictable, thus eroding the accuracy of both types of forecasts (Spear et al., 2018). Besides utilizing indigenous knowledge (Newsham & Thomas, 2009; Newsham & Thomas, 2011; Mutekwa, 2009), Stringer et al. (2009) also mentions seeking advice from agricultural officers.

Drought leads to reduced water access, therefore water conservation strategies are essential components of adaptation. Water harvesting techniques, such as borehole drilling or rainwater collecting (Spear et al., 2018; Katanha & Chigunwe, 2014; Mogotsi et al., 2011; O'Farrell et al., 2009; Dougill et al., 2010; Motsholapheko et al., 2012; Newsham & Thomas, 2009; Newsham & Thomas, 2011) and cultural-spiritual measures, for instance, rainmaking rituals and prays (Kamara et al., 2018; Mavhura et al., 2015; Stringer et al., 2009) all serve the aim of increasing water access.

If water access cannot be raised to a level that would satisfy the livelihood needs, local communities must economize water use (Spear et al., 2018) and adjust their agricultural practices to the reduced water supply for instance by improving soil quality. A frequently applied approach is conservation agriculture, aiming to minimize soil disturbance and enhance crop yields (Matlou, 2019; Nhemachena et al., 2014). It involves practices such as crop rotation, intercropping, zero tillage, direct seeding, and soil conservation techniques for instance mulching and manuring (O'Farrell et al., 2009; Spear et al., 2018;

Mavhura et al., 2015; Unganai & Murwira, 2010; Newsham & Thomas, 2011; Stringer et al., 2009; Milgroom & Giller, 2013). Soil quality is also protected from erosion by planting trees and laying stone bunds (Spear et al., 2018).

One of the most frequently mentioned adaptation is using more drought-tolerant, quicker maturing or shorter season crop varieties (Spear et al., 2018; Katanha & Chigunwe, 2014; O'Farrell et al., 2009; Kolawole et al., 2016; Brida et al., 2013; Unganai & Murwira, 2010; Mavhura et al., 2015; Newsham & Thomas, 2009; Newsham & Thomas, 2011; Mutekwa, 2009; Stringer et al., 2009; Milgroom & Giller, 2013). On the other hand, these crop varieties often have smaller yield or market, discouraging farmers from their early adoption (Nhemachena et al., 2014; Kamara et al., 2018). Sometimes farmers do not replace all their original crops but diversify them (Nhemachena et al., 2014; Stringer et al., 2009; Milgroom & Giller, 2009; Milgroom & Giller, 2013).

Multiple planting and ploughing (following rain events) is another common strategy (Spear et al., 2018; O'Farrell et al., 2009; Motsholapheko et al., 2012; Milgroom & Giller, 2013; Mutekwa, 2009). Planting and harvesting dates are also altered in order to maximize the crops' survival rate (Spear et al., 2018; Nhemanchena et al., 2014; Kolawole et al., 2016; Stringer et al., 2009; Milgroom & Giller, 2013) while, dry-seeding and planting more seeds together aim to reduce the potential of crop losses (Milgroom & Giller, 2013).

On the floodplains where soil moisture allows, communities engage with flood recession farming (Kamara et al., 2018). Likewise, the more advantaged communities may be able to afford to modernize agriculture by irrigation development (Mutekwa, 2009; Newsham & Thomas, 2011; Milgroom & Giller, 2013) or by using herbicides (Stringer et al., 2009). As for the more traditional measures, indigenous grain storing, off-season seed multiplications, and seed dressing techniques are widely employed (Spear et al., 2018; Kamara et al., 2018; Milgroom & Giller, 2013). Where available, communities also tend to change the cropping area, either reducing, expanding, or shifting it at the times of drought (Milgroom & Giller, 2013; Brida et al., 2013).

In many senses, animal husbandry follows similar adaptation strategies as that of crop cultivation. Switching to more drought-tolerant¹⁰ species is a common practice throughout the study area (Spear et al., 2018; Hänke & Barkmann, 2017; O'Farrell et al., 2009; Kamara et al., 2018; Matlou, 2019; Nhemanchena et al., 2014; Masike & Ulrich, 2008; Stringer et al., 2009; Rakgase & Norris, 2014). Compared to crop cultivation, animal husbandry more flexibly allows changing the locations, thus transhumance and temporal migrations are common strategies, especially among males (Spear et al., 2018; Nhemanchena et al., 2014; Motsholapheko et al., 2012; O'Farrell et al., 2009; Katanha & Chigunwe, 2014; Brida et al., 2013; Rakgase & Norris, 2014).

On the frontiers of the agricultural strategies are strategies aiming to decrease agricultural capitals, like lending land (Milgroom & Giller, 2013) or reducing livestock numbers. The latter is done by either lending or selling livestock in order to both reduce the water demand and increase financial capital (Hänke & Barkmann, 2017; Mogotsi et al., 2011; O'Farrell et al., 2009; Spear et al., 2018; Kamara et al., 2018; Matlou, 2019; Pelema; 2018; Stringer et al., 2009; Newsham & Thomas, 2009; Newsham & Thomas, 2011; Mavhura et al., 2015; Brida et al., 2013; Milgroom & Giller, 2013). However, livestock is often seen as a status symbol making their sales restricted by cultural and social norms (Spear et al., 2018). Moreover, it is critical to recognize that livestock is a capital, thus selling them is usually a last resort strategy, often signaling the beginning of agricultural alienation. That being said, livelihood diversification was found to be the next group of adaptation strategies.

The transition from agricultural to non-agricultural bread-winning is not a quick process. Often it starts with the collection and sales of natural resources (Nhemachena et al., 2014; Hänke & Barkmann, 2017; Mogotsi et al., 2011; Spear et al., 2018; Motsholapheko et al., 2012; Lendvelo et al., 2018). Other types

¹⁰ Meaning that they need less water and/or eat crops that need less water

of employments include labor at commercial farms (Milgroom & Giller, 2013), various other types of casual employment opportunities (Milgroom & Giller, 2013), engagement with handicrafts, like basket weaving or craft sales (O'Farrell et al., 2009; Spear et al., 2018; Pelema, 2018; Lendvelo et al., 2018), informal, petty trade (Newsham & Thomas, 2009; Stringer et al., 2009; Mavhura et al., 2015; Unganai & Murwira, 2010) and tourism-related activities (O'Farrell et al., 2009; Spear et al., 2018; Lendvelo et al., 2018). As last resort strategies child labor (Kamara et al., 2018) and migration (O'Farrell et al., 2009; Pelema, 2018; Kamara et al., 2018) are also possible options. Since the latter involves the promise of future remittances, this bridges the group of livelihood diversification strategies to those that utilize the social capital.

Social strategies include receiving remittances (Hänke & Barkmann, 2017; Pelema, 2018; Mutekwa, 2009), borrowing money (Hänke & Barkmann, 2017; Spear et al., 2018; Matlou, 2019), and numerous forms of community-wide support schemes including drought insurances, sharing costs and information, pooling resources, exchanging seeds and aiding one another (O'Farrell et al., 2009; Dougill et al., 2010; Kamara et al., 2018; Milgroom & Giller, 2013). Utilizing the social capital of extended households is also a common strategy to reduce collective drought-stress (Brida et al., 2013; Acquah, 2008). Besides receiving support from the community or the family, the reliance on external aid - such as governmental support, food distribution, drought relief, compensations, and different development programs - is also often mentioned in the literature (Nhemachena et al., 2014; Hänke & Barkmann, 2017; Kolawole et al., 2016; Dougill et al., 2010; Spear et al., 2018; Kamara et al., 2018; Matlou, 2019; Palema, 2018; Newsham & Thomas, 2009; Newsham & Thomas, 2011; Mavhura et al., 2015; Brida et al., 2013). Yet, this rather passive strategy has been found to create an unhealthy external dependence that impedes successful long term adaptation (Spear et al., 2018).

Lastly, - although it can be argued that this is rather a consequence than an adaptation strategy of drought -, reduced or altered consumption is frequently mentioned. For instance, many locals in the study area spend and eat less during droughts (Hänke & Barkmann, 2017; Spear et al., 2018; Pelema, 2018). Food gets stored more often (Brida et al., 2013; Mavhura et al., 2015) and diets are regularly supplemented by purchased (Newsham & Thomas, 2011; Mavhura et al., 2015) or harvested food, such as forest fruits and bushmeat (Mutekwa, 2009; Mavhura et al., 2015; Newsham & Thomas, 2009; Newsham & Thomas, 2011).

Capitals	Agricultural strategies	Extra income	Social strategies	Consumption adjustment
		generating		strategies
Natural capital	- Flood recession farming	- Sales of natural resources		- Consuming wild fruits and bushmeat
Human capital	 Indigenous knowledge based weather forecasting Indigenous knowledge based agricultural practices (grain storing, off- season seed multiplications, seed dressing 	- Child labor		

	techniques, dry- seeding, switching to more drought- tolerant species, protecting soil quality, changing planting and/or harvesting dates) - Indigenous knowledge based early warning systems			
Social capital			 Receiving remittances Borrowing money Utilizing the extended households Utilizing community support schemes Child labor 	
Financial capital	- Investing in agricultural improvement	- Investing in another livelihood		- Purchasing food to offset the agricultural losses
Built capital	 Irrigation development Rainwater harvesting Using herbigides 			- Storing food
Cultural capital	 Rainmaking rituals, prayers Indigenous knowledge based weather forecasting Indigenous knowledge based agricultural practices (grain storing, off- season seed multiplications, seed dressing techniques, dry- seeding, switching to more drought- tolerant species, protecting soil quality, changing 			

	planting and/or harvesting dates) - Indigenous knowledge based early warning systems	
Political capital	 Transhumance Changing the cropping area Seeking advice from agricultural officers Adjusting agricultural land use Migration 	 Lending or - Migration - Saving water selling land - Reliance on external aid Reducing external aid Ivestock number lending land Engaging with other types of livelihood Selling natural resources

3. Table: The drought adaptation strategies organized into the four groups of strategies and the seven community capitals

4.3 The Conservation Projects' Impacts

In the following pages I summarize the results of the meta-synthesis and introduce all the impacts, conservation projects proved to have on the local communities. The chapter's structure follows the CCF categorization and the mentioned impacts are further divided into two groups based on whether they affect the particular capital positively or negatively. This division is not as straightforward as it sounds; some impacts may affect different capitals positively and/or negatively. Due to this complex interdependence of the impacts and the overlaps between the CCF categories, some parts of this chapter might sound redundant, while in fact the impacts are merely approached from several different, - but equally important - perspectives.

Since this chapter bases its findings on more than 500 academic papers, citing all these works would not be a viable option. Yet, in order to support every claim I make, I do cite a few of these papers. This means, however, that the citation behind a piece of information is not an exclusive source; there might be many more papers supporting that claim.

Following each capital's description, a map illustrates the geographical distribution of the mentioned positive (green) and negative (red) impacts, where the size of the datapoint refers to the number of mentions in the synthesized literature. On the left side of the map, three pie charts display the share of the mapped impacts: the upper one shows the share of positive impacts with different patterns of green, the bottom one does so with the negative impacts in red, and the middle on displays the distribution of all impacts. The shares of the green and red areas in this middle pie chart gives a good (although very broad) indication of how the given capital is overall impacted by the conservation projects. Since the datapoints are illustrated with this kind of cumulative pie charts too, one can have the same general understanding for every mapped location.

In the pie charts the impacts are shown in the sequence of their frequency (the most frequently mentioned positive impact being the first green section of the pie chart and the most frequently mentioned negative impact being the first red section of the pie chart in a clockwise direction) and this order is used in the maps' legend too, where all the relevant impacts are listed adjacent to the three pie charts.

It is important to note that impacts from the two crosscutting issues (HWC and displacement) are not taken into account in the descriptions of any of the seven capitals. Their descriptions and maps are to be found at the end of the chapter.



4. Map: The geographic scopes of the synthesized literature on conservation

As the map above (*Map 4*) illustrates with each of its black dots referring to one location mentioned in the synthesized literature, the locations are not distributed evenly over the study area: some areas have a higher concentration of data, while others remained relatively unmapped. To overcome this issue, the two most dense areas (the Limpopo and the Okavango valley) are highlighted, and zoomed in versions are to be found in the bottom right of the maps. In addition *Map 4* features some locations (for instance Kunene or Caprivi) that the chapter often refers to later.

4.3.1 Natural Capital

Positive impacts

Conservation projects aim – by definition – to enhance the natural characteristics of an area (Aronson et al., 2006), so it can be assumed that the increased availability of natural resources is the most basic positive impact, one can expect. However, as long as the local community does not derive any tangible or intangible benefits from this increase, natural resources don't directly translate as natural capitals. For the communities to benefit from them, increased availability is not enough, access must be also provided.

Access can be legal or illegal and under natural capital, I have included both. I argue that although the illegality affects some other capitals negatively, the possibility to use an increased number or quality of natural resources still qualifies as a positive impact on the natural capital. This illegal or merely tolerated

natural resource collections proved to be especially popular in the dry forests of Madagascar (Durbin & Ralambo,1994).

On the other hand, increased legal access is usually combined with improved political capital and it is commonly mentioned in regard to conservation projects with high or increased local involvement, like CBNRMSs. Based on the meta-synthesis, approximately two-third of the positive impacts on the natural capital are connected to increased access (both legal and illegal) to natural resources. Under this category, the accessed natural resources are used for subsistence purposes and are not monetized. The most often collected natural resources are thatching grass, medical plants, firewood, and worms (Swemmer et al., 2017). Erosion prevention measures are also regarded to increase natural resource access because they improve the soil quality (Mfune, 2012), which has positive implications on the local agricultural livelihood.

Due to the research's focus on drought, water must be highlighted and dealt with separately. Among all the mentions of increased access to natural resources, roughly one-fourth is related to water. Unlike the somewhat incidental increase in the access of other natural resources (especially the illegal ones), the increase of water access is always the result of conscious planning. It is achieved by the introduction of manmade facilities, such as boreholes and pipelines (connected to the built capital), and financed at least partly by conservation-related revenues. Consequently, these practices are especially popular among conservation projects that both lie in the most water-scarce areas and are able to produce high tourism revenue, such as the community conservancies of Namibia's Kunene region (Hoole, 2008). Other positive impacts on the natural capital are attributed to mainly intangible benefits, derived from the aesthetic value of nature, and especially of wildlife (Hoole, 2008).

Negative impacts

As for negative impacts on the natural capital, the overwhelming majority of the mentions are connected to the restricted access to natural resources. In this case, restriction refers to actual physical or (well enforced) legal barriers that cannot be circumvented, resulting in lower access to natural resources, regardless of how the availability of these resources has changed. These negative impacts are most frequently mentioned from areas of the Great Limpopo Transboundary Conservation Area (GLTBCA) on the South African-Zimbabwean-Mozambique border and the Kgalagadi TBCA on the South African-Namibian border (Witter, 2013).

More than 10% of the mentioned cases concern restricted water access, especially in northern Botswana. The reason behind restricted water access is either the restricted land access per se or the increased competition for the water sources (Darkoh & Mbaiwa, 2009; Oviedo et al., 2006). The remaining mentions of negative impacts on the natural capital are connected to restricted availability, rather than access. Paradoxically, conservation projects might also result in the depletion or over-exploitation of local natural resources, negatively impacting the natural capital (Moswete & Thapa, 2015).


5. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' natural capital

4.3.2 Human Capital

Positive impacts

Those impacts that result in improved health and/or extended knowledge belong to this group. Improved health is understood by the increased availability of dietary choices, and the increased access to a healthier lifestyle and medical checkups. The most frequently mentioned health impact is the dietary improvement and increased food security. Dietary improvement is understood as the increased access to a more protein-rich and/or diverse diet. The primary source of dietary improvement is the increased meat access, which can be largely attributed to the trophy hunting activities. When an animal is shot, its meat is often distributed for free or sold at low prices for the local communities (Jones, 2009). Consequently, the spatial distribution of this positive impact is centered around CBNRM projects offering trophy hunting activities, for instance in the regions of Caprivi, Kunene, and Okavango Delta.

Besides being a frequent byproduct of trophy hunting, food distributions also take place without hunting activities. Certain conservation-initiated community events and workplace-based food allowances contribute to the increased food availability (Sims-Castley et al., 2005; Snyman, 2014). Yet another source of dietary improvement is the increased financial wellbeing due to livelihood change. Unlike subsistence farmers, - whose diet is heavily dependent on the natural resources – those locals whose livelihood relies more on financial capital (preferably from diversified sources) can afford to purchase larger varieties of food and ensure their food security (Mufudza, 2016). As it will be shown later, such tendencies of livelihood change is a frequent consequence of conservation projects in the study area.

Along with protein-rich and diverse diet, an active lifestyle contributes to human health too. Conservation-related revenues are in some cases used to support sport events or fund local sport teams, thereby propagating a healthy lifestyle (Mbaiwa, 2011). Even more frequently than supporting the physically active lifestyle, the revenues contribute to the increased access to medical care. With projects such as constructing clinics, improving sanitation facilities, promoting HIV testing, and transporting emergency cases to the hospital, conservation projects support local health and longevity (Jänis, 2011; Moswete & Thapa, 2015). Compared to the rest of the study area, utilizing conservation-related revenues to improve medical access was found to be especially popular in northern Zimbabwe's Guruve district.

Supporting education is the most frequent way of utilizing conservation-related revenues with over 100 mentions of it from all over the study area. The most common approaches are the construction, improvement, and maintenance of school buildings, or the support of the teachers and pupils (Mbaiwa, 2008; B. Jones, 2004a). A less direct positive impact on education is again related to the shift in livelihood. The agricultural alienation allows children to visit schools more regularly and a reduced school dropout rate has also been reported (Mufudza, 2016).

The most commonly mentioned (approximately one-third) positive impact on human capital is the increased access to trainings and gaining skills. These impacts are mostly connected to employment because the tourism-related workplaces regularly provide education or training for their prospective local workers (Boudreaux, 2007).

Negative impacts

Generally, human capital seems to receive overwhelmingly more positive than negative impacts. The majority of the few negative mentions are related to poorer dietary choices and decreased food security. This is most of the time related to reduced meat access due to conservation regulations, such as restricted subsistence hunting (Manyena et al., 2013).

Other adverse health impacts can be connected to the livelihood change too. Adapting to less healthy, western diets and increasing alcohol consumption are new types of health risks that can be attributed to the tourism-induced westernization (Stone, 2013). Although it could be also assumed that the livelihood change leads to a less physically active lifestyle (compared to the original farming livelihood), thereby negatively affecting human health, this impact has not been reported in the literature.

The third group of negative impacts on human capital is related to the loss of knowledge. All of these mentions refer to traditional or indigenous knowledge and their decrease is largely attributed to the tourism-induced modernization and westernization – yet another example of the livelihood shift (Hoole, 2008).



6. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' human capital

4.3.3 Social Capital

Positive impacts

Both the revenues and the opportunities provided by conservation projects are actively utilized to fight existing inequalities, with most of the time the reduced inequality being gender-related. For instance, with the advent of tourism, many marginalized women managed to diversify their livelihoods by selling crafts and forest products to the tourists (Murphy & Suich, 2003). Women and to a smaller extent marginalized ethnic groups are also increasingly employed in tourism-related workplaces like hotels and camps (Jones, 1999).

Sometimes conservation revenues are also directly spent on helping the vulnerable members of the community. Taking care of the elders, distributing food for the poor, aiding sick people, and constructing a place for orphans are common objectives of places where locals themselves are more involved in the decision-making. Consequently, the mentions of improved equality are clearly concentrated around the CBNRM projects of Namibia and Botswana (Mbaiwa & Stronza, 2010; Murphy & Suich, 2003).

Another significant positive social impact is the organization and support of various events. Although the mentions of sport events (especially football) belong to here too, the most commonly cited event supported by conservation projects proved to be funerals (Mbaiwa & Stronza, 2010). However, these are sometimes restricted to instances when the deceased fell victim to HWC (Chigonda, 2014).

The shift in livelihood leading to increased wellbeing (at least in monetary terms) also facilitates a phenomenon, I termed as enhanced social ties. This refers to the fortunate situation, that unlike most of their peers, the local youth from villages with successful tourism projects do not need to migrate to the

nearby urban center to seek jobs, but can stay near their families (Snyman, 2012b). This allows families, and communities to stay together, therefore strengthening the bonding social capital. Besides allowing people not to leave, increased wellbeing and health also contribute to population growth, augmenting household sizes, and ultimately enhancing social ties (Harrison, 2006). In addition to the increased number of people staying in the community, some communities of the Okavango Delta have also constructed houses from the conservation revenues to accommodate friends and relatives visiting the community (Harrison, 2006).

Lastly, if a conservation project is successful and locals derive equitable benefits from it, it can lead to social cohesion and contribute to the strengthening of a common self-identity (Ashley, 2000a). This impact is mostly reported from successful conservancies, such as the CBNRMs of Namibia's Kunene region, Botswana's Okavango Delta, and Zimbabwe's rural districts.

Negative impacts

In the case of the social capital, negative impacts outweigh positive ones, but this distribution can be largely attributed to one single negative impact: conflicts. Conflicts contribute to more than half of all the negative impacts on the social capital and are reported from all over the study area with the Lubombo Transboundary Conservation Area (LTBCA) being - in relative terms - slightly overrepresented. The most common reasons behind these conflicts are land and resource-based disagreements, conflicts with the park authorities, local power struggles, immigration, and sometimes even ethnic tensions (Mbaiwa, 2005a; Maughan Brown, 1998; Sinthumule, 2018; Stone, 2013).

One source of conflict deserves to be highlighted: the perceived unfairness of benefit distribution, often leading to internal mistrust and tension. The debate on how to distribute conservation benefits and how its perceived fairness affects the conservation projects' success is a well-researched topic, with multiple papers of the meta-synthesis contributing to it. Unsurprisingly, these incidents are commonly reported from conservation projects otherwise seen as role models, where the benefit is both significant and available for distribution (Mulonga & Murphy, 2003).

Exacerbated or renewed inequalities constitute the next big group of negative impacts on social capital. The aspects of these inequalities are often not specified but aside from those, gender and ethnic-related inequalities seem to be the most affected by conservation projects (Claudio, 2008; Jones, 2009). The exacerbation of inequalities is reported in disproportionately large quantities from the Zambezi valley along the borders of Zambia, Zimbabwe, and Mozambique.

In addition, social ties may be eroded due to the emergence of certain physical or legal barriers between communities. For instance, in the case of border villages, whose lands – after being incorporated into one of the region's TBCAs – became more heavily patrolled, traditional ties and communications between them became illegalized and almost nonexistent (Sinthumule, 2017).



7. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' social capital

4.3.4 Financial Capital

Positive impacts

Conservation projects' positive impacts primarily contribute to the financial capital with more than half of them belonging to this group. Amongst them, the most cited impact is tourism revenue. Its extremely frequent occurrence is explained by the fact, that revenue is understood in absolute terms, regardless of the associated expenses. Moreover, these impacts are likely double-accounted: A significant portion of other positive impacts are fostered by the inflow of financial capital, which is therefore transformed into positive impacts on other capitals.

However, it would have been an industrious – if not impossible - work to look up the actual financial viability of each one of the mentioned conservation projects and calculate the amount of net monetary returns. In addition, such a calculation would also undermine the idea of a meta-synthesis. Thus, rather than trying to quantify the conservation projects' financial viability, I moved every mentions of tourism-related revenues under the category of positive impacts on financial capital.

Tourism-related revenues are mostly coming from accommodation costs and trophy hunting fees (Suich, 2013). Although the former is more widespread in the study area, the latter seems to be more significant in the magnitude of the revenues. Other related revenues came from entrance fees, guide fees, and other associated payments such as car rental and souvenir sales (Naidoo et al., 2016).

The second most commonly mentioned positive impact on financial capital is employment. Similarly to tourism revenues, employment is also inseparable from tourism development. Conservation related workplaces offer jobs such as game rangers, tour guides, cooks, cleaners, performers, and drivers -

although it has to be mentioned that most of the local people get low-paid positions (Boudreaux, 2007). It is not only the worker but their whole household who benefits from employment. Employment can be regarded as a long term positive impact because it continuously injects financial capital into several households – and through them into the entire local economy. Moreover, conservation-related jobs also lead to diversified income sources and reduce one's dependence on land and natural resources. For these reasons, employment is often regarded as a successful community empowerment tool (B. Jones, 2004b; Sebele, 2010).

Tourism's trickle-down effect is a well-documented phenomenon, meaning that the industry's mere presence has positive impacts on the community's entire financial capital. The more visitors means more local purchases (and in some cases even rising property values), which opens the possibility for many locals to diversify their livelihoods. Selling crafts and forest resources is especially common among women of places with high tourism demand (Murphy & Suich, 2003; Saayman et al., 2012).

This leads us to the next group of positive impacts on the financial capital, namely that of monetizing natural resources. Unlike the collection of natural resources for subsistence purposes (mentioned under the natural capital), these activities are mostly restricted to resources with legal access. The spatial comparison of the two types of natural resource collections gives implications on the distribution of both tourism market demand and resource rights of the study area. While in Madagascar and Zimbabwe, the extracted natural resources are overwhelmingly used for subsistence purposes, in Namibia's Kunene region every mention of natural resource collection is related to sales (Durbin & Ralambo, 1994; B. Jones, 2004b). Commonly collected and sold resources are wood, thatching grass, worms, reed, resin, medical plants, and bushmeat (Lendelvo et al., 2012; Bandyopadhyay et al., 2008; Boggs, 2000; Shackleton & Campbell, 2000).

Not only natural resources, but land can be monetized too. Some conservation projects, especially around the Okavango Delta make money by leasing portions of their land to private (tourism-related) businesses (Ngwenya & Kgathi, 2005). Similarly, land sales are also a form of monetization. Land sales are mentioned in regard of farmers selling their lands to be included in the prospective conservation projects. For instance, the establishment of Botswana's, Zimbabwe's, and South Africa's Great Mapungubwe Transboundary Conservation Area have involved such purchases (Sinthumule, 2018).

In the case of CBNRM projects, part of the tourism revenue is sometimes distributed directly to the community. These village or household level cash payouts are irregular and often insignificant, but can nevertheless strengthen the feeling of community belonging and raise local support for the conservation project (B. Jones, 2004b). In other times – especially in South Africa's northern KwaZulu Natal province – cash is not paid out directly to the households but is rather given to emerging local businesses to develop the local economy (Spenceley, 2006). The increased financial capital contributes to financial security. It materializes in growing credit availability, the investment of certain portions of the financial capitals, and the purchase of insurances, sometimes even to offset to negative impacts of drought (Ashley, 2000a; Murphy, 2003).

Negative impacts

Negative impacts on financial capital proved to be much more sporadic than positive ones. Even the most cited impact (more than half of all negative impacts on the financial capital) refers merely to the lost potential of increased financial capital, rather than an actual lost financial capital. This impact is the mismanagement of funds, mentioned particularly often in regard to conservation projects from Botswana's Okavango Delta and Zimbabwe's Chipinge district. The impact implies an incompetent local leadership and raises the questions of representation, fair benefit distribution, and jeopardized political capital (Harrison, 2006).

The second most cited negative impact on financial capital is job loss. For instance, when landowners sell their lands to the conservation projects, it impacts their financial capital positively, but it does so negatively with the workers of that land. Often without any legal rights and education, these marginalized agricultural workers can find themselves without a livelihood (Sinthumule, 2018).

Another land-related financial loss is the reduced quantity or value of the harvest. This can be attributed to conservation and tourism's adverse effects on the local agriculture either through restricted land or resource access or by exposing the local economy to the variability of external market forces (Sinthumule, 2017). Not unrelated from these market forces is the rising local prices affecting local financial capital negatively (Saayman et al., 2012)



8. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' financial capital

4.3.5 Built Capital

Positive Impacts

The majority of tourism-induced financial capital finds its way to turn into built capital. Built capitals include all forms of community development projects that create, maintain, or improve any physical features of the community, such as buildings, infrastructures, or technological improvements. The most common examples for the buildings to be constructed are schools, offices, clinics, police stations, shops, elderly homes, orphan homes, and accommodations for visitors (Magole & Magole, 2011; Boudreaux, 2007; Letsoalo, 2019; Harrison, 2006). Additionally, housing is sometimes provided to certain workers or for those in need (Roe et al., 2001).

Most of these constructions also imply a positive impact on other capitals, but from a purely built capital perspective shops must be highlighted. Shops can raise the availability of basic goods and foods. In

cases when they are not locally available, basic goods, building materials, and seeds are sometimes distributed in the community (Simelane et al., 2006).

Besides the constructions or the improvement of buildings, conservation revenues are also channeled into infrastructural development projects, the most common type being road construction. This is often combined with the purchase of community vehicles that can transport local people to the nearby urban center for a reduced fee or be used in the cases of emergencies to take people to the hospital (Jones, 2009). Infrastructural development projects further include sanitary improvements and canalizations, but these are singled out in the pie chart, because of their relevance in reducing drought stress through raising water availability. In addition to pipelines, digging boreholes serves the same purpose (Jones, 2009).

Community development projects, enhancing the built capital can be further categorized into two groups based on what livelihood they primarily support. Agricultural investments, such as the modernization of agricultural production, the purchase of tractors, grinding mills, diesel pumps, and dip tanks contribute to the maintenance of the traditional, land-based livelihood (Stone, 2015; Mutandwa & Gadzirayi, 2007). On the other hand, technological improvements, such as the applications of solar panels or the introduction of electricity and communication improvements like televisions, radios, phones, and computers promote a more modern livelihood (Jones, 2009; O'Connor, 2018; Mbaiwa, 2008).

When comparing these two goals (contributing to the traditional versus the modern lifestyle) of the community projects, it can be seen that modernization projects are more widespread. The most significant modernization-related projects are implemented around the Okavango Delta, while northern Zimbabwe's Guruve district and the adjacent Tchuma Tchato CBRNM project in Mozambique's Tete province seem to focus largely on agricultural projects. In the case of south-eastern Zimbabwe's Chipinge district, both types of projects enjoy more support than in most of the study area, although modernization projects seem to be the more popular here too.

Negative impacts

Of all the seven community capitals, built capital proved to be the most polarized in regard to the conservation projects' positive and negative impacts on it. While positive impacts on the built capital were mentioned frequently, negative mentions were scarce and all related to the crosscutting issues of HWC and displacement, thus they are discussed separately at the end of the chapter.



9. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' built capital

4.3.6 Cultural Capital

Positive Impacts

Anything that benefits the local community to maintain their traditional livelihood can be regarded as strengthening cultural capital. The most widely mentioned source of positive impact is the use of tourism revenue for supporting the local culture. This support includes organizing cultural events and projects, aiding the traditional community authorities, and supporting local artists (Jones, 2009; Swemmer et al., 2017; Tavuyanago, 2016).

A special form of this category is the establishment of cultural tourism because rather than being the result of, it is a means of tourism revenue. By constructing traditional villages, organizing dance shows, music nights, and encouraging the wearing of traditional costumes, cultural tourism does not only generate additional revenue but it also helps the local community to rediscover and revive their culture (Murphy, 2003). The tendency of local communities establishing cultural tourism on the back of the already existing natural tourism is a practice most commonly found in areas with a long history of successful natural tourism, such as South Africa's Kruger National Park or northern Botswana's Okavango Delta and Chobe district. In some exemplary cases, this even evolves into a local pride of being a member of the community (Murphy, 2003).

A less direct – but more common - positive impact on the cultural capital are those uses of tourism revenue that indirectly facilitate the maintenance of the original livelihood and lifestyle, such as the already mentioned agricultural modernizations or the possibility of being employed locally and thus avoid leaving the community (Stone, 2015; Snyman, 2012b). Similarly contributing to the maintenance

of the traditional lifestyle is the increased safety which was reported either in connection with more police presence and reduced crime rates or landmine clearings, initiated by the conservation project (Spenceley et al., 2008; Stone, 2013).

In addition, the rare mentions of leisure values (for instance, locals enjoying a walk in nature) are also regarded as positive cultural impact. In the cases of South Africa's KNP and Botswana's Kasane Forest Reserve, providing discounted entry rates for the local communities is one way of benefit distribution (Ziobro, 2014).

Moreover, cultural values are also often attached to the natural resources, such as wildlife or certain forests preserved by the conservation projects. Some other resources, are not related to conservation but are merely found inside their territories, like ancestral burial sites or areas with special cultural/religious importance. By ensuring the local communities' access to these sites and resources, conservation projects place positive impacts on the cultural capital (Moore, 2010). This practice is mostly characteristic for eastern Namibia's Caprivi region.

Lastly, the presence of tourism exposes local communities to other cultures, which in some cases can strengthen local belonging, improve moral values, and widen worldviews. Some locals mention the possibility of meeting foreigners, exchanging ideas, and learning from them as a positive impact, (Moswete & Thapa, 2015). Although not reported commonly, tourism's positive cultural impact is disproportionately centered around Kruger National Park and the Kalahari area of both South Africa and Namibia.

Negative impacts

Negative impacts on the cultural capital are slightly more common than positive ones, but interestingly they both have the same driving forces behind them: modernization, exposure to foreign cultures, and the livelihood change. The most common negative impact is the loss of culture, including instances, such as loss of indigenous knowledge, eroding power of traditional authorities, and disrupting traditional lifestyles due to conservation or tourism-related restrictions (Shackleton & Campbell, 2000; Mbaiwa, 2005a). The marginalization of local culture is reported from the borderlands of South Africa, Mozambique, and Zimbabwe, while Namibia, for instance, did not show any such cases (Sinthumule, 2018). Interestingly, the same cultural tourism practices mentioned as positive impacts are – in other papers - examples of negative impacts. These papers argue that by monetizing local traditions and belief systems, cultural tourism leads to more cultural harm than benefit (Koot & Van Beek, 2017).

The second most common negative impact on cultural capital is the loss of traditional livelihood. This group includes impacts such as the alienation from agriculture, the illegalization of traditional livelihoods (terming traditional livelihood activities with derogatory manners such as illegal resource harvesting, squatting or poaching), or even urbanization (Wily & Mbaya, 2001; Durbin & Ralambo, 1994; Harrison, 2006). This loss of traditional livelihood is commonly mentioned in regard to northern Botswana, the GLTBCA, and the LTBCA. In addition, access to natural resources and ancestral lands with cultural values is in most cases not sufficiently granted (Schaffer, 2009).

Another group of negative impacts on the local culture is related to tourism development. Exposure to foreign cultures is reported to worsen local morals nearly twice more often than improving it. These include the lengthy process of westernization and the increasing instances of alcoholism, drug use, prostitution, and even xenophobia (Mbaiwa, 2003). Compared to the positive impacts on the local morals, negative ones are more spatially concentrated around the Okavango Delta. Not unrelated from these negative tendencies are the increasing rates of crimes and reduced security (Saayman et al., 2012). In addition, casual annoyances and disturbances of tourism are also reported, including pollution, noise, overcrowding, and increased traffic (Mbaiwa, 2003)



10. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' cultural capital

4.3.7 Political Capital

Positive impacts

It might sound contradictory to search for positive impacts on the political capital in regard to conservation projects - known for introducing new rules on resource management and land rights. The reason why there still are such positive impacts of conservation projects is twofold. On the one hand, not all conservation projects are imposed from above, and in bottom-up cases, they are indeed capable to enhance the local authority over natural resources. On the other hand, non-locally initiated conservation projects from all over the study area tend to "loosen the grip" by time and provide some extent of ownership, management right, and control to the local communities over their natural resources. Although it can be argued that merely giving back what would not have even been lost without the conservation projects' existence is not a positive impact but rather the reduction of a negative one, I regarded these right restitutions as positive impacts because the time between the rights lost and regained often extends to several decades, sometimes even generations.

The most documented case of such right restitution is connected to South Africa's Makuleke community. The community was forcefully displaced during the northward expansion of Kruger National Park in the late sixties. Decades later, the community successfully won their land claim and was awarded its original land. The case received a lot of publicity with nearly 15 percent of all the reviewed papers citing it, some of them presuming this level of interest to be one possible reason for the South African community's exemplary success. Although Makuleke had to agree not to demolish the natural characteristics of the land, they are otherwise free to make tourism revenues on this part of Kruger's northern corner (Spenceley, 2003). There are multiple examples of similar land claims, but not

all claims have been successful yet. Those cases that were, are part of the most common category of positive political impacts, namely that of improved land access.

However, at this point, different levels of authorities must be differentiated. Most of the land rights are solely rights of management (and thus revenue generation) but not of ownership. This difference is mostly determined by the legal context with Namibian conservancies for instance being able to own their lands but Zimbabwean CBNRMs are only entitled to manage the natural resources and derive (a share of) the associated revenues (Murphy, 2003; Child, 1996). Either through management or ownership rights, a highly common positive impact on the local political capital is the increased access to natural resources (Wily & Mbaya, 2001). Unlike in the case of natural capital, this exclusively refers to legally granted access.

Having local authority improves the community's voice by the increased participation in consultation and decision-making (Cock & Fig, 2000). Additionally, instances of conservation projects supporting the traditional authorities are also included in this category as well as the sporadically mentioned institutional development and reduced external dependency (Jones, 2009; Ashley, 2000b). Lastly, improved mobility is also regarded to enhance local political capital, including the purchases of community vehicles and removed land barriers (Harrison, 2006).

Negative impacts

Unsurprisingly, with more than half of the total negative impacts mentioned being of political significance, this capital proved to be the most negatively affected by conservation projects; approximately 75% of all the impacts on the political capital proved to be negative. The most cited category refers to the restricted livelihood options, including the restricted access or use of natural resources such as the regulation of hunting or fishing. For instance, in Mozambique's Limpopo National Park several local communities await displacement and although the details of their transfer are not yet known, no new land-based investments (such as new buildings or the expansion of cultivated areas) are allowed (Spierenburg et al., 2006).

An extreme example of restricted livelihood options is the sales of lands for the establishment of conservation projects when the workers - unlike the owners – of the land receive no compensation and are forced to look for other livelihood opportunities (Sinthumule, 2018).

Restricted land access (most of the times due to fencing or regulations) is also a common example of negative impacts on the political capital with this risk being the most apparent in the cases of non-locally imitated, long-established national parks, such as the Kruger, Etosha or Gonarezhou National Parks of South Africa, Namibia and Zimbabwe, respectively (Lindsey et al., 2012). This implies reduced mobility, which also affects local political capital negatively (Sinthumule, 2020).

Following the restricted livelihood options and restricted land access, the third most populous category of negative political impacts is the insufficient level of the local authority, where the word "level" refers to both amount and scale. Examples of external power concentration, unbalanced local level power distribution, increasing dependence, and decreasing levels of participation and representation all signal the insufficient level of authority. For instance, the foreign-dominated structure of the tourism industry is a well-documented phenomenon of the Okavango Delta, while examples of non-locals holding the better-paid positions are widespread across the entire study area (Mbaiwa, 2005b). Parallel to the growth of outsider actors' power, the influence of traditional authorities often erodes (Shackleton & Campbell, 2000).

Yet, even if power is locally held, instances of unequal power distribution arise. This so-called elite capture refers to cases when power is disproportionately concentrated in the hand of a few local actors, leading to increased inequalities and social conflicts. The unfortunate textbook example of this threat is

Zimbabwe's Mahenye village (Chipinge district), where following a change in leadership, a successful and equitable CBNRM project was quickly turned into a family business benefiting only those in power (Rihoy et al., 2010).

The different levels of the lost rights are still important in order to understand the nuanced differences of the impacts, but both reduced ownership and management right are more or less evenly spread over the study area (Sinthumule, 2017; Stone & Stone, 2011).

Political capital can be negatively impacted even without any tangible events in place. The mere uncertainty of the future (due to for instance a planned displacement) reduces what and how one can do (Spierenburg et al., 2006). Likewise, the absence of promised or expected positive impacts also signals the decreased political capital of the community (Whande, 2010).



11. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities' political capital

After describing the conservation projects' impacts on every community capital (expect of the two crosscutting issues which are discussed in the next section), *Table 4* summarizes these findings. Unlike the maps above, this table does not display the impacts based on their relative frequency of occurrence in the synthesized literature. Rather, in order to allow a more thorough comparison, the impacts are organized into "pairs", the positive and negative versions of the same aspect being juxtaposed (where available).

	Positive impacts	Negative impacts
Natural capital	Natural resource access	Restricted natural resource use
	Improved water access	Restricted water access
	Aesthetic value	Depleted natural resources
Human capital	Improved diet	Worse diet

	Medical access	Health risks
	Supporting sport	
	Education	Loss of knowledge
	Training and skills	
Social capital	Reduced inequalities	Increased inequalities
	Helping the vulnerable	
	Enhanced social ties	Eroding social ties
	Social cohesion	Conflict
	Social event support	
		Unfair benefit distribution
Financial	Tourism revenues	Smaller harvest
capital	Employment	Lost job
	Local purchases	
	Cash distribution	
	Monetizing natural resources	
	Monetizing land	
	Business empowerment	
	Financial security	
		Increased prices
		Mismanagement of funds
Built capital	Constructions	
	Infrastructure development	
	Improved water system	
	Modernization	
	Supporting agriculture	
	Access to basic goods	
	Housing	
Cultural	Maintenance of traditional livelihood	Loss of traditional livelihood
capital	Supporting culture	Loss of culture
	Moral development	Worsening morals
	Access to resources and lands with cultural value	Restricted access to resources and lands with cultural value
	Safety	Insecurity
	Leisure	Disturbance by tourism
	Pride	
Political	Improved land access	Restricted land access
capital	Local authority	Insufficient level of local authority
	Natural resource access	Restricted livelihood options
	Ownership	Restricted ownership
	Management rights	Restricted management rights
	Improved mobility	Restricted mobility
		Uncertainty
		Unfulfilled expectations

4. Table: The conservation projects' impacts categorized into the seven community capitals

4.3.8 Crosscutting Issues

Upon conducting the meta-synthesis and data-analysis, it was discovered that two impacts are capable to simultaneously affect all the seven community capitals. These two crosscutting issues are HWC and displacement. In the following paragraphs I will introduce these impacts, show how do they affect each of the community capitals and illustrate their spatial distribution throughout the study area with similar maps as shown above.

HWC

Conservation projects in most cases increase the wildlife population, so when local communities are present, this almost inevitably leads to HWC. This makes HWC one of the most widespread negative impacts of conservation projects with more than half of all the reviewed papers mentioning it. The most frequently mentioned species of the conflicts are elephants, lions, hippos, crocodiles, hyenas, buffalos, leopards, jackals, monkeys, and snakes. Among these, elephants are the number one reason for crop losses and property damages, while lions, crocodiles, jackals, and other carnivores constitute the largest amount of livestock losses and human injuries or fatalities (Frank et al., 2008; Butler, 2000; Stevens, 2018).

Although compensation is often in place, most of these schemes are mentioned in the synthesized literature on the regard of not being sufficient. The reimbursement is usually a time-consuming process involving a lot of bureaucracy, high chances of denials, and low levels of possible compensation (Stevens, 2018). Moreover, although these schemes only compensate for the losses financially, HWC can disrupt all the seven community capitals.

Financial costs can be significant for agricultural communities in cases of crop raids and attacks on the livestock. In absolute terms, the economic loss is bigger for wealthier farmers but relatively speaking small scale farmers, producing food mainly for subsistence reasons suffer the most (Mayberry, 2015). Therefore, for the subsistence farmers of the study area, the more significant loss is not on the financial but on the human capital. With having less to eat, households that suffered agricultural losses due to HWC must adopt a poorer diet. Yet, HWC's most obvious negative impact on human capital is the potential of fatalities, which is the most apparent in Namibia's Caprivi region and southeastern Zimbabwe (Tavuyanago, 2016).

Wildlife is also reported to frequently destroy properties and infrastructures adding negative impacts on the built capitals. In the case of irrigation canals, this can lead to reduced water access, which then has its own negative implications on agricultural production (Ashley & Barnes, 1996). HWC can reduce water access in other ways too. First, due to the increased number of wildlife, competition between the animals and the local communities for the limited amount of water sources can intensify, especially during droughts, when HWC incidents became more frequent (Oviedo et al., 2006). On the other hand, just the presence of potentially dangerous animals can evoke fear from the local communities and this can restrict their mobility and access to natural resources, including water (Jones, 2005). The reduced access to natural resources also signals HWC's negative impact on natural capital.

Similarly, due to the HWC-induced restricted mobility, social ties are also reported to be eroding. When the potential of wildlife attacks is high, neighboring communities feel discouraged to visit each other (Gandiwa et al., 2012). Ironically a frequent approach to decrease HWC – fencing – merely gives another reason for the existence of the same problem. Besides disrupting the bridging social ties, HWC also erodes bonding ties within the household level, when some members of the family are required to spend the nights on the field to scare the animals away (Dube, 2019).

In terms of its negative impact on the cultural capital, HWCs itself is the sign of the ongoing battle between the traditional agricultural and the modern, tourism-based livelihoods. The notion that wildlife offers a greater return than agricultural land uses, propagates the increased presence of the former, which in turn places significant losses on the latter. Conservation projects offer benefits to those who adopt the tourism-based livelihood and imposes costs on those who stay with their original land-based one, consequently placing the local cultural capital under serious threats. As for HWC's impacts on the political capital, an adverse combination of the abovementioned impacts reduces local decision-making power. With increased HWC, local communities' mobility, resource access, and the diversity of available livelihood options shrink too.

In some rare instances conservation projects sufficiently decrease HWC, usually by erecting fences (Moswete & Thapa, 2015). These sporadic positive mentions are the reason behind the few green spots on the map below.



12. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities by HWC

Displacement

Displacement is probably the most disruptive form of conservation projects' impact as it affects all community capitals at once and on an extreme scale. Like HWC, displacement also comes with the promise of fair compensation, which is most of the time not fulfilled (Kronenburg Garcia et al., 2016).

Whether voluntary or involuntary, one's change of physical residence implies disruptions in the access to natural resources, social ties, and physical features of the original location, meaning that natural, social, and built capitals are instantly harmed by the move. Further, Cernea (2000) mentions joblessness as one of the potential risks of displacement, implying a severe negative impact on the financial capital which – if remains persistent – is not offset by the one-time compensation. Not unrelated to the loss of financial and natural capitals, Cernea (2000) also mentions food insecurity, increased morbidity, and

mortality, which in turn places negative impacts on the human capital. Lastly, due to the loss of local agency in decision-making, changing the original livelihood without having any power to keep it unchanged, displacement negatively affects cultural and political capitals too.



13. Map: The impacts of conservation projects on the local communities by displacement

The following table summarizes the impacts of the two crosscutting issues and gives examples of the impacts on each community capital.

Community	HWC	Displacement
Capitals		
Natural capital	Reduced access to natural resources	Lost access to the natural resources
Human capital	Increased food insecurity, potential human injuries and fatalities	Increasing potential of food insecurity, morbidity, and mortality
Social capital	Eroding social ties due to reduced mobility	Disrupted social ties
Financial capital	Monetary costs of the agricultural losses	Lost original livelihood and the potential of joblessness
Built capital	Destroyed properties and infrastructure	Lost access to physical assets of the original land
Cultural capital	Encouraging the alienation from the traditional livelihood	Forced livelihood change
Political capital	Reduced mobility and decision- making power	Loss of agency in decision-making

5. Table: Comparison of the two crosscutting issues' impacts

4.4 The Conservation Projects' Impacts on Drought Adaptation

In this chapter, I connect the results of the literature review to that of the meta-synthesis through the CCF-categorization. By doing so, the chapter aims to illustrate how can conservation projects impact local drought adaptation in the study area and thus answer the third sub-question.

4.4.1 Positive Impacts

As it was illustrated by the meta-synthesis, conservation projects contribute to a livelihood transition, signaled by agricultural alienation, diversification of income sources, and the increasing values of western lifestyle and modern knowledge. Conservation projects contribute to it by reducing the traditional livelihood's competitiveness and introducing foreign worldviews and lifestyles through tourism. Although this transition is often portrayed negatively (especially from a cultural perspective) and one would be tempted to condemn it as an adverse side effect of conservation projects, I argue that it is a more complex process, that – if managed properly – may have positive consequences on the drought adaptation strategies.

First, this transition is not a result of conservation projects. Societies around the world go or went through it in the course of what conventional development scholars would term as modernization. The transition from land-based livelihoods towards off-farm employment is often seen as an unavoidable step in reducing poverty and it is therefore encouraged by various national and international development programs around the world (Bhandari, 2003). As for the study area, due to the adverse agricultural effects of climate change, Jones and Thornton (2009) expects a livelihood shift from cropping towards the less resource-dependent livestock keeping by the year 2050. Following this train of thought, one can expect the increasing popularity of off-farm employment too. This hypothesis may be also supported by the global tendency of technological improvement, the regional tendency of westernization, and the local tendency of increasing education attendance – the last one implying the future workers to possess more non-agricultural knowledge than any of their preceding generations.

Thus, conservation projects don't generate, rather accelerate this livelihood transition in the study area. Since it is expected to happen anyways, I argue that placing this transition under the conscious governance of conservation projects may enable the local communities to plan it well, minimize its risks, and maximize its benefits. In other words, a community may be better off to switch to off-farm employments now due to the availability of other (conservation-related) livelihood options, than to do it a few decades later out of the necessities of climate change-related hardships. In sum, the often feared livelihood transition seems inevitable and the only concern left is to make it as smooth as possible.

If conservation projects pose as an impetus for a smooth transition by offering both education and employment, then they may have positive impacts on the drought adaptation strategies for three reasons. First, the traditional livelihood of subsistence farming relies to a large extent on certain natural resources, the availability of which largely depends on climate change. Therefore, by diversifying the livelihood and alienating from the dependence on these resources, the transition reduces local vulnerability (Cutter et al., 2003, Ellis & Allison, 2004; Jones & Thornton, 2009). This implies that future drought events - however serious they might be - will be less destructive on the livelihoods that depend less on the natural resources. Moreover, the diversification of income sources is a proven path out of poverty and can be the base for the long term development (Ellis & Allison, 2004).

Second, this very same transition is also present in the temporal evolution of drought adaptation strategies: after reaching a point where further agricultural strategies cannot mitigate the losses, farmers of the study area look for extra income generating sources, leaving their traditional livelihoods behind. If the livelihoods were already diversified enough at the time of droughts, local communities could omit

the strategies aiming to maintain their agricultural yields and save valuable weeks or months for the preparation and adaptation to drought by fully focusing on non-agricultural strategies.

Third, this livelihood transition brings financial capitals to the forefront of the community's life. This is why the meta-synthesis proved financial capital to be the main recipient of positive impacts. Financial capital is central for drought adaptation, so increasing its availability can ensure better adaptation in times of drought. Because employment does not only increase the financial capital of the workers themselves but also their households', the whole community can experience a higher rate of financial capital in circulation. In addition to direct employment, the increased local purchases and occasional cash payouts also increase households' financial capital. This means, that even members who are themselves short on financial capital are likely to have friends or relatives with increased monetary wealth who can help in times of drought (by utilizing social capital). Financial capital, combined with the increased access to basic goods (through the opening of community shops) means that communities can better maintain their lifestyle and food security in times when drought significantly reduces agricultural yields.

Since drought is one of the most serious local threats, it should come as no surprise that there are numerous examples of tourism revenue to be used as direct means of drought adaptation. Drilling boreholes, and constructing pipe systems contribute to enhanced water access through the utilization of built capitals. Investing money into modernizing agriculture, on the other hand, contributes by reducing the losses of drought while investing in off-farm livelihoods replaces these losses. Investing in technological and communication improvement increases the flow of information, which can help locals to make the most appropriate decision for their adaptation strategies (Wang et al., 2014). Other uses of conservation-related revenues have a less direct impact on the improved drought adaptation. Investing in education or supporting social events, raises the human and social capitals, respectively, which have proved to positively impact drought adaptation (Wang et al., 2014).

Conservation projects almost inevitably lead to an increased availability of natural resources. This even in itself can reduce the exposure to climate stress due to the strengthened natural buffer system (Abramovitz et al., 2001), but when it is combined with increased resource access, the local community can directly benefit from it in forms of enhanced natural capitals.

Because it is the poorest and most vulnerable who primarily base their livelihood on natural resources, increasing their access can reduce inequalities (Abramovitz et al., 2001). Besides increasing the access to natural resources, inequalities are also reduced by spending the revenues on the support of the most vulnerable members of the community, providing employment and education opportunities to more people, and increasing their voices in the decision-making. Reducing the inequalities, in turn, is central to successful adaptation because it enhances the community's ability to adapt collectively (Adger, 2003).

In addition to reduced inequalities, enhanced social ties (more families can stay together) also facilitate people to rely on their extended family in times of drought – a popular adaptation strategy of the study area. The literature review proved that drought adaptation strategies are disproportionately often based on the utilization of social capital, a finding also supported by Bailey et al. (2019). This means that reducing vulnerabilities and enhancing social ties certainly contribute to community adaptation. A highly positive example for illustrating this connection is the existence of certain "community support schemes" and "drought insurances". These are created by community members who use their conservation-related revenue to ensure that in the times of drought they can survive with minimal livelihood disturbance.

4.4.2 Negative Impacts

The literature review indicated that drought adaptation strategies overwhelmingly rely on social and political capitals. Incidentally, these two capitals proved to be also the most negatively affected by conservation projects, implying a significant negative impact on the success of local drought adaptation.

The negative impacts on social capital can be mainly attributed to social conflicts. The conflicts lead to eroding social ties, which can limit the success of those adaptation strategies that are based on social capital. For instance, people who perceive to bear a disproportionately large amount of the conservation projects' costs while receiving little to no of its benefits might feel more reluctant to help others in times of drought. Thus, it can be assumed that the more people feel victimized by the conservation project, and the more social ties are therefore eroded by the resulting conflicts, the smaller the social network gets on what people can rely on during drought.

In addition, the unequal distribution of conservation projects' costs and benefits lead to increased inequalities. Increased inequalities mean increasing vulnerability (Cutter et al., 2003) so when resources get more concentrated in a few powerful hands, the prospect of successful adaptation plummets (Adger & Kelly, 1999).

Political capital proved to be the most negatively affected capital by conservation projects. This is barely surprising; conservation projects by definition limit the access and use of certain lands and their resources in order to preserve them. When this restriction is a locally made decision it does not harm the community's political capital, but when the conservation project – and its associated restrictions - is imposed from above, then the community is deprived of its rights and power. In this case, the conservation project harms local political capital, by reducing the access to resources, which increases local vulnerability, reduces resilience, and ultimately undermines adaptation efforts (Adger & Kelly, 1999; Cutter et al., 2003; Kais & Islam, 2016; Ghai & Ghai, 1992).

Restricted land rights impede local people from using land in the way they perceive the best in times of drought. This can jeopardize strategies that include certain land use practices, such as borehole drilling, rainwater harvesting, or adopting conservation agriculture as well as strategies aiming to turn the land into financial capital either by lending or selling (parts of) it. Moreover, since many drought adaptation strategies require mobility (migration, sending remittances, transhumance, or even just changing the cropping area), these are put at risk when mobility is reduced by the conservation projects.

Besides restricted land access, restricted access to the natural resources is yet another negative impact conservation projects have. The ability to manage the natural resources is one of the requirements of a resilient community (Kais & Islam, 2016). Without free access to natural resources, drought adaptation strategies that aim to replace the losses with the help of natural capital, cannot be implemented. These strategies include the collection of natural resources either for their own consumption to supplement agricultural losses or to sell them and thereby diversify the income sources. However, the most relevant natural resource at risk is obviously water. Conservation projects reduce water access in many ways, including HWC, restricted land access, and increasing the number of its users by tourism. The restricted water access can exacerbate drought periods, increase the associated losses, and complicate the adaptation strategies.

Conservation projects tend to incentivize certain livelihood paths and disincentivize others, thereby reducing the community members' free choice on what livelihood to engage with. The associated livelihood transition bears the risk of marginalizing the most vulnerable members of society, thus increasing inequalities and social conflicts (Newsham & Thomas, 2009). With the livelihoods in change, the future gets uncertain, which might discourages local communities from investing in their current livelihoods for the long term. For instance, a community might have the means to reduce drought stress by developing an irrigation system, but because of the prospect of their newly constructed irrigation

system getting destroyed by elephants, they might be more inclined to look for another type of livelihood. Once they adopt the new livelihood – assuming that it is less dependent on natural resources – this move actually reduces drought vulnerability and can be celebrated as a positive impact. Yet, before the final move is made, conservation-induced uncertainty continues placing negative impacts on drought adaptation.

Future uncertainties might as well come from other conservation-related sources. Communities awaiting displacement are at least discouraged and in some cases even restricted from engaging with long-term land-based investments. This reduces the number of available drought adaptation strategies. For instance, communities along the Shingwedzi river of the Limpopo National Park are not allowed to bring new areas under agricultural cultivation, so unlike other communities of the study area, they cannot change their cropping area to enhance the yields during drought. This means that even preceding the actual displacement event, their livelihood choices and adaptation strategies are already constrained by it.

Displacement proved to have the worst potential conservation-related impacts on the local communities. With moving people against their will, their complete livelihood and lifestyle including all the seven community capitals are severely disrupted. Consequently, displacement also negatively affects all drought adaptation strategies. Although theoretically¹¹, displacement-induced livelihood changes can also reduce the vulnerability, this requires the alignment of several fortunate conditions. First, the new place's exposure to drought must be lower, second, the new livelihood's dependence on resources threatened by drought must be smaller, and third, the displaced community must be able to quickly recover from the stress and successfully rebuild their capitals. Based on the literature, none of these conditions can be regarded as the usual outcome of displacement in the study area. On the contrary, displacement typically results in long-lasting and diverse negative consequences in one's livelihood and drought adaptation.

Lastly, conservation projects also affect drought adaptation strategies negatively through eroding the cultural capital. In line with the livelihood transition, supported and accelerated by conservation projects local culture, tradition, and lifestyle are slowly replaced by the ones introduced by tourists. Besides this tendency's alarming consequences in the intangible cultural sphere, it also directly impacts several drought adaptation strategies. The well-documented loss of indigenous knowledge impedes traditional strategies such as weather forecasting or the implementation of certain agricultural practices, while the increasing westernization of local culture reduces the value of traditional rainmaking rituals, ceremonies, and prayers.

¹¹ Built on Kais and Islam (2016) 's vulnerability definition

5 Discussion

5.1 Discussion of the Results

Based on my extensive readings about the study area's conservation projects, I can conclude that – very broadly speaking – they can be characterized by (1) increasing the natural resource availability through (2) restricting the local communities' power over them. This simultaneously affects (3) the local social structures, (4) provides some form of benefit, and (5) contributes to a livelihood transition. These five general conservation characteristics serve as the five key themes, in which the above-described impacts can be grouped.

Below, *Table 6* illustrates every potential impact discovered by this research, that conservation projects can have on drought adaptation strategies. Similarly to *Table 4*, the positive and negative impacts of the same aspects are placed next to each other to help us grasp the points of possible policy interference. The impacts are organized into the five themes introduced above. For instance, most of the positive impacts are connected to different uses of the revenue, and in addition, one positive impact is attributed to the increased natural resource access. On the other hand, most of the negative impacts are a result of the reduced local power, while the social changes and livelihood transition proved to have both positive and negative implications. This partition of the impacts helps to phrase the policy recommendations.

	Positive impacts	Negative impacts
Revenues	Agricultural improvement \rightarrow reduces losses	
	Livelihood diversification \rightarrow replaces the losses	
	Engaging with community support schemes \rightarrow reduces drought sensitivity	
	Investing in communication \rightarrow increases the flow of information	
	Investing in education \rightarrow increases the community's adaptation potential	
	Increasing access to water \rightarrow reduces drought sensitivity	
Natural	Increasing natural resource availability	
resources	\rightarrow reduces exposure to drought	
Livelihood	The tendency of livelihood transition \rightarrow	Future insecurity \rightarrow discourages agricultural
transition	increases financial capital in circulation	workers from long term investments
	Agricultural alienation \rightarrow allows	Loss of local culture \rightarrow restricts the use of
	people to focus on certain adaptations	indigenous adaptation strategies
	New livelihood \rightarrow decreases the	Risk of increasing inequalities \rightarrow restricts
	reliance on the natural resources	the community's ability to adapt
Social	Reducing inequalities \rightarrow increases the	Increasing inequalities \rightarrow restricts the
impacts	community's ability to adapt	community's ability to adapt

	Enhancing social ties \rightarrow facilitates social adaptation strategies	Eroding social ties \rightarrow restricts social adaptation strategies
Restricted		Restricting participation in the decision-
local power		making \rightarrow reduces the ability of adaptation
		Restricting land rights \rightarrow restricts the use of land-based adaptation strategies
		Restricting mobility \rightarrow restricts the use of movement-based adaptation strategies
		Restricting resource access \rightarrow restricts the use of adaptation strategies aiming to replace the losses
		Restricting water access \rightarrow increases sensitivity to drought
		Displacement \rightarrow negatively affects drought adaptation in every community capitals

6. Table: The positive and negative conservation projects' impacts on the local drought adaptation strategies, organized by key themes

5.2 Risks and Limitations

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, I could not conduct my originally intended work. The original topic of how the GLTBCA affects local people's drought adaptation strategies was planned to be conducted in Massingir with interviews and participant observation. Naturally, these methodologies could not have been implemented in the midst of a global pandemic, so I had to adjust the work to make it suit a desk research. Therefore, primary data collecting methodologies were replaced by the synthetization and analysis of secondary data. This added a multiplicity of risks and limitations to the research.

For instance, contrary to what Gutierrez-Montes et al. (2009) advices, it was not possible to supplement the use of CCF with the involvement of the local communities. Accessing only secondary data on community impacts means losing out valuable information on the subtle differences and qualitative nuances of how these impacts are locally perceived. Moreover, the meta-synthesis included more than 500 academic papers, all with varying levels of quality, different foci, and differing theoretical frameworks. Due to their broad differences, the concepts used in this thesis were neither coherently defined, nor even introduced in all papers.

Obviously, the ambitious aim of meta-synthesis about accessing all the relevant secondary data in one field could not be followed, regardless of how much I strived to do so. Many papers could not be accessed and some were probably not even identified. The accessed papers had to go through the abstract check and – although I tried my best not to – it cannot be ruled out that some were excluded accidentally. Such human-limitations were apparent in the full text read too. Due to the papers' magnitude, fully reading them would have exceeded the time allocated for the thesis. Thus, only the most relevant sections were browsed through, and therefore it is highly probable that some mentioned impacts were overlooked. Nevertheless, I feel confident to claim, that the vast majority of the relevant data from the accessed sources was successfully extracted, analyzed, mapped, and fed into the formulation of the work's results.

As described in the methodology, the extraction of the data included the risk of personal judgments, which was dealt with by adhering to certain rules and increasing transparency. However, subjectivity

had an even sterner risk on the categorization of the conservation projects' impacts into the community capitals. Although adhering to the capitals' descriptions, presented in the theoretical framework's *Table* 2, it is worth noting that the capitals' boundaries are rather blurry, with significant overlaps between any two of them.

In dubious cases, the sources of the impacts were looked up and were categorized based on the context of their mention. In addition, some impacts can affect more community capitals equally. For instance, using the conservation revenues for school construction results in a new building, and contributes to the increased access to education, therefore positively impacting both the built and the human capital. In such cases, the impact was accounted for both capitals, but if an impact was judged to overwhelmingly affect one capital over the others, single categorization was prioritized. What qualifies as equal impact is definitely a highly subjective decision, so I discourage anybody from deriving far-reaching conclusions based on my categorization.

The importance of this subjectivity is somewhat lessened by the fact that the drought adaptation strategies were also categorized by me. Since these categories were only used to be able to compare the two datasets, I believe that my subjectivity has not distorted the work's overall outcome. Even more so, because the description of the results went beyond the categories and expounded on how individual impacts affect individual adaptation strategies.

Lastly, it needs to be mentioned that originally I planned to have a temporal dimension of the data categorization too, as well as supplement the CCF with the community wellbeing framework. These were excluded from the research, due to the realization that they only overcomplicate the synthesis without providing additional insights to the results.

5.3 Further Research

The above-described limitations highlight the need for further research. With primary data collections from the field, the relationship between conservation projects and drought adaptation strategies outlined in this research can be tested and if necessary improved. Moreover, due to the growing urgency to understand what and how contributes to effective climate change adaptation, similar researches but with a differing geographical scope or climate threat in focus could deepen our academic understanding.

In addition, the thesis proved the importance of local power and fair benefit distribution, so researches aiming to assess how different power- and benefit distribution systems affect the success of drought adaptation strategies (for instance through the reduction of social conflicts) are needed in order to adequately implement the policy recommendations, outlined in *Chapter 6.2*.

5.4 Reliability and Validity of the Data

From epistemological understanding, working with secondary sources means that the data does not represent the reality but an interpretation of it. Thus, rather than showing the actual adaptation strategies and impacts, the data I worked with only shows what the particular researchers found, which in turn depends on – amongst many other things – what they were looking for. This means, that some "hottopic" impacts could be overrepresented, while others might be relatively neglected compared to how important actual locals would find them. This also stands for the geographic distribution of the impacts, with some areas getting more academic spotlight than others. In addition what mainstream climate change discourse takes into account as worthful climate events, do not in hundred percent match with what local communities experience as a disturbance (Olsson et al., 2014), thus not only the conservation projects' impacts but also the drought adaptation strategies are accessed solely through other researchers' lenses.

Another crucial point is the maps' interpretation. Mapping impacts attributed to locations with vastly different sizes (ranging from little villages to TBNRMAs, greater than some countries of the region) is a tricky task. Originally it was planned to use polygons and summarize those impacts that fall under the territory of that polygon. This would have posed some stern dilemmas on how, and where to draw the borders of some of these polygons, while simultaneously result in significant information losses. Therefore, the idea of polygons was retired, and the data was mapped as a point layer. This is obviously not a flawless solution, but I believe it is nevertheless a better one. Thus, when interpreting the maps, one should not assume the same levels of importance and sizes behind all datapoints. For instance, some of these points refer to little villages of the Okavango Delta, while there is also one that refers to the entire Okavango Delta region (positioned in the center of the region), and although they look the same on the map, their scopes differ vastly. In sum, these maps only allow us to get some general understandings of the data's spatial distribution and are not meant to derive conclusions for the individual locations featured on them.

Similar warnings can be said about the work's results. They do not mirror exact and direct impacts of certain conservation projects on certain adaptation strategies. Rather, they should be interpreted as general conservation projects' impacts on the drought adaptation strategies in the context of southern Africa. By doing so, these results can add value to the understanding of the relationship between drought adaptation strategies and conservation projects' impacts while also providing useful recommendations for policy makers.

6 Conclusion

6.1 Theoretical Implications

The results of this thesis contribute to the academic understanding of the relationship between drought adaptation strategies and conservation projects. By bridging these two, related but so far unconnected concepts, the academic community can benefit from a new theory about the potential impacts of conservation projects on drought adaptation strategies.

Besides this theoretical contribution, current research also reflects on the trade-offs of sustainability. Understanding how different goals of sustainability interact with each other is a growing field in the academia with various examples of trade-off cases currently being explored from all over the world (Mainali et al., 2018). Potential trade-offs are multiple, but broadly speaking it can be recognized that most of them mirror the divide of environmental protection versus socio-economic development (Machingura & Lally, 2017; Hutton et al., 2018; Scherer et al., 2018). According to Kroll et al. (2019) trade-offs are especially prevalent in relation to SDG 13 (Climate action), while Singh et al. (2018) highlights the other aspect of this thesis: conservation. Thus, current research advances this global discussion on addressing trade-offs by employing a meta-synthesis, visualizing multi-dimensional livelihood impacts, and outlining how conservation projects can address drought adaptation strategies.

As the results showed, conservation projects' impacts are not black and white and there is place for development. From a system's perspective (where the system is the local community), both conservation projects and droughts may be regarded as disturbances. However, opposed to a natural system, social systems are capable of bouncing forward: instead of returning to the original pre-disturbance state, the system can improve (Kais & Islam, 2016). This – and the fact that the above-introduced trade-offs can not only be mitigated or avoided but even turned into synergies (Kroll et al., 2019) – means that conservation projects should not solely be seen as disturbances, but also as opportunities of reducing drought stress. If this opportunity is matched with good management and governance the conservation projects' impacts can be channeled to enhance local drought adaptation. In the followings, I outline how.

6.2 Implications for Policy makers

The five themes introduced in *Chapter 5.1* are general conservation characteristics, inherently present at more or less every conservation project of the study area. *Table 6* illustrates how each of them contributes to the way the conservation project can address local drought adaptation, so based on these results their optimization can be explored. To do so, we need measures that strengthen those conservation characteristics with positive impacts - and weaken those with negative ones - on the drought adaptation strategies. In the following, such measures are explored.

Most negative impacts are connected to the conservation characteristics of reduced local power and disturbed social networks, so measures strengthening both political and social capitals need to be targeted primarily. Such measures are the increase of local resource rights and the distribution of the benefits in a way that pleases the most people possible. While strengthening the political capital by increasing democratic participation they also positively affect the social capital, because both resource rights and unfair benefit distribution are common reasons behind social conflicts. However, it is worth noting that local resource rights may only be increased to the point that does not impede conservation efforts – it would otherwise lessen the conservation projects' characteristic of increasing natural resource availability and undermine its positive effect on the drought adaptation.

Next, it is imperative to acknowledge the conservation projects' role in the livelihood transition. This theme has both positive and negative impacts, implying that if the transition is carefully planned and safeguarded, its overall impact may be steered in a way that enhances drought adaptation. For instance, it is generally welcomed to advocate livelihoods that are less dependent on natural resources, (especially so because it also contributes to the increasing natural resource availability) but the possibility of remaining in the traditional livelihood needs to be kept open without any future uncertainties surrounding it. Successful livelihood transition also needs to avoid marginalizing the vulnerable members of the community and instead aim to reduce inequalities by providing employment opportunities to them. In addition, the local culture has to be actively protected from the threats of this transition. On a positive note, livelihood transition strengthens financial capital.

The strengthened financial capital increases the community's responsibility in their effective utilization. Financial capital needs to be increasingly channeled into uses that reduce future drought vulnerability by reducing the losses, replacing the losses, strengthening adaptation systems, increasing water access, or ideally with the balanced combination of all of these.

Probably the most important suggestion is to avoid displacement. However, in the case a displacement must happen, ensure that the move reduces the drought exposure, the livelihood change reduces the drought sensitivity, and that – besides receiving equitable compensation - the displaced people are able to quickly recover and rebuild all their capitals.

Five suggestions for policy makers

Transfer as much of the rights and power to the local level that is possible without compromising the conservation efforts

Increase democratic participation and work out a benefit distribution system, that pleases the most people possible

Manage and safeguard the conservation-induced livelihood transition in a way that reduces resource dependence, increases equality, maintains culture, and avoids uncertainties

Channel financial capital into uses that reduce future drought vulnerability

Avoid displacement

However, I have to stress that these recommendations are solely built on this work, while the complexity of the conservation management exceeds far beyond its scope. This means, that the suggestions outlined above by no means guarantee the improved adaptation to other climate threats. They need to be understood within the scope of this research and implemented with the consideration and integration of other recommendations.

Doing so can lead to a win-win situation. By simultaneously targeting local development, conservation objectives, and the reductions of climate risks, these conservation projects can become attractive for policy makers, donors, and local communities even in developing countries (Abramovitz et al., 2001). As a concluding remark, I should cite the IPCC's summary for policy makers and stress the need for "[p]olicies that lessen pressures on resources, improve management of environmental risks, and increase the welfare of the poorest members of society [and thus] simultaneously advance sustainable development and equity, enhance adaptive capacity, and reduce vulnerability to climate and other stresses." (WG II Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability – Summary for Policy Makers, 2020).

^{7.} Table: Five suggestions for policy makers

References

Abramovitz, J., Banuri, T., Girot, P. O., Orlando, B., Schneider, N., Spanger-Siegfried, E., ... & Hammill, A. (2001). *Adapting to climate change: Natural resource management and vulnerability reduction*. The International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD).

Acquah, B. K. (2008). The Impact of Drought on Household Food Security in the Limpopo Basin of Semi Arid Southern Africa: The Case of Kgatleng District in Botswana (No. 307-2016-4889).

Adger, W. N. (1999). Social vulnerability to climate change and extremes in coastal Vietnam. *World development*, 27(2), 249-269.

Adger, W. N., & Kelly, P. M. (1999). Social vulnerability to climate change and the architecture of entitlements. *Mitigation and adaptation strategies for global change*, 4(3-4), 253-266.

Adger, V. N. (2003). Social Capital, Collective Action, and Adaptation to Climate Change. *Economic Geography*, 79(4).

Aronson, J., Clewell, A. F., Blignaut, J. N., & Milton, S. J. (2006). Ecological restoration: A new frontier for nature conservation and economics. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, *14*(3-4), 135-139.

Ashley, C. (2000a). *The impacts of tourism on rural livelihoods: Namibia's experience*. London: Overseas Development Institute.

Ashley, C. (2000b). *Applying livelihood approaches to natural resource management initiatives: experiences in Namibia and Kenya*. London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

Ashley, C., & Barnes, J. I. (1996). *Wildlife use for economic gain: The potential for wildlife to contribute to development in Namibia* (No. 12). Windhoek, Namibia: Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism.

Ashley, C., & Wolmer, W. (2003). *Transforming or tinkering?: new forms of engagement between communities and the private sector in tourism and forestry in southern Africa*. Sustainable Livelihoods in Southern Africa Programme, University of Sussex.

Attwell, C. A. M., & Cotterill, F. P. D. (2000). Postmodernism and African conservation science. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 9(5), 559-577.

Bailey, K. M., McCleery, R. A., & Barnes, G. (2019). The role of capital in drought adaptation among rural communities in Eswatini. *Ecology and Society*, 24(3).

Balaguer, J., & Cantavella-Jorda, M. (2002). Tourism as a long-run economic growth factor: the Spanish case. *Applied economics*, *34*(7), 877-884.

Bandyopadhyay, S., Guzman, J. C., & Lendelvo, S. (2008). Communal Conservancies and Household Gain in Namibia. *World Bank Report, World Bank, Washington, DC, USA*.

Barrow, E., & Murphree, M. (2001). Community conservation: from concept to practice. *African wildlife and livelihoods: The promise and performance of community conservation*, 24-37.

Beal, M. L. (2019). Benefits Of Community-Based Conservation In Namibia: Lessons From A Dynamic Model.

Bhandari, P. B. (2013). Rural livelihood change? Household capital, community resources and livelihood transition. *Journal of rural studies*, *32*, 126-136.

Boggs, L. P. (2000). *Community power, participation, conflict and development choice: Community wildlife conservation in the Okavango region of Northern Botswana*. London: International Institute for Environment and Development.

Borras, S. M., Franco, J. C., Park, C. M. Y., Barbesgaard, M., Sekine, Y., Myint, Y. L., & Zin, T. (2018). The Twin Challenge of Agrarian and Climate Justice: Connections and Contradictions Between Climate Change Mitigation Politics, Land Grabbing and Conflict in Myanmar.

Boudreaux, K. (2007). Community-Based Natural Resource Management and Poverty Alleviation in Namibia: A Case Study. *Mercatus Policy Series*, Policy Comment, (10).

Brida, A. B., Owiyo, T., & Sokona, Y. (2013). Loss and damage from the double blow of flood and drought in Mozambique. *International Journal of Global Warming*, *5*(4), 514-531.

Britten, N., Campbell, R., Pope, C., Donovan, J., Morgan, M., & Pill, R. (2002). Using meta ethnography to synthesise qualitative research: a worked example. *Journal of health services research & policy*, 7(4), 209-215.

Bruna, N. (2019). Land of Plenty, Land of Misery: Synergetic Resource Grabbing in Mozambique. Land, 8(8), 113.

Butler, J. R. (2000). The economic costs of wildlife predation on livestock in Gokwe communal land, Zimbabwe. *African journal of Ecology*, *38*(1), 23-30.

Carrão, H., Naumann, G., & Barbosa, P. (2016). Mapping global patterns of drought risk: An empirical framework based on sub-national estimates of hazard, exposure and vulnerability. *Global Environmental Change*, *39*, 108-124.

Cernea, M. M. (2000). Risks, safeguards and reconstruction: A model for population displacement and resettlement. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 3659-3678.

Chigonda, T. (2014). *Biodiversity conservation and rural livelihoods: a comparative study of selected conservation approaches in Zimbabwe* (Doctoral dissertation).

Child, B. (1996). CAMPFIRE in Zimbabwe. Assessing the Sustainability of Uses of Wild Species. IUCN/SSC Occasional Paper, 12, 59-78.

Claudio, F. (2008). The CAMPFIRE Scheme in Zimbabwe during the 1990s: Local Responses to Community Conservation.

Coad, L., Campbell, A., Miles, L., & Humphries, K. (2008). The costs and benefits of protected areas for local livelihoods: a review of the current literature. *UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre, Cambridge, UK*.

Cock, J., & Fig, D. (2000). From colonial to community based conservation: environmental justice and the national parks of South Africa. *Society in transition*, *31*(1), 22-35.

Convention on Biological Diversity. (2010). Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and the Aichi Targets, Retrieved from: <u>https://www.cbd.int/doc/strategic-plan/2011-2020/Aichi-Targets-EN.pdf</u>

Cutter, S. L. (1996). Vulnerability to environmental hazards. *Progress in human geography*, 20(4), 529-539.

Cutter, S. L., Boruff, B. J., & Shirley, W. L. (2003). Social vulnerability to environmental hazards. *Social science quarterly*, 84(2), 242-261.

Daimon, A. (2016). Commuter migration across artificial frontiers: The case of partitioned communities along the Zimbabwe-Mozambique border. *Journal of Borderlands Studies*, *31*(4), 463-479.

Darkoh, M. B., & Mbaiwa, J. E. (2009). Land-use and resource conflicts in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *African Journal of Ecology*, 47, 161-165.

Denton, F., T.J.Wilbanks, A.C. Abeysinghe, I. Burton, Q. Gao, M.C. Lemos, T. Masui, K.L. O'Brien, & K.Warner (2014). Climate-resilient pathways: adaptation, mitigation, and sustainable development. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L.White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1101-1131.

Dougill, A. J., Fraser, E. D., & Reed, M. S. (2010). Anticipating vulnerability to climate change in dryland pastoral systems: using dynamic systems models for the Kalahari. *Ecology and Society*, *15*(2).

Dritsakis, N. (2004). Tourism as a long-run economic growth factor: an empirical investigation for Greece using causality analysis. *Tourism economics*, *10*(3), 305-316.

Dube, N. (2019). Voices from the village on trophy hunting in Hwange district, Zimbabwe. *Ecological Economics*, 159, 335-343.

Duffy, L. N., Kline, C., Swanson, J. R., Best, M., & McKinnon, H. (2017). Community development through agroecotourism in Cuba: an application of the community capitals framework. *Journal of Ecotourism*, *16*(3), 203-221.

Durbin, J. C., & Ralambo, J. A. (1994). The role of local people in the successful maintenance of protected areas in Madagascar. *Environmental conservation*, 21(2), 115-120.

Ellis, F. (2000). Rural livelihoods and diversity in developing countries. Oxford university press.

Ellis, F., & Allison, E. (2004). Livelihood diversification and natural resource access. *Overseas Development Group, University of East Anglia*.

Emery, M., & Flora, C. (2006). Spiraling-up: Mapping community transformation with community capitals framework. *Community development*, *37*(1), 19-35.

Fauchereau, N., Trzaska, S., Rouault, M., & Richard, Y. (2003). Rainfall variability and changes in southern Africa during the 20th century in the global warming context. *Natural hazards*, 29(2), 139-154.

Fairhead, J., Leach, M., & Scoones, I. (2012). Green grabbing: a new appropriation of nature?. *Journal of peasant studies*, 39(2), 237-261.

FAO (n.d.a) Drought Risk Management. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Retrieved from: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4586e.pdf

FAO (n.d.b) Drought. FAO Land & Water. Retrieved from: http://www.fao.org/3/aq191e/aq191e.pdf

FAO. 2019. Proactive approaches to drought preparedness – Where are we now and where do we go from here? Rome.

Franco, J. C., & Borras Jr, S. M. (2019). Grey areas in green grabbing: Subtle and indirect interconnections between climate change politics and land grabs and their implications for research. *Land Use Policy*, *84*, 192-199.

Frank, L., Hemson, G., Kushnir, H., Packer, C., & Maclennan, S. D. (2008). Lions, conflict and conservation. *Management and conservation of large carnivores in west and central Africa*, 81-98.

Gandiwa, E., Gandiwa, P., & Muboko, N. (2012). Living with wildlife and associated conflicts in a contested area within the Northern Gonarezhou National Park, Zimbabwe. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa*, 14(6), 252-260.

Ghai, D. P., & Ghai, D. P. (1992). *Conservation, livelihood and democracy: social dynamics of environmental changes in Africa* (Vol. 33). United Nations Research Institute for Social Development.

Gutierrez-Montes, I., Emery, M., & Fernandez-Baca, E. (2009). The sustainable livelihoods approach and the community capitals framework: The importance of system-level approaches to community change efforts. *Community Development*, 40(2), 106-113.

Hackel, J. D. (1999). Community conservation and the future of Africa's wildlife. *Conservation biology*, *13*(4), 726-734.

Harrison, P. A. (2006). The role of tourism in natural resource management in the Okavango Delta, Botswana.

Hänke, H., & Barkmann, J. (2017). Insurance function of livestock, Farmers coping capacity with crop failure in southwestern Madagascar. *World Development*, *96*, 264-275.

Hoole, A. F. (2008). Community-based conservation and protected areas in Namibia: social-ecological linkages for biodiversity.

Hughes, D. M. (2001). Rezoned for Business: How Eco-Tourism Unlocked Black Farmland in Eastern Zimbabwe. *Journal of Agrarian Change*, 1(4), 576-599.

Hughes, R., & Flintan, F. (2001). *Integrating conservation and development experience: a review and bibliography of the ICDP literature*. London: International Institute for Environment and Development.

Hutton, C. W., Nicholls, R. J., Lázár, A. N., Chapman, A., Schaafsma, M., & Salehin, M. (2018). Potential trade-offs between the sustainable development goals in coastal Bangladesh. *Sustainability*, *10*(4), 1108.

Hutton, J., Adams, W. M., & Murombedzi, J. C. (2005, December). Back to the barriers? Changing narratives in biodiversity conservation. In *Forum for development studies* (Vol. 32, No. 2, pp. 341-370). Taylor & Francis Group.

Jacobs, C. (2007). Measuring success in communities: Understanding the community capitals framework. *Extension Extra. SDSU (South Dakota State University Cooperative Extension Service)(Series 1-6).*

Jänis, J. (2011). The Tourism-development Nexus in Namibia: A Study on National Tourism Policy and Local Tourism Enterprises' Policy Knowledge.

Jones, B. T. (1999). Community-based natural resource management in Botswana and Namibia: An inventory and preliminary analysis of progress. IIED.

Jones, B. (2004a). Synthesis of the current status of CBNRM policy and legislation in Botswana, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Zambia and Zimbabwe. Harare: WWF Southern African Regional Programme Office.

Jones, B. T. (2004b). CBNRM, poverty reduction and sustainable livelihoods: Developing criteria for evaluating the contribution of CBNRM to poverty reduction and alleviation in southern Africa.

Jones, M. L. (2004). Application of systematic review methods to qualitative research: practical issues. *Journal of advanced nursing*, *48*(3), 271-278.

Jones, B. T. (2009). Community benefits from safari hunting and related activities in southern Africa. *Recreational hunting, conservation and rural livelihoods: science and practice*, 158-177.

Jones, J. L. (2005). Transboundary conservation: development implications for communities in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *The International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology*, *12*(3), 266-278.

Jones, P. G., & Thornton, P. K. (2009). Croppers to livestock keepers: livelihood transitions to 2050 in Africa due to climate change. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *12*(4), 427-437.

Kais, S. M., & Islam, M. S. (2016). Community capitals as community resilience to climate change: conceptual connections. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 13(12), 1211.

Kamara, J. K., Akombi, B. J., Agho, K., & Renzaho, A. (2018). Resilience to climate-induced disasters and its overall relationship to well-being in southern Africa: a mixed-methods systematic review. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *15*(11), 2375.

Katanha, A., & Chigunwe, G. (2014). Climate Change adaptation challenges in Semi arid regions of Dande Valley in Zimbabwe. *International Journal of Science and Research*, *3*(7), 633-640.

Katerere, Y., Hill, R., & Moyo, S. (2001). A critique of transboundary natural resource management in Southern Africa. Harare, Zimbabwe: IUCN, Regional Office for Southern Africa.

King, B. (2010). Conservation geographies in Sub-Saharan Africa: The politics of national parks, community conservation and peace parks. *Geography Compass*, 4(1), 14-27.

Kolawole, O. D., Motsholapheko, M. R., Ngwenya, B. N., Thakadu, O., Mmopelwa, G., & Kgathi, D. L. (2016). Climate variability and rural livelihoods: How households perceive and adapt to climatic shocks in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *Weather, Climate, and Society*, 8(2), 131-145.

Koot, S., & Van Beek, W. (2017). Ju/'hoansi lodging in a Namibian conservancy: CBNRM, tourism and increasing domination. *Conservation and Society*, *15*(2), 136-146.

Krantz, L. (2001). The sustainable livelihood approach to poverty reduction. SIDA. Division for Policy and Socio-Economic Analysis, 44.

Kroll, C., Warchold, A., & Pradhan, P. (2019). Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): Are we successful in turning trade-offs into synergies?. *Palgrave Communications*, *5*(1), 1-11.

Kronenburg Garcia, A., Wijnhoud D., Otsuki, K., Achá, D. (2016). The case of Massingir District. Wildlife Conservation, Tourism and Sugarcane Plantations. *Policy Brief 2*, November, 2016

Krug, W. (2001, January). Private supply of protected land in southern Africa: a review of markets, approaches, barriers and issues. In *Workshop Paper, World Bank/OECD International Workshop on Market Creation for Biodiversity Products and Services, Paris* (Vol. 25).

Laukkonen, J., Blanco, P. K., Lenhart, J., Keiner, M., Cavric, B., & Kinuthia-Njenga, C. (2009). Combining climate change adaptation and mitigation measures at the local level. *Habitat international*, *33*(3), 287-292.

Lendelvo, S., Munyebvu, F., & Suich, H. (2012). Linking women's participation and benefits within the Namibian community based natural resource management program.

Letsoalo, J. M. (2019). A sustainable livelihood framework for community-based tourism: a case of the African Ivory Route in Limpopo Province (Doctoral dissertation).

Lindsey, P. A., Masterson, C. L., Beck, A. L., & Romañach, S. (2012). Ecological, social and financial issues related to fencing as a conservation tool in Africa. In *Fencing for conservation* (pp. 215-234). Springer, New York, NY.

Machingura, F., & Lally, S. (2017). The Sustainable Development Goals and their trade-offs. *London: ODI*.

Magole, L. I., & Magole, L. (2011). From Community Based to Community Driven; The evolution of the Commons Management in the Okavango Delta, Botswana.

Mainali, B., Luukkanen, J., Silveira, S., & Kaivo-oja, J. (2018). Evaluating synergies and tradeoffs among Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): Explorative analyses of development paths in South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa. *Sustainability*, *10*(3), 815.

Makochekanwa, A. (2013). An analysis of tourism contribution to economic growth in SADC countries. *Botswana Journal of economics*, *11*(15).

Manyena, S. B., Collins, A. E., Mudimba, F., & Mudimba, D. (2013, March). 'Are you serious to ask me about who owns wildlife?'Politics of autonomy over wildlife resources in the Zambezi Valley, Zimbabwe. In *Forum for Development Studies* (Vol. 40, No. 1, pp. 87-109). Routledge.

Marin, D. (1992). Is the export-led growth hypothesis valid for industrialized countries?. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 678-688.

Masike, S., & Urich, P. (2008). Vulnerability of traditional beef sector to drought and the challenges of climate change: the case of Kgatleng District, Botswana.

Matlou, R. C. (2019). *Resilience of households to agricultural drought in the Northern Cape, South Africa* (Doctoral dissertation, University of the Free State).

Mattos, D. (2015). Community Capitals Framework As a measure of community development.

Maughan Brown, A. M. (1998). *Revisiting community based natural resource management: a case study of the Tchuma Tchato project in Tete Province, Mozambique* (Doctoral dissertation).

Mavhura, E., Manatsa, D., & Mushore, T. (2015). Adaptation to drought in arid and semi-arid environments: Case of the Zambezi Valley, Zimbabwe. *Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies*, 7(1).

Mayberry, A. (2015). *Human dimensions of human-elephant conflict in Botswana: Exploring visible and hidden well-being impacts* (Doctoral dissertation).

Mbaiwa, J. (2011). The effects of tourism development on the sustainable utilisation of natural resources in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 14(3), 251-273.

Mbaiwa, J. E. (2003). The socio-economic and environmental impacts of tourism development on the Okavango Delta, north-western Botswana. *Journal of arid environments*, *54*(2), 447-467.

Mbaiwa, J. E. (2005a). Wildlife resource utilisation at Moremi Game Reserve and Khwai community area in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *Journal of environmental management*, 77(2), 144-156.

Mbaiwa, J. E. (2005b). Enclave tourism and its socio-economic impacts in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *Tourism management*, 26(2), 157-172.

Mbaiwa, J. E. (2008). *Tourism development, rural livelihoods, and conservation in the Okavango Delta, Botswana*. Texas A&M University.

Mbaiwa, J. E., & Stronza, A. L. (2010). The effects of tourism development on rural livelihoods in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *Journal of sustainable tourism*, *18*(5), 635-656.

Meade, M. O., & Richardson, W. S. (1997). Selecting and appraising studies for a systematic review. *Annals of internal medicine*, *127*(7), 531-537.

Mearns, K. (2015). Applying sustainable tourism indicators to community-based ecotourism ventures in southern Africa. *Athens Journal of Tourism*, 2(3), 179-194.

Mfune, O. (2012). From fortresses to sustainable development: the changing face of environmental conservation in Africa, the case of Zambia (Doctoral dissertation, University of Glasgow).

Middleton, N. J., & Thomas, D. S. G. (1992). World Atlas of Desertification: United Nations Environmental Programme. Arnold.

Milgroom, J., & Giller, K. E. (2013). Courting the rain: rethinking seasonality and adaptation to recurrent drought in semi-arid southern Africa. *Agricultural Systems*, *118*, 91-104.

Mogotsi, K., Nyangito, M. M., & Nyariki, D. M. (2011). The perfect drought? Constraints limiting Kalahari agro-pastoral communities from coping and adapting. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 5(3), 168-177.

Moore, L. E. (2010). Conservation heroes versus environmental villains: perceiving elephants in Caprivi, Namibia. *Human Ecology*, 38(1), 19-29.

Moswete, N., & Thapa, B. (2015). Factors that influence support for community-based ecotourism in the rural communities adjacent to the Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park, *Botswana. Journal of Ecotourism*, 14(2-3), 243-263.

Motsholapheko, M. R., Vanderpost, C., & Kgathi, D. L. (2012). Rural livelihoods and household adaptation to desiccation in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *Journal of Water and Climate Change*, *3*(4), 300-316.

Mpandeli, S., Nesamvuni, E., & Maponya, P. (2015). Adapting to the impacts of drought by smallholder farmers in Sekhukhune District in Limpopo Province, South Africa. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, *7*(2), 115.

Mufudza, P. (2016). Impact of income generating projects on the rural livelihoods: the case of Mwenezi Fish Conservation Project, Zimbabwe (Doctoral dissertation, University of Limpopo).

Mulonga, S., & Murphy, C. A. (2003). *Spending the money: The experience of conservancy benefit distribution in Namibia up to mid-2003* (No. 63). Windhoek, Namibia: Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism.

Murphy, C. (2003). *Community tourism in Kunene: A review of five case studies for the WILD Project* (No. 64). Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism. Murphy, C. A., & Suich, H. (2003). *Mashi Craft Market--crafts and Livelihoods in Caprivi* (No. 57). Windhoek: Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism.

Mutandwa, E., & Gadzirayi, C. T. (2007). Impact of community-based approaches to wildlife management: case study of the CAMPFIRE programme in Zimbabwe. *The International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology*, *14*(4), 336-344.

Mutekwa, V. T. (2009). Climate change impacts and adaptation in the agricultural sector: The case of smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa*, 11(2), 237-256.

Naidoo, R., Weaver, L. C., Diggle, R. W., Matongo, G., Stuart-Hill, G., & Thouless, C. (2016). Complementary benefits of tourism and hunting to communal conservancies in Namibia. *Conservation Biology*, *30*(3), 628-638.

Nangombe, S. S. (2015, August). Drought conditions and management strategies in Zimbabwe. In *Proceedings of the regional workshops on capacity development to support national drought management policies for eastern and southern Africa and the near east and north Africa Regions* (pp. 84-89).

New, M. (2015). Are semi-arid regions climate change hot-spots? Evidence from Southern Africa. ACDI. Retrieved from: http://www.acdi.uct.ac.za/acdi/blog/are-semi-arid-regions-climate-change-hot-spots-evidence-southern-africa

Newsham, A., & Thomas, D. (2009). Agricultural adaptation, local knowledge and livelihoods diversification in North-Central Namibia. *Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research Working Paper*, 140.

Newsham, A. J., & Thomas, D. S. (2011). Knowing, farming and climate change adaptation in North-Central Namibia. *Global Environmental Change*, *21*(2), 761-770.

Ngwenya, B. N., & Kgathi, D. L. (2005). Community based natural resource management and social sustainability in Ngamiland, Botswana.

Nhemachena, C., Mano, R., Mudombi, S., & Muwanigwa, V. (2014). Climate change adaptation for rural communities dependent on agriculture and tourism in marginal farming areas of the Hwange District, Zimbabwe. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, *9*(26), 2045-2054.

Niang, I., O.C. Ruppel, M.A. Abdrabo, A. Essel, C. Lennard, J. Padgham & P. Urquhart, (2014). Africa. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Barros, V.R., C.B. Field, D.J. Dokken, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L.White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1199-1265.

Nielsen, O. J., Bandeira, R., Helles, F., Kamelarczyk, K., Macucule, A., Mlay, G., ... & Taquidir, M. A. (2006). Forests and Livelihoods in Mozambique. A Literature Review and Annotated Bibliography. University Eduardo Mondlane and Danish Centre for Forest Landscapes and Planning, Maputo and Copenhagen.

Norman, W. O. (2005). *Living on the Frontline: Politics, Migration and Transfrontier Conservation in the Mozambican Villages of the Mozambique-South Africa Borderland*. London School of Economics and Political Science (United Kingdom).

O'Connor, A. (2018). Strengthening conservation through localized definitions of wellbeing: understanding what is meant by'A Good Life'in Namibia's Zambezi Region (Doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia).

O'Farrell, P. J., Anderson, P. M. L., Milton, S. J., & Dean, W. R. J. (2009). Human response and adaptation to drought in the arid zone: lessons from southern Africa. *South African Journal of Science*, *105*(1-2), 34-39.

Oldekop, J. A., Holmes, G., Harris, W. E., & Evans, K. L. (2016). A global assessment of the social and conservation outcomes of protected areas. *Conservation Biology*, *30*(1), 133-141.

Olsson, L., M. Opondo, P. Tschakert, A. Agrawal, S.H. Eriksen, S. Ma, L.N. Perch & S.A. Zakieldeen (2014). Livelihoods and poverty. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L.White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 793-832.

Oviedo, G., Van Griethuysen, P., & Larsen, P. B. (2006). *Poverty, equity and rights in conservation: technical paper and case studies*. Graduate Institute of Development Studies.

Pelema, R. D. (2018). An investigation into farmers' gendered coping and adaptation startegies to droughts in Olukonda consituency, Oshikoto region in Namibia (Doctoral dissertation, University of Namibia).

Porter, J.R., L. Xie, A.J. Challinor, K. Cochrane, S.M. Howden, M.M. Iqbal, D.B. Lobell & M.I. Travasso (2014). Food security and food production systems. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L.White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 485-533.

Rakgase, M., & Norris, D. (2014). Factors that influence choice of drought coping strategies in limpopo province, South Africa. *Journal of Human Ecology*, 47(2), 111-116.

Rihoy, L., Chirozva, C., & Anstey, S. (2010). People are not happy: crisis adaptation and resilience in Zimbabwe's CAMPFIRE programme. *Community Rights, Conservation and contested Land: the Politics of Natural Resource Governance in Africa.*

Roe, D., Grieg-Gran, M., & Schalken, W. (2001). *GETTING THE LION'S SHARE FROM TOURISM: PRIVATE SECTOR-COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS IN NAMIBIA Volume*. International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED).

Saayman, M., Rossouw, R., & Saayman, A. (2012). Does conservation make sense to local communities?. *Development Southern Africa*, 29(4), 588-609.

Salafsky, N., & Wollenberg, E. (2000). Linking livelihoods and conservation: a conceptual framework and scale for assessing the integration of human needs and biodiversity. *World development*, 28(8), 1421-1438.

Scherer, L., Behrens, P., de Koning, A., Heijungs, R., Sprecher, B., & Tukker, A. (2018). Tradeoffs between social and environmental Sustainable Development Goals. *Environmental science & policy*, 90, 65-72.
Schulze, R., Meigh, J., & Horan, M. (2001). Present and potential future vulnerability of eastern and southern Africa's hydrology and water resources: START Regional Syntheses. *South African Journal of Science*, *97*(3-4), 150-160.

Scimago Journal & Country Rank. (2020). Retrieved 12 June 2020, from <u>https://www.scimagojr.com/</u>

Sebele, L. S. (2010). Community-based tourism ventures, benefits and challenges: Khama rhino sanctuary trust, central district, Botswana. *Tourism management*, *31*(1), 136-146.

Serrat, O. (2017). The sustainable livelihoods approach. In *Knowledge solutions* (pp. 21-26). Springer, Singapore.

Shackleton, S., & Campbell, B. (Eds.). (2000). *Empowering communities to manage natural resources: case studies from Southern Africa* (p. 200). SADC Natural Resources Management Programme.

Simelane, T. S., Kerley, G. I. H., & Knight, M. H. (2006). Reflections on the relationships between communities and conservation areas of South Africa: The case of five South African national parks. *Koedoe*, *49*(2), 85-102.

Sims-Castley, R., Kerley, G. I., Geach, B., & Langholz, J. (2005). Socio-economic significance of ecotourism-based private game reserves in South Africa's Eastern Cape Province. *Parks*, 15(2), 6-18.

Singh, G. G., Cisneros-Montemayor, A. M., Swartz, W., Cheung, W., Guy, J. A., Kenny, T. A., ... & Sumaila, R. (2018). A rapid assessment of co-benefits and trade-offs among Sustainable Development Goals. *Marine Policy*, *93*, 223-231.

Sinthumule, N. I. (2017). Unfulfilled promises: An exposition of conservation in the Greater Mapungubwe Transfrontier. *Africa Today*, 64(1), 55-73.

Sinthumule, N. I. (2018). Conservation, Displacement and Social Injustice at the South African Section of Greater Mapungubwe Transfrontier. *Development and Society*, 47(2), 261-284.

Sinthumule, N. I. (2020). Borders and border people in the Greater Mapungubwe Transfrontier. *Landscape Research*, 45(3), 280-291.

Snyman, S. L. (2012a). The role of tourism employment in poverty reduction and community perceptions of conservation and tourism in southern Africa. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 20(3), 395-416.

Snyman, S. (2012b). Ecotourism joint ventures between the private sector and communities: An updated analysis of the Torra Conservancy and Damaraland Camp partnership, Namibia. Tourism Management Perspectives, 4, 127-135.

Snyman, S. (2014). Partnership between a private sector ecotourism operator and a local community in the Okavango Delta, Botswana: The case of the Okavango Community Trust and Wilderness Safaris. *Journal of Ecotourism*, *13*(2-3), 110-127.

Soeftestad, L. (2020). Community-Based Natural Resource Management Network (CBNRM Net): Resources, Literature, Literature lists, Areas. Retrieved 13 September 2020, from https://www.cbnrm.net/library/documents/areas.html#southernafrica

Southern African Development Community (2018). Selected economic and social indicators.Retrieved29May2020,fromhttps://www.sadc.int/files/6215/6630/2592/SADC_Selected_Indicators_2018.pdf

Southern African Development Community (2020). Meteorology & Climate. Sadc.int. Retrieved 29 May 2020, from https://www.sadc.int/themes/meteorology-climate/

Spear, D. D., Haimbili, E., Baudoin, M. A. D., Hegga, S. D., Zaroug, M. D., Okeyo, A., & Angula, M. (2018). Vulnerability and adaptation to climate change in semi-arid areas in Southern Africa.

Spenceley, A. (2003). *Tourism, local livelihoods and the private sector in South Africa: case studies on the growing role of the private sector in natural resources management.* IDS.

Spenceley, A., Dzingirai, P., & Tangawamira, Z. (2008). Economic impacts of transfrontier conservation areas: Tourism in the Greater Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area. A report to the IUCN Southern Africa Sustainable Use Specialist Group and the University of the Witwatersrand.

Spenceley, A. (2006). ECOTOURISM: Benefits for conservation and local people?. *AFRICAN* WILDLIFE-EPPINDUST-, 60(3), 16.

Spierenburg, M., Steenkamp, C., & Wels, H. (2006). Resistance of local communities against marginalization in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area. *Focaal*, 2006(47), 18-31.

Stern, N. H., Peters, S., Bakhshi, V., Bowen, A., Cameron, C., Catovsky, S., ... & Garbett, S. L. (2006). *Stern Review: The economics of climate change* (Vol. 30, p. 2006). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Stevens, J. (2018). Understanding human-elephant interactions in and around Makgadikgadi Pans National Park, Botswana (Doctoral dissertation, University of Bristol).

Stone, L. S., & Stone, T. M. (2011). Community-based tourism enterprises: challenges and prospects for community participation; Khama Rhino Sanctuary Trust, Botswana. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 19(1), 97-114.

Stone, M. T. (2013). *Protected areas, tourism and rural community livelihoods in Botswana*. Arizona State University.

Stone, M. T. (2015). Community empowerment through community-based tourism: the case of Chobe Enclave Conservation Trust in Botswana. In *Institutional arrangements for conservation, development and tourism in Eastern and Southern Africa* (pp. 81-100). Springer, Dordrecht.

Stone, M. T., & Nyaupane, G. P. (2018). Protected areas, wildlife-based community tourism and community livelihoods dynamics: spiraling up and down of community capitals. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 26(2), 307-324.

Strickland-Munro, J. K., Allison, H. E., & Moore, S. A. (2010). Using resilience concepts to investigate the impacts of protected area tourism on communities. *Annals of Tourism Research*, *37*(2), 499-519.

Stringer, L. C., Dyer, J. C., Reed, M. S., Dougill, A. J., Twyman, C., & Mkwambisi, D. (2009). Adaptations to climate change, drought and desertification: local insights to enhance policy in southern Africa. *Environmental science & policy*, *12*(7), 748-765.

Suich, H. (2010). The livelihood impacts of the Namibian community based natural resource management programme: a meta-synthesis. *Environmental Conservation*, 45-53.

Suich, H. (2013). Evaluating the household level outcomes of community based natural resource management: The Tchuma Tchato Project and Kwandu Conservancy. *Ecology and Society*, *18*(4).

Swatuk, L. A. (2005). Peace parks in southern Africa. In Draft paper presented at Environmental Change and Security Program Symposium: Parks for Peace or Peace for Parks.

Swemmer, L., Mmethi, H., & Twine, W. (2017). Tracing the cost/benefit pathway of protected areas: A case study of the Kruger National Park, South Africa. *Ecosystem services*, 28, 162-172.

Tavuyanago, B. (2016). Living on the fringes of a protected area: Gonarezhou National Park (GNP) and the indigenous communities of South East Zimbabwe 1934-2008 (Doctoral dissertation, University of Pretoria).

Thondhlana, G., Redpath, S. M., Vedeld, P. O., van Eden, L., Pascual, U., Sherren, K., & Murata, C. (2020). Non-material costs of wildlife conservation to local people and their implications for conservation interventions. *Biological Conservation*, *246*, 108578.

Tipps, D. C. (1973). Modernization theory and the comparative study of societies: A critical perspective. *Comparative studies in society and history*, *15*(2), 199-226.

Trainer, T. (2001). Development: conventional versus critical perspectives. *Humanomics*.

Tremblay, P. (2001). Wildlife tourism consumption: consumptive or non-consumptive?. *The International Journal of Tourism Research*, *3*(1), 81.

Unganai, L. S., & Murwira, A. (2010, August). Challenges and opportunities for climate change adaptation among smallholder farmers in southeast Zimbabwe. In 2nd International Conference: Climate, Sustainability and Development in Semi-arid Regions, Ceará Convention Center, Fortaleza (pp. 16-20).

UNEP-WCMC (2020). World Dryland Areas According To Unccd And Cbd Definitions. UNEP-WCMC's official website. Retrieved 29 May 2020, from <u>https://www.unep-wcmc.org/resources-and-data/world-dryland-areas-according-to-unccd-and-cbd-definitions</u>

Vincent, K., Cull, T., Chanika, D., Hamazakaza, P., Joubert, A., Macome, E., & Mutonhodza-Davies, C. (2013). Farmers' responses to climate variability and change in southern Africa–is it coping or adaptation?. *Climate and Development*, *5*(3), 194-205.

Von Maltitz, G. P., Scholes, R. J., Erasmus, B., & Letsoalo, A. (2006). Adapting conservation strategies to accommodate impacts of climate change in southern Africa. In *AIACC Working Paper* (Vol. 35, pp. 2-3).

WANG, Y. J., HUANG, J. K., & WANG, J. X. (2014). Household and community assets and farmers' adaptation to extreme weather event: the case of drought in China. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, *13*(4), 687-697.

West, P., Igoe, J., & Brockington, D. (2006). Parks and peoples: the social impact of protected areas. *Annu. Rev. Anthropol.*, *35*, 251-277.

Wilhite, D. A., & Glantz, M. H. (1985). Understanding: the drought phenomenon: the role of definitions. *Water international*, *10*(3), 111-120.

Whande, W. (2007). Community-based natural resource management in the southern Africa region: An annotated bibliography and general overview of literature, 1996–2004.

Whande, W. (2010). Windows of opportunity or exclusion? Local communities in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area, South Africa. *Community Rights, Conservation and Contested Land: The Politics of Natural Resource Governance in Africa*, 147-173.

WG II Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability - Summary for Policy Makers. (2020). Retrieved 4 October 2020, from <u>https://archive.ipcc.ch/ipccreports/tar/vol4/english/113.htm</u>

Wily, L., & Mbaya, S. (2001). Land, people, and forests in eastern and southern Africa at the beginning of the 21st century: the impact of land relations on the role of communities in forest future (No. 7). Iucn.

Witter, R. (2013). Elephant-induced displacement and the power of choice: moral narratives about resettlement in Mozambique's Limpopo National Park. *Conservation and Society*, 11(4), 406-419.

Ziobro, W. (2014). *Kavango-Zambezi Transfrontier Conservation Area and its influence on the communities in its Botswana borders* (Master's thesis, UiT Norges arktiske universitet).

Appendix

Papers included in the meta-synthesis

1	Adeleke, B. O., & Nzama, T. (2013). Assessment of community participation in ecotourism
	and conservation at Hhuhuwe-Umfolozi Park, South Africa. Journal of Environment and Earth
	Science.
2	Alcorn, J. B., & Royo, A. G. (2007). Conservation's Engagement with Human Rights: Traction,
	Slippage or Avoidance?. Policy matters, 15.
3	Alexander, J., & McGregor, J. (2000). Wildlife and politics: CAMPFIRE in
	Zimbabwe. Development and Change, 31(3), 605-627.
4	Anthony, B. (2007). The dual nature of parks: attitudes of neighbouring communities towards
	Kruger National Park, South Africa. Environmental Conservation, 236-245.
5	Anthony, B. P., & Swemmer, L. (2015). Co-defining program success: Identifying objectives
	and indicators for a livestock damage compensation scheme at Kruger National Park, South
	Africa. Journal for Nature Conservation, 26, 65-77.
6	Anthony, B. P., Scott, P., & Antypas, A. (2010). Sitting on the fence? Policies and practices in
	managing human-wildlife conflict in Limpopo Province, South Africa. Conservation and
-	Society, 8(3), 225-240.
/	Anthony, Brandon P. & Szabo, Alina. 2011. Protected Areas: Conservation Cornerstones or
	Paradoxes? Insights from Human-wildlife Conflicts in Africa and Southeastern Europe. In The
	Importance of Biological Interactions in the Study of Biodiversity. Lopez-Pujoi, J. (ed.), pp. 255–282. Dijeke, Croatie: InTech Publications
Q	Anthony Brandon P. Mmothi Halon & Anthony Páka 2018 Community fore as vahialas of
0	change? The Hlanganani Forum and Kruger National Park South Africa. In Principles of
	Environmental Policy: Local European and Global Perspectives Shkaruba A (ed) pp 279-
	340 Pskov Russia: Pskov State University
9	Arntzen, J. (2007). Community Based Natural Resources Management Projects: Balancing
-	Conservation and Development?. NRM and People in Botswana, 11.
10	Arntzen, J. W., Molokomme, D. L., Terry, E. M., Moleele, N., Tshosa, O., & Mazambani, D.
	(2003). Main Findings of the Review of CBNRM in Botswana. Occasional paper, (14).
11	Arthur, P., Binot, A., Le Bel, S., & de Garine-Wichatitsky, M. SHARING legal bush meat:
	case studies and lessons from Zimbabwe.
12	Ashley, C. (2000). Applying livelihood approaches to natural resource management
	initiatives: experiences in Namibia and Kenya. London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.
13	Ashley, C. (2000). The impacts of tourism on rural livelihoods: Namibia's experience. London:
	Overseas Development Institute.
14	Ashley, C., & Barnes, J. I. (1996). Wildlife use for economic gain: The potential for wildlife to
	contribute to development in Namibia (No. 12). Windhoek, Namibia: Directorate of
1.7	Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism.
15	Ashley, C., & Jones, B. (2001). Joint ventures between communities and tourism investors:
10	Experience in Southern Africa. International Journal of Tourism Research, 3(5), 40/-423.
16	Ashley, C., & Roe, D. (1998). Enhancing community involvement in wildlife tourism: issues
17	ana challenges (VOI. 11). IIED. Ashlay, C., & Wolmer, W. (2002). Transforming on tinhering?: new former of succession.
1/	Ashey, C., & Wollier, W. (2003). Transforming or unkering?: new forms of engagement
	Sustainable Livelihoods in Southern Africa Programme University of Sussay
18	Assessment E E & Assessment E E I Draft Safaguards Diagnostic Paviaw for South Africa
10	Development Empowerment and Conservation in the isimangalise Wetland Park and
	Surrounding Region
	Surrounding Region.

19	Aust, P., Boyle, B., Fergusson, R., & Coulson, T. (2009). The impact of Nile crocodiles on rural livelihoods in northeastern Namibia. <i>African Journal of Wildlife Research</i> , 39(1), 57-69.
20	Balint, P. J., & Mashinya, J. (2006). The decline of a model community-based conservation project: Governance, capacity, and devolution in Mahenye, Zimbabwe. <i>Geoforum</i> , <i>37</i> (5), 805-815.
21	Balint, P. J., & Mashinya, J. (2008). CAMPFIRE through the lens of the 'commons' literature:
	Nyaminyami Rural District in post-2000 Zimbabwe. Journal of Southern African
	<i>Studies</i> , <i>34</i> (1), 127-143.
22	Bandyopadhyay, S., Guzman, J. C., & Lendelvo, S. (2008). Communal Conservancies and Household Gain in Namibia. <i>World Bank Report, World Bank, Washington, DC, USA</i> .
23	Bandyopadhyay, S., Humavindu, M. N., Shyamsundar, P., & Wang, L. (2004). Do households
	gain from community-based natural resource management? An evaluation of community
	conservancies in Namibia. The World Bank.
24	Bandyopadhyay, S., Humavindu, M., Shyamsundar, P., & Wang, L. (2009). Benefits to local
	communities from community conservancies in Namibia: an assessment. Development
25	Southern Africa, 26(5), 733-754.
25	practical solutions. <i>Nature & Faune</i> , 20.
26	Barnes, J. I., MacGregor, J., & Weaver, L. C. (2001). <i>Economic analysis of community wildlife</i>
	use initiatives in Namibia (No. 42). Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of
27	Environment and Tourism.
21	change within Namibia's community wildlife use initiatives World development 30(4), 667-
	681
28	Barrow, E., & Fabricius, C. (2002). Do rural people really benefit from protected areas- rhetoric
	or reality?. Parks, 12(2), 67-79.
29	Bercaw, L. (2012). Starving For the Forest: Integrated Conservation and Food Security in
	Western Madagascar.
30	Berglund, K. (2015). Framing Transfrontier Nature Conservation: The Great Limpopo Transfrontier Park and the Vision of Peace Parks' in Southern Africa.
31	Berry, H. H. (1997). Historical review of the Etosha Region and its subsequent administration as a National Park. <i>Madogua</i> , 1997(v20i1), 3-12.
32	Beytell, P. C. (2010). Reciprocal impacts of black rhino and community-based ecotourism in
	north-west Namibia (Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: University of Stellenbosch).
33	Biggs, D., Turpie, J., Fabricius, C., & Spenceley, A. (2011). The value of avitourism for conservation and job creation—An analysis from South Africa. <i>Conservation and Society</i> , 9(1), 80-90.
34	Bishop, D. (2013). The challenge of creating an effective and equitable legal regime to cover
	transboundary protected areas considering the challenge through the lens of the Great
25	<i>Limpopo Transfrontier Park</i> (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Town).
35	Black, R. S. (2015). Social and economic impacts of tourist lodges on local communities: Case
26	studies from Rwanda and Botswana Report No. 82.
30	Black, R., & Cobbinall, F. B. (2016). Local attitudes towards tourism and conservation in fural Botswana and Rwanda. <i>Journal of Ecotourism</i> 17(1), 79-105
37	Blackie I R & Sowa I (2019) Dynamics of Social Ecology of Elephant Conservation in
57	Botswana and Implications on Environmental Development Journal of African
	Interdisciplinary Studies, 3(2), 4-25.
38	Blackie, I., & Ricart Casadevall, S. (2019). The impact of wildlife hunting prohibition on the
	rural livelihoods of local communities in Ngamiland and Chobe District Areas,
	Botswana. Cogent Social Sciences, 5(1), 1558716.
39	Blackmore, A., & Trouwborst, A. (2020). The Vulnerability of Neighbouring Communities
4.6	and their Investment in Protected Areas: A Speculative Analysis. Unpublished
40	Blaikie, P. (2006). Is small really beautiful? Community-based natural resource management
	In Malawi and Botswana. World development, 34(11), 1942-1957.

41	Blok, R. E. (2005). Transboundary conservation-towards an institutional framework for integrated management: a case study of the Ndumo-Tembe-Futi transfrontier conservation
	area (Doctoral dissertation).
42	Boast, L. K. (2014). <i>Exploring the causes of and mitigation options for human-predator conflict on game ranches in Botswana: How is coexistence possible?</i> (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Town)
43	Bocchino C. (2008) Is Mozambiaue the new South African frontier? The socio-economic
	impact of the Great Limpopo Transfrontier conservation area on the livelihood strategies of border communities in the Pafuri administrative post (Doctoral dissertation, alma).
44	Boggs, L. P. (2000). <i>Community power, participation, conflict and development choice:</i> <i>Community wildlife conservation in the Okavango region of Northern Botswana</i> . London: International Institute for Environment and Development.
45	Bollen, A., & Donati, G. (2006). Conservation status of the littoral forest of south-eastern Madagascar: a review. $Oryx$, $40(1)$, 57-66.
46	Boonzaaier, C., & Wilson, D. 9 Institutionalisation of Community Involvement in Nature Conservation: The Case of the Masebe Nature Reserve, South Africa. <i>New Alliances for Tourism, Conservation and Development in Eastern and Southern Africa</i> , 165.
47	Booth, V. R., & Cumming, D. H. (2009). The development of a recreational hunting industry
	and its relationship with conservation in Southern Africa. <i>Recreational Hunting, Conservation and Rural Livelihoods. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell</i> , 282-295.
48	Boudreaux, K. (2007). Community-Based Natural Resource Management and Poverty Alleviation in Namibia: A Case Study. <i>Mercatus Policy Series, Policy Comment</i> , (10).
49	Bowden, A. P. D. (2004). <i>Identifying criteria for the successful implentation of community-</i> <i>based conservation initiatives: evidence from two case studies in KwaZulu-Natal, South</i> <i>Africa</i> (Doctoral dissertation).
50	Brandon, K., & Bruner, A. (2008). LoCAL BeNeFITS oF ProTeCTed AreAS: 4. PerSPeCTIVeS ANd eXPerIeNCeS oF CoNSerVATIoN INTerNATIONAL. Protected Areas in Today's World: Their Values and Benefits for the Welfare of the Planet 29
51	Brimont, L., Ezzine-de-Blas, D., & Karsenty, A. (2017). The cost of making compensation
	payments to local forest populations in a REDD+ pilot project in Madagascar. <i>Madagascar</i> <i>Conservation & Development</i> , 12(1).
52	Brundin, P. W. (1996). Sustainable development, global ecology and the space for local knowledge: wildlife conservation in Namibia (Doctoral dissertation, Carleton University).
53	Bucht, K. R. (2011). Local Viewpoints on Conservation and Development at Malio, Andohahela National Park, Madagascar.
54	Büscher, B., & Dietz, T. (2005). Conjunctions of governance: the state and the conservation- development nexus in Southern Africa. <i>Journal of Transdisciplinary Environmental</i> <i>Studies</i> , 4(2), 1-15.
55	Büscher, B., & Dressler, W. (2007). Linking neoprotectionism and environmental governance: On the rapidly increasing tensions between actors in the environment-development power Conservation and society $5(4)$, 586, 611
56	Prince P & Schoon M (2000) Compatition over concernation: Collective action and
50	negotiating transfrontier conservation in Southern Africa. <i>Journal of international wildlife law</i>
57	Butler I R (2000) The economic costs of wildlife predation on livestock in Gokwe communal
51	land. Zimbabwe. African journal of Ecology, 38(1), 23-30.
58	Campera, M., Phelps, M., Besnard, F., Balestri, M., Eppley, T. M., Niiman, V., & Donati, G.
_	(2019). Does forest management and researchers' presence reduce hunting and forest
	exploitation by local communities in Tsitongambarika, south-east Madagascar?. Oryx, 53(4), 677-686.
59	Castaldo-Walsh, C. (2019). Human-Wildlife Conflict and Coexistence in a More-than-Human
	World: A Multiple Case Study Exploring the Human-Elephant-Conservation Nexus in Namibia
	and Sri Lanka.

60	Cerutti, E., Martinez Peria, M. S., & Dell'Ariccia, G. Mozambique-Transfrontier Conservation
<i>c</i> 1	Areas and Tourism Development Project.
61	Chana, I. M., & Manomaivibool, P. (2016). Examining Co-management of National Parks
	Liwende and Maiste in Malawi. Ambied Environmental Baseanch (28(2)) 77.02
()	Charallian D. (2017) IS COmmunITY DASad NATaDAL DeSCUDCe in ANA CompUTIN
02	Chevaliner, R. (2017). IS COmmunit Y-BASed NATURAL RESOURCE MANAGEMENT IN
(2)	BUISWANA VIABLE?. Botswana accuments.
03	Congorda, 1. (2014). Biodiversity conservation and rural livelinoods: a comparative study of selected conservation approaches in Zimbahwa (Dectored discontation)
64	Selected conservation approaches in Zimbabwe (Doctoral dissertation).
04	Chigonda, I. (2018), The ecological impact of linking blodiversity conservation with
	Inventious goals. A community-based conservation case from Zimbabwe, international Journal of Development and Sustainability. Vol. 7 No. 1, pp. 157-160
65	Chigonda T. Protocted areas and community costs: A comparative study of assas from
03	Zimbabwa National Journal of Advanced Personal 2017b 2(2) 08 16
66	Child D. (1006). CAMPEIDE in Zimbahwa Agagagina the Sustainability of Uses of Wild
00	Clinic, B. (1990). CAMPFIKE III Zimbabwe. Assessing the Sustainability of Uses of with Species IUCN/SSC Opposional Paper 12, 50,78
67	Species. 10 CN/SSC Occasional Fuper, 12, 59-78.
07	Clind, B. (2019). Sustainable Governance of Wilaufe and Community-based Natural Resource
68	Child B B I A N (2006) Bayanya distribution for approvement and
00	democratization Participatory Learning and Action 55(1) 20.0
69	Child B & Peterson I H (1991) CAMPFIRE in rural development: the Reithridge
07	experience Branch of Terrestrial Ecology Dept. of National Parks and Wildlife Management
70	Child B Ward S & Tayengwa T (1997) Zimbabwe's CAMPFIRE programme <i>Natural</i>
10	Resource Management by the people Harare IUCN-ROSA Environmental Issues Series 2
71	Chimuka, Y. (2012). An analysis of the impact of community involvement in the development
, -	of Great Limpopo Transfrontier Park: Case study of Gonarezhou National Park with reference
	to Chitsa and Tshovani Communities.
72	Chipfuva, T. & Saarinen, J. (2011). Community-Based Natural Resource Management,
	Tourism and Local Participation: Institutions, Stakeholders and Management Issues in
	Northern Botswana. New alliances for tourism, conservation and development in Eastern and
	Southern Africa. 147-164
73	Chirozva, C. (2016). Community engagement in the governance of Transfrontier Conservation
	Areas: An analysis of the implementation of Sengwe Tshipise Wilderness Corridor,
	Zimbabwe (Doctoral dissertation, Charles Sturt University).
74	Chirozva, C., Black, R., & Higgins, V. (2017). "A Place of Pain and Gain": Exploring the
	Dynamics of Resistance in the Creation of Sengwe Tshipise Wilderness Corridor, Southeast
	Zimbabwe. Society & Natural Resources, 30(8), 964-979.
75	Chitakira, M., Torquebiau, E., & Ferguson, W. (2012). Unique combinations of stakeholders
	in a transfrontier conservation area promote biodiversity-agriculture integration. Journal of
	Sustainable Agriculture, 36(3), 275-295.
76	Chiutsi, S. (2014). Transfrontier Conservation, Livelihoods and Sustainable Tourism-A
	Review of Community Perceptions of the Value of the Great Limpopo Transfrontier
	Conservation Area (GLTFCA). European Scientific Journal.
77	Chiutsi, S., & Saarinen, J. (2017). Local participation in transfrontier tourism: Case of Sengwe
	community in great Limpopo transfrontier conservation area, Zimbabwe. Development
70	Southern Africa, $54(5)$, $200-2/5$.
/8	Cinuisi, S., & Saarinen, J. (2019). The limits of inclusivity and sustainability in transfrontier
	<i>Timbabwe Critical African Studies</i> 11(3) 348 360
70	Chiutsi S. Mukoroverwa M. Karigambe P. & Mudzengi R. K. (2011). The theory and
19	practice of ecotourism in Southern Africa Journal of Hospitality Management and
	Tourism, 2(2), 14-21.

80	Classen Monique, A. (2017). <i>Eco-Africa and facilitated community participation in the/AI-/AIS</i> <i>Richtersveld Transfrontier Conservation Area</i> (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Town).
81	Claudio, F. (2008). The CAMPFIRE Scheme in Zimbabwe during the 1990s: Local Responses to Community Conservation
82	Cock, J., & Fig, D. (2000). From colonial to community based conservation: environmental justice and the national parks of South Africa. <i>Society in transition</i> , <i>31</i> (1), 22-35.
83	Come, J. A. (2014). <i>The contribution of tourism to coastal livelihoods in Ponta do Ouro, Southern Mozambique</i> (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Town).
84	Connolly, A. (2010). Putting People in Parks: A case study on the impact of community involvement in conservation.
85	Connor, T. (2005). Place, belonging and population displacement: New ecological reserves in Mozambique and South Africa. <i>Development Southern Africa</i> , 22(3), 365-382.
86	Conservation, W. T. African Transfrontier Conservation Areas: Real benefits?.
87	Constant, N. L., Bell, S., & Hill, R. A. (2015). The impacts, characterisation and management of human–leopard conflict in a multi-use land system in South Africa. <i>Biodiversity and Conservation</i> , 24(12), 2967-2989.
88	Cooney, R., Freese, C., Dublin, H., Roe, D., Mallon, D., Knight, M., & Buyanaa, C. (2017). The baby and the bathwater: trophy hunting, conservation and rural livelihoods. <i>Unasylva</i> , 68(249), 3.
89	Crane, W., Sandwith, T., McGregor, E., & Younge, A. (2009). Where conservation and community coincide: a human rights approach to conservation and development in the Cape Floristic Region, South Africa. <i>Rights-based approaches: exploring issues and opportunities for conservation. Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR) and International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN), Bogor, Indonesia</i> , 141-162.
90	Cumming, D. H., Dzingirai, V., & de Garine-Wichatitsky, M. (2017). 9 Land-and natural resource-based livelihood opportunities in TFCAs. <i>Transfrontier Conservation Areas: People Living on the Edge</i> , 163.
91	Dahlberg, A. (2005). Local resource use, nature conservation and tourism in Mkuze wetlands, South Africa: A complex weave of dependence and conflict. <i>Geografisk Tidsskrift-Danish</i> <i>Journal of Geography</i> , <i>105</i> (1), 43-55.
92	Dahlberg, A. C., & Burlando, C. (2009). Addressing trade-offs: Experiences from conservation and development initiatives in the Mkuze Wetlands, South Africa. <i>Ecology and Society</i> , 14(2).
93	Darkoh, M. B., & Mbaiwa, J. E. (2009). Land-use and resource conflicts in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. <i>African Journal of Ecology</i> , 47, 161-165.
94	de Araujo Lima Constantino, P., Carlos, H. S. A., Ramalho, E. E., Rostant, L., Marinelli, C. E., Teles, D., & Valsecchi, J. (2012). Empowering local people through community-based resource monitoring: a comparison of Brazil and Namibia. <i>Ecology and Society</i> , <i>17</i> (4).
95	De Boer, W. F., & Baquete, D. S. (1998). Natural resource use, crop damage and attitudes of rural people in the vicinity of the Maputo Elephant Reserve, Mozambique. <i>Environmental Conservation</i> , 208-218.
96	de Garine-Wichatitsky, M., Miguel, E., Mukamuri, B., Garine-Wichatitsky, E., Wencelius, J., Pfukenyi, D. M., & Caron, A. (2013). Coexisting with wildlife in transfrontier conservation areas in Zimbabwe: Cattle owners' awareness of disease risks and perceptions of the role played by wildlife. <i>Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, 36</i> (3), 321-332.
97	Dear, C., & McCoola, S. (2010). Causes and consequences of displacement decision-making in Banhine National Park, Mozambique. <i>Conservation and Society</i> , 8(2), 103-111.
98	Deere, N. J. (2011). Exploitation or conservation? Can the hunting tourism industry in Africa be sustainable?. <i>Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development</i> , 53(4), 20-32.
99	DeGeorges, P. A., & Reilly, B. K. (2009). The realities of community based natural resource management and biodiversity conservation in Sub-Saharan Africa. <i>Sustainability</i> , 1(3), 734-788.

100	DeMotts, R., Haller, T., Hoon, P., & Saum, R. (2009). Dynamics of common pool resource management in the Okayango Delta Botswana. <i>Development Southern Africa</i> , 26(4), 569-583
101	Dhliwayo M Breen C & Nyambe N (2009) Legal policy and institutional provisions for
101	community participation and empowerment in transfrontier conservation in Southern
	Africa Journal of International Wildlife Law & Policy 12(1-2) 60-107
102	Dias D I (2012) Renewed promises conservation for development in the Kaza
102	Angola (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Town).
103	Dieckmann, U. (2003). The impact of nature conservation on the San: A case study of Etosha
100	National Park. San and the State: contesting land, development, identity and representation.
	37-86.
104	Dikgang, J., & Muchapondwa, E. (2014). The economic valuation of nature-based tourism in
	the South African Kgalagadi area and implications for the Khomani San
	'bushmen' community. Journal of Environmental Economics and Policy, 3(3), 306-322.
105	Dikgang, J., & Muchapondwa, E. (2017). Local communities' valuation of environmental
	amenities around the Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park in Southern Africa. Journal of
	Environmental Economics and Policy, 6(2), 168-182.
106	Dikgang, J., Muchapondwa, E., & Stage, J. (2017). Securing benefits for local communities
	from international visitors to the Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park. Tourism Economics, 23(8),
	1553-1567.
107	Disko, S., & Tugendhat, H. (Eds.). (2014). World Heritage Sites and Indigenous Peoples'
100	Rights (Vol. 551). Copenhagen: IWGIA.
108	Dixey, L. (2005). Inventory and analysis of community based tourism in Zambia. Production,
100	Finance and Technology (PROFIT), Private Sector Development Programme, USAID.
109	A friegen spectra of the Creat Limpone Transformation Dark Conformum 20(1), 452, 465
110	Afficial section of the Oreat Limpopo Transformer Park. Geojorum, 59(1), 452-465.
110	Zimbabwe Ecological Economics 159 335-343
111	Dunnink I A Hartley R Rutina L Alves I Franco A M & WildlifeACT M B A
	socio-ecological landscape approach to human-wildlife conflict in Northern Botswana.
112	Durbin, J. C., & Ralambo, J. A. (1994). The role of local people in the successful maintenance
	of protected areas in Madagascar. Environmental conservation, 21(2), 115-120.
113	Durbin, J. C., & Ratrimoarisaona, S. N. (1996). Can tourism make a major contribution to the
	conservation of protected areas in Madagascar?. Biodiversity & Conservation, 5(3), 345-353.
114	Dyll, C. (2004). Global conservation, local impacts: environmental decision making in the
	Great Limpopo Transfrontier Park (Doctoral dissertation).
115	Dzingirai, V. (1996). 'Every man must resettle where he wants': The politics of settlement in
	the context of community wildlife management programme in Binga,
116	ZIIII0a0we. Zambezia, $23(1)$, 19-50. Dringiroi V & Proon C M (Edg.) (2005) Configurating the minimum in
110	DZINGITAI, V., & Breen, C. W. (Eds.). (2005). Confronting the crisis in community
	Environment Agriculture and Development
117	Ekblom A & Notelid M (2010) A White Man's Bush? A Comparison of Socio-Politics in
11/	the Creation of Kruger and Limpono National Parks. <i>Politicized Nature</i> 93
118	Emptaz-Collomb I G I (2009) Linking tourism human wellbeing and conservation in the
110	<i>Caprivi Strip (Namibia)</i> . University of Florida.
119	Ferguson, K., Adam, L., & Jori, F. (2012). An adaptive monitoring programme for studying
	impacts along the western boundary fence of Kruger National Park, South Africa. In Fencing
	for conservation (pp. 105-123). Springer, New York, NY.
120	Fernández, A. (2010). Wildlife conservation in Zambia: Impact of game management areas on
	household welfare. Michigan State University. Agricultural Economics.
121	Ferreira, S. L. A. (2006). Communities and transfrontier parks in the Southern African
	development community: The case of Limpopo National Park, Mozambique. South African
	Geographical Journal, 88(2), 166-176.

122	Flintan, F. (2001). Women and CBNRM in Namibia: A case study of the IRDNC community resource monitor project.
123	Fortmann, L., Roe, E., & Van Eeten, M. (2001). At the threshold between governance and management: community-based natural resource management in Southern Africa. <i>Public Administration and Development</i> , 21(2), 171-185.
124	Frank, L., Hemson, G., Kushnir, H., & Packer, C. (2006, January). Lions, conflict and conservation in Eastern and Southern Africa. In <i>The eastern and southern African lion conservation workshop</i> (pp. 11-13). Johannesburg.
125	Frank, L., Hemson, G., Kushnir, H., Packer, C., & Maclennan, S. D. (2008). Lions, conflict and conservation. <i>Management and conservation of large carnivores in west and central Africa</i> , 81-98.
126	Funston, P. J. (2008). Conservation and management of lions in southern Africa: status, threats, utilization and the restoration option. <i>Management and conservation of large carnivores in West and Central Africa</i> , 109-131.
127	Gandiwa, E. (2011). Preliminary assessment of illegal hunting by communities adjacent to the northern Gonarezhou National Park, Zimbabwe. <i>Tropical Conservation Science</i> , <i>4</i> (4), 445-467.
128	Gandiwa, E. (2012). Local knowledge and perceptions of animal population abundances by communities adjacent to the northern Gonarezhou National Park, Zimbabwe. <i>Tropical Conservation Science</i> , <i>5</i> (3), 255-269.
129	Gandiwa, E., Gandiwa, P., & Muboko, N. (2012). Living with wildlife and associated conflicts in a contested area within the Northern Gonarezhou National Park, Zimbabwe. <i>Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa</i> , 14(6), 252-260.
130	Gandiwa, E., Heitkönig, I. M., Lokhorst, A. M., Prins, H. H., & Leeuwis, C. (2013). CAMPFIRE and human-wildlife conflicts in local communities bordering northern Gonarezhou National Park, Zimbabwe. <i>Ecology and Society</i> , <i>18</i> (4).
131	Gandiwa, E., Zisadza-Gandiwa, P., Muboko, N., Libombo, E., Mashapa, C., & Gwazani, R. (2014). Local people's knowledge and perceptions of wildlife conservation in Southeastern Zimbabwe. <i>Journal of Environmental Protection</i> , 2014.
132	Gaodirelwe, I., Masunga, G. S., & Motsholapheko, M. R. (2018). Community-based natural resource management: a promising strategy for reducing subsistence poaching around protected areas, northern Botswana. <i>Environment, Development and Sustainability</i> , 1-19.
133	Gaodirelwe, I., Motsholapheko, M. R., & Masunga, G. S. (2020). Community perceptions of wildlife management strategies and subsistence poaching in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. <i>Human Dimensions of Wildlife</i> , 25(3), 232-249.
134	Gardner, C. J., & Davies, Z. G. (2014). Rural bushmeat consumption within multiple-use protected areas: qualitative evidence from southwest Madagascar. <i>Human Ecology</i> , 42(1), 21-34.
135	Gardner, Charlie J. (2014) Reconciling conservation and development in Madagascar's rapidly- expanding protected area system. Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) thesis, University of Kent,.
136	Garekae, H., Lepetu, J., & Thakadu, O. T. (2020). Forest resource utilisation and rural livelihoods: insights from Chobe enclave, Botswana. <i>South African Geographical Journal</i> , <i>102</i> (1), 22-40.
137	Garekae, H., Lepetu, J., Thakadu, O. T., Sebina, V., & Tselaesele, N. (2020). Community perspective on state forest management regime and its implication on forest sustainability: a case study of Chobe Forest Reserve, Botswana. <i>Journal of Sustainable Forestry</i> , 1-18.
138	Garekae, H., Thakadu, O. T., & Lepetu, J. (2016). Attitudes of local communities towards forest conservation in Botswana: A case study of Chobe Forest Reserve. <i>International Forestry Review</i> , <i>18</i> (2), 180-191.
139	Gargallo, E. (2015). Conservation on contested lands: the case of Namibia's communal conservancies. <i>Journal of Contemporary African Studies</i> , <i>33</i> (2), 213-231.
140	Gerhardt-Weber, V., & Katharina, E. M. (2011). <i>Elephant movements and human-elephant conflict in a transfrontier conservation area</i> (Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: University of Stellenbosch).

141	Gird, J. W. (2015). Hunting as a conservation tool: investigating the use of hunting in CBNRM
	programs: a case study of the Ntabethemba Community Reserve, South Africa (Doctoral
	dissertation, Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University).
142	Givá, N. (2016). Parks with people? (Doctoral dissertation).
143	Givá, N., & Raitio, K. (2017). 'Parks with People'in Mozambique: Community Dynamic
	Responses to Human-Elephant Conflict at Limpopo National Park. Journal of Southern
	<i>African Studies</i> , <i>43</i> (6), 1199-1214.
144	Gontse, K., Mbaiwa, J. E., & Thakadu, O. T. (2018). Effects of wildlife crop raiding on the
	livelihoods of arable farmers in Khumaga, Boteti sub-district, Botswana. Development
	Southern Africa, 35(6), 791-802.
145	Goodwin, H., & Roe, D. (2001). Tourism, livelihoods and protected areas: opportunities for
	fair-trade tourism in and around National parks. International Journal of Tourism
146	Research, 5(5), 577-591.
140	Gordon, C. N. (2017). People and protected areas: natural resource narvesting as an approach to support mind, communities support ding Majota Wildlife Peserve. Southern Malaui, a case
	study (Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University)
147	GORDON-CUMMING I H (2017) Factors affecting local community attitudes towards
177	conservation and protected areas at Borakalalo National Park South Africa <i>Unpublished M</i>
	Sc. dissertation. University of South Africa: College of Agriculture and Environmental Science.
148	Grossman, D., PL, H., Magome, H., Murombedzi, J., African, S. S., Stavenhagen, R., & Stevn,
	H. P. (2007). The history of conservation evictions in Botswana—The history of conservation
	evictions in Botswana-the struggle continues with new hope. Section 1: What ARE human
	rights anyway?, 209(3), 60-73.
149	Guenha, A. U. (2010). Towards understanding the impact of community-based natural
	resource management on household livelihoods: a case study of the Combomune Community
	Project, Mozambique (Doctoral dissertation).
150	Guerbois, C., DUFOUR, A. B., Mtare, G., & Fritz, H. (2013). Insights for integrated
	conservation from attitudes of people toward protected areas near Hwange National Park, 71 + 1 + 27(4) = 27(4) = 0.44 + 0.55
151	Zimbabwe. Conservation Biology, 2/(4), 844-855.
131	Relations around Chobe National Park Rotewana (Doctoral dissertation UC Berkeley)
152	Gunta A C (2013) Elephants safety nets and agrarian culture: understanding human-wildlife
152	conflict and rural livelihoods around Chobe National Park Botswana <i>Journal of Political</i>
	<i>Ecology</i> , 20(1), 238-254.
153	Gupta, A. C. (2015). Spatial scaling of protected area influences on human demography and
	livelihoods in Botswana. Environmental Conservation, 42(1), 51.
154	Gusset, M., Swarner, M. J., Mponwane, L., Keletile, K., & McNutt, J. W. (2009). Human-
	wildlife conflict in northern Botswana: livestock predation by endangered African wild dog
	Lycaon pictus and other carnivores. <i>Oryx</i> , 43(1), 67-72.
155	Hansen, M. (2013). New geographies of conservation and globalisation: the spatiality of
	development for conservation in the iSimangaliso Wetland Park, South Africa. Journal of
150	Contemporary African Studies, 31(3), 481-502.
156	Harris, A. h1o live with the Seav Development of the Velondri ake Community Managed
157	Protected Area Network, Southwest Madagascar.
137	unravelling the relationships between conservation and development (Doctoral dissertation
	University of Leeds)
158	Harrison E. P. Stringer I. C. & Dougill A. I. (2014). The importance of the sub-district level.
150	for community-based natural resource management in rural Zimbabwe Sustainability
	Research Institute Paper, (69).
159	Harrison, P. A. (2006). The role of tourism in natural resource management in the Okavango
	Delta, Botswana.

160	Hart, L. A., & O'Connell, C. E. (1998). Human conflict with African and Asian elephants and associated conservation dilemmas. <i>Unpublished Paper. Center for Animals in Society in the</i>
	School of Veterinary Medicine and Ecology. University of California, Davis, 95616, 299-315.
161	Hemson, G. A. (2004). <i>The ecology of conservation of lions: Human wildlife conflict in semi-</i> <i>arid Botswana</i> (Doctoral dissertation, University of Oxford).
162	Hemson, G., Maclennan, S., Mills, G., Johnson, P., & Macdonald, D. (2009). Community,
	lions, livestock and money: a spatial and social analysis of attitudes to wildlife and the
	conservation value of tourism in a human-carnivore conflict in Botswana. Biological
	Conservation, 142(11), 2718-2725.
163	Heydenrych, B. J. (1999). An investigation of land-use practices on the Agulhas Plain (South
	Africa), with emphasis on socio-economic and conservation issues (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Town)
164	Hill K Δ (1996) Zimbabwe's wildlife utilization programs: grassroots democracy or an
104	extension of state power? African Studies Review 39(1) 103-121
165	Hitchcock R K (2019) The impacts of conservation and militarization on indigenous
105	peoples. <i>Human Nature</i> , 30(2), 217-241.
166	Hitchcock, R. K., Sapignoli, M., Main, M., & Babchuk, W. A. (2015). The politics and
	economics of community-based natural resource management in/Xai/Xai, Ngamiland,
	Botswana.
167	Hitchcock, R. K., Yellen, J. E., Gelburd, D. J., Osborn, A. J., & Crowell, A. L. (1996).
	Subsistence hunting and resource management among the Ju/hoansi of Northwestern
1.60	Botswana.
168	Holden, P. (2007). Conservation and human rights—the case of the Khomani San (bushmen)
1.60	and the Kgalagadi Iransfrontier Park, South Africa. Policy Matters, 15, 57-68.
109	and Ecotourism Enterprise in Namibia
170	Hoole A (2009) Place-power-prognosis: Community-based conservation partnerships and
170	ecotourism enterprises in Namibia International Journal of the Commons 4(1)
171	Hoole, A. F. (2008). Community-based conservation and protected areas in Namibia: social-
	ecological linkages for biodiversity.
172	Hoole, A., & Berkes, F. (2010). Breaking down fences: Recoupling social-ecological systems
	for biodiversity conservation in Namibia. Geoforum, 41(2), 304-317.
173	HORNING, N. R. (2005). The cost of ignoring rules: forest conservation and rural livelihood
	outcomes in Madagascar. Forests, Trees and Livelihoods, 15(2), 149-166.
174	Hughes, D. M. (2000, May). Cadastral politics: the making of community forestry in
	Mozambique and Zimbabwe. In 8th Biennial Conference of the International Association for
175	the Study of Common Property, Bloomington, Indiana.
1/5	Hughes, D. M. (2002). When tourists cross boundaries and peasants don't: inequality and
	regional metaphors in the Great Limpopo Conservation Area. Department of Economic
176	History; University of Zimbabwe.
170	Area, Cultural Anthropology, 20(2), 157-184.
177	Husbands, W., & Thompson, S. (1990). The host society and the consequences of tourism in
	Livingstone, Zambia. International journal of urban and regional research, 14(3), 490-513.
178	Iipinge, A. N. (2009). Impact of Community-Based Conservancy on Community's Livelihoods:
	A case of the! Khob! Naub Conservancy, Southern Namibia (Doctoral dissertation, Masters
	Thesis University of the Free State, Bloemfontein, 2009). Retrieved from http://www.
	aridareas. co. za/images/PA% 20local% 20and% 20economic% 20develo p/Conservancies%
	20and% 20livelihoods% 20in% 20southern% 20Namibia. pdf).
179	Izidine, S. A. (2016). Licuati forest reserve, Mozambique: flora, utilization and
100	<i>conservation</i> (Doctoral dissertation, University of Pretoria).
180	Janis, J. (2011). The Tourism-development Nexus in Namibia: A Study on National Tourism
	roncy and Local Tourism Enterprises Policy Knowledge.

181	Jansen, C. (2016). <i>Tourism awareness and its impact on conservancy management strategies in Namibia: A case study of the Tsiseb conservancy</i> (Doctoral dissertation, University of Namibia).
182	Jaravani, S. (2014). An assessment on the causes of human-wildlife conflict and people's attitudes towards conservation of wildlife. A case of Save Valley Conservancy (Doctoral dissertation, BUSE).
183	Johnson, S. (2004). The Tchumo Tchato project in Mozambique: Community-based natural resource management in transition. <i>Rights, Resources & Rural Development–Community-Based Natural Resource Management in Southern Africa</i> , 210-222.
184	Jokisch, A. (2009). A buffer for Etosha-The attitudes towards a buffer zone on private farmland at the south-western border of the Etosha National Park (Namibia) and chances for its implementation (Doctoral dissertation, Universität Oldenburg).
185	Jones, B. (2004). Synthesis of the current status of CBNRM policy and legislation in Botswana, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Zambia and Zimbabwe. <i>Harare: WWF Southern African Regional Programme Office</i> .
186	Jones, B. (2006). Case studies on successful southern African NRM initiatives and their impacts on poverty and governance. <i>Report prepared for USAID FRAME</i> .
187	Jones, B. (2010). The evolution of Namibia's communal conservancies. <i>Community rights, conservation and contested land: The politics of natural resource governance in Africa</i> , 106-120.
188	Jones, B. T. (1999). Community management of natural resources in Namibia (No. 90). IIED.
189	Jones, B. T. (1999). Community-based natural resource management in Botswana and Namibia: An inventory and preliminary analysis of progress. IIED.
190	Jones, B. T. (2004). CBNRM, poverty reduction and sustainable livelihoods: Developing criteria for evaluating the contribution of CBNRM to poverty reduction and alleviation in southern Africa.
191	Jones, B. T. (2004). Selected natural resource management and limited rural development assessment. <i>Carried out for USAID/Namibia as part of the development of a programme strategy (ie strategic plan) for, 2010.</i>
192	Jones, B. T. (2009). Community benefits from safari hunting and related activities in southern Africa. Recreational hunting, conservation and rural livelihoods: science and practice, 158-177.
193	Jones, B. T. (2017). Chobe Enclave, Botswana Lessons learnt from a CBNRM Project 1993-2002. <i>Botswana documents</i> .
194	Jones, B. T., Diggle, R. W., & Thouless, C. (2015). From exploitation to ownership: wildlife- based tourism and communal area conservancies in Namibia. In <i>Institutional arrangements for</i> <i>conservation, development and tourism in eastern and southern Africa</i> (pp. 17-37). Springer, Dordrecht.
195	Jones, B. T., Stolton, S. U. E., & Dudley, N. (2005). Private protected areas in East and southern Africa: contributing to biodiversity conservation and rural development. <i>Parks</i> , <i>15</i> (2), 67-76.
196	Jones, B., Mulolani, D., & Child, B. R. I. A. N. (2006). Community conservation and participatory policy processes in Southern Africa. <i>Participatory Learning and Action</i> , 55(1), 13-19.
197	Jones, J. L. (2003). Transboundary conservation in Southern Africa: Exploring conflict between local resource access and conservation. <i>Centre for Environmental Studies: University of Pretoria, South Africa. Available online: http://www. iapad. org/publications/ppgis/jones. jennifer. pdf. Accessed February</i> , 6, 2009.
198	Jones, J. L. (2005). Transboundary conservation: development implications for communities in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. <i>The International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology</i> , <i>12</i> (3), 266-278.
199	Jones, J. L. (2007). Dynamics of conservation and society: the case of Maputaland, South Africa (Doctoral dissertation, University of Pretoria).
200	Kabali, E., Pandey, G. S., Maboshe, M., & Munyeme, M. THE WILDLIFE-LIVESTOCK- HUMAN INTERFACE, LEGISLATION AND ITS IMPACT ON COMMUNITIES AROUND MOSI-OA-TUNYA NATIONAL PARK IN ZAMBIA.

201	Kalikawe, M. C. (2001, March). Botswana: Integrating biodiversity into the tourism sector.
	In A presentation made to the UNEP International Workshop on Best Practices and Country
	Case Studies, Mexico City (pp. 29-31).
202	Kanapaux, W., & Child, B. (2011). Livelihood activities in a Namibian wildlife conservancy:
	a case study of variation within a CBNRM programme. Oryx, 45(3), 365-372.
203	Karidozo, M, La Grange, M & Osborn, F.V. (2016) Assessment of the human wildlife conflict
	mitigation measures being implemented by the Kayango-Zambezi Transfrontier Conservation
	Area (KAZA TFCA) partner countries. Report to the KAZA TFCA Secretariat (BMZ No.:
	2009 66 788 and BMZ No.: 2006 65 646), Kasane, Botswana.
204	Kasaona, M. K. (2006). An assessment of community understanding of the Human Animal
	Conservancy Self-Insurance Scheme and the impact of human-wildlife conflicts: a case study
	from the Kwandu conservancy, north-east Namibia (Doctoral dissertation).
205	Katerere, Y., Hill, R., & Moyo, S. (2001). A critique of transboundary natural resource
	management in Southern Africa. Harare, Zimbabwe: IUCN, Regional Office for Southern
	Africa.
206	Kerapeletswe, C. K. (2005). Egalitarian regimes in midst of socio-economic heterogeneity:
	Challenges and opportunities for institutional success and conservation outcomes: Evidence
	from Botswana. Journal of Sustainable Development Africa, 7(2), 1-33.
207	Kgathi, B. N. (2005). Community Based Natural Resource Management and Social Sustain
	ability in Ngamiland, Botswana. Botswana Notes & Records, 37(1), 61-79.
208	Khan, S. (2009). Sustainable development and community participation: A case study of Great
	Limpopo Transfrontier Park. In Conference Paper, IESE (pp. 1-23).
209	Khatiwada, L. K., & Silva, J. A. (2015). Mitigating gender inequality in rural regions: the
	effects of tourism employment in Namibia. International Journal of Tourism Research, 17(5),
	442-450.
210	Khumalo, K. E. (2012). Women's views on conservation-based income generation and
	women's empowerment in Kwandu Conservancy in Caprivi, Namibia.
211	Khumalo, K. E., & Yung, L. A. (2015). Women, human-wildlife conflict, and CBNRM: hidden
	impacts and vulnerabilities in Kwandu Conservancy, Namibia. Conservation and
	<i>Society</i> , <i>13</i> (3), 232-243.
212	King, B., & Wilcox, S. (2008). Peace Parks and jaguar trails: transboundary conservation in a
	globalizing world. <i>GeoJournal</i> , 71(4), 221-231.
213	Kiss, A. (1990). Living with wildlife. Draft report of World Bank Environment Division, The
014	World Bank, and Washington, DC.
214	Kloppers, R. J. (2006). The utilisation of natural resources in the Matutuine district of Southern
	Mozambique: implications for transfrontier conservation (Doctoral dissertation, University of Distance)
215	Pretoria). Kalanusla O. D. (2014). Whither sustainable must development?: A spitial employed on a
215	Kolawole, O. D. (2014). Whither sustainable fural development?: A critical exploration of
216	remote communities in and around the Okavango Dena, Botswana. $K_{oot} \in (2010)$ The limits of according herefits: Adding accial affordances to the analysis of
210	Kool, S. (2019). The limits of economic benefits: Adding social affordances to the analysis of trophy hunting of the Khuya and Ju/kaansi in Namihian community based natural recourses
	monophy number of the Kniwe and $3u'$ hoarist in Namiotan community-based natural resource management Society & Natural Resources 32(A) A17 A33
217	Koot S. P. (2014). From dwelling to lodging in the Nyae Nyae Conservancy. Namibia: The
217	meaning of the changes brought about by conservation and tourism in the Jul'hoansi's
	environment
218	Koot S & Hitchcock R (2019) In the way: perpetuating land dispossession of the indigenous
210	Hail/om and the collective action law suit for Etosha National Park and Mangetti West
	Namibia Nomadic Peoples 23(1) 55-77
219	Koot, S., & Van Beek, W. (2017), Ju/'hoansi lodging in a Namibian conservancy. CBNRM
	tourism and increasing domination. Conservation and Society. 15(2), 136-146.
220	Kothari, A. (2008). Diversifying Protected Area Governance: Ecological Social and
	Economical Benefits. Protected Areas in Today's World: Their Values and Benefits for the
	Welfare of the Planet, 57.

221	Kronenburg Garcia, A., Wijnhoud D., Otsuki, K., Achá, D. (2016). The case of Massingir District. Wildlife Conservation, Tourism and Sugarcane Plantations. Policy Brief 2, November, 2016
222	Krug, W. (2001, January). Private supply of protected land in southern Africa: a review of markets, approaches, barriers and issues. In <i>Workshop Paper, World Bank/OECD International Workshop on Market Creation for Biodiversity Products and Services, Paris</i> (Vol. 25).
223	Kumagwelo, G. (2000). Strengths and weaknesses of local institutions for natural resources management: The case study of Goba. In DNFFB, Paper prepared for the 8th Biennial Conference of the International Association for the Study of Common Property (IASCP), Indiana University.
224	Langa, F. A. L. (2005). The implications of tourism for rural livelihoods: the case of Madjadjane community, Matutuine district, Mozambique.
225	Lapeyre, R. (2009). Revenue sharing in community-private sector lodges in Namibia: a haragining model. Tauring Economics $15(2)$, $652, 660$
226	Lapeyre, R. (2010). Community-based tourism as a sustainable solution to maximise impacts locally? The Tsiseb Conservancy case, Namibia. <i>Development Southern Africa</i> , 27(5), 757-772
227	Lapeyre, R. (2015). The Tsiseb Conservancy: How Communities, the State and the Market Struggle for Its Success. In <i>Institutional Arrangements for Conservation, Development and Tourism in Eastern and Southern Africa</i> (pp. 39-58). Springer, Dordrecht.
228	Lapeyre, R. (2015). Wildlife conservation without financial viability? The potential for payments for dispersal areas' services in N amibia. <i>Animal Conservation</i> , 18(1), 14-15.
229	Lauermann, P. D. (2011). Boundless: Conservation and development on the southern African frontier (Doctoral dissertation, University of Oregon).
230	Le Bel, S., Mombeshora, S., Goredema, L., Mapuvire, G., & Jiri, A. (2012, July). Involving communities in wildlife ranching in zimbabwe: a grass-roots initiative. In <i>IVth International Wildlife Management Congress</i> (p. 53).
231	Le Bel, S., Murwira, A., Mukamuri, B., Czudek, R., Taylor, R., & La Grange, M. (2011). Human wildlife conflicts in southern Africa: riding the whirl wind in Mozambique and in Zimbabwe. <i>The importance of biological interactions in the study of biodiversity. InTech,</i> <i>Croatia</i> , 283-322.
232	LeFlore EG, Fuller TK, Tomeletso M, Dimbindo TC, Stein AB (2020) Human dimensions of human–lion conflict: a pre- and post-assessment of a lion conservation programme in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. Environmental Conservation page 1 of 8.
233	Lenao, M. (2017). Community, state and power-relations in community-based tourism on Lekhubu Island, Botswana, <i>Tourism Geographies</i> , 19(3), 483-501.
234	Lendelvo, S., Angula, M. N., Mogotsi, I., & Aribeb, K. (2018). Towards the Reduction of Vulnerabilities and Risks of Climate Change in the Community-Based Tourism, Namibia. In <i>Natural Hazards-Risk Assessment and Vulnerability Reduction</i> . IntechOpen.
235	Lendelvo, S., Munyebvu, F., & Suich, H. (2012). Linking women's participation and benefits within the Namibian community based natural resource management program.
236	Lepetu, J. P. (2007). Socio economic impact and stakeholder preference to conservation of forest reserves: A case study of Kasane Forest Reserve, Botswana (Doctoral dissertation, University of Florida).
237	Lepper, C. M. (2006). Community-based natural resource management, livelihood diversification & poverty alleviation: a case study of NG 22/23 and associated communities, Okavango Delta, northern Botswana.
238	Letsoalo, J. M. (2019). A sustainable livelihood framework for community-based tourism: a case of the African Ivory Route in Limpopo Province (Doctoral dissertation).
239	Libanda, B., & Blignaut, J. (2008). Tourism's local benefits for Namibia's community-based natural resource management areas. <i>International Journal of Ecological Economics & Statistics</i> , 10(8), 40-52.

240	Lindsey, P. A., Masterson, C. L., Beck, A. L., & Romañach, S. (2012). Ecological, social and
	financial issues related to fencing as a conservation tool in Africa. In Fencing for
	conservation (pp. 215-234). Springer, New York, NY.
241	Liu, B., & Mwanza, F. M. (2014). Towards sustainable tourism development in Zambia:
	Advancing tourism planning and natural resource management in Livingstone (Mosi-oa-
	Tunya) Area. Journal of Service Science and Management, 2014.
242	Logan, B. I., & Moseley, W. G. (2002). The political ecology of poverty alleviation in
	Zimbabwe's Communal Areas Management Programme for Indigenous Resources
	(CAMPFIRE). <i>Geoforum</i> , 33(1), 1-14.
243	Lubilo, R. (2018). Enactment of 'community'in community based natural resources
	management in Zambezi Region, Namibia (Doctoral dissertation, Wageningen University).
244	Lubilo, R., & Hebinck, P. (2019). 'Local hunting'and community-based natural resource
	management in Namibia: Contestations and livelihoods. Geoforum, 101, 62-75.
245	Lunstrum, E. (2008). Mozambique, neoliberal land reform, and the Limpopo National
	Park. Geographical Review, 98(3), 339-355.
246	Lunstrum, E. (2010). Reconstructing history, grounding claims to space: history, memory, and
	displacement in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Park. South African Geographical
	<i>Journal</i> , 92(2), 129-143.
247	Lunstrum, E. (2011). An uncomfortable fit? Transfrontier parks as megaprojects.
2 40	In Engineering Earth (pp. 1223-1242). Springer, Dordrecht.
248	Lunstrum, E. (2016). Green grabs, land grabs and the spatiality of displacement: eviction from
2.40	M ozambique's L impopo N ational P ark. Area, 48(2), 142-152.
249	Lunstrum, E., & Ybarra, M. (2018). Deploying difference: security threat narratives and state
250	displacement from protected areas. Conservation and Society, 16(2), 114-124.
250	Lupiya, A. (2019). The Kavango-Zambezi Conservation Area (KAZA) and its aynamics in Zambia (Destoral dissertation Escultu of Science)
251	MacDonald D W (2013) From athology to biodiversity: case studies of wildlife
231	conservation Quo Vadis Rehavioural Riology? Past Present and Future of an Evolving
	Science Nova Acta Leonoldina 111-156
252	Madzwamuse, M. (2007). Resource management, land tenure and land rights: The case of
	Basarwa communities. Natural Resource Management and People in Botswana, IUCN,
	Gaborone, Botswana.
253	Madzwamuse, M. (2010). Adaptive or Anachronistic? Maintaining Indigenous Natural
	Resource Governance Systems in Northern Botswana. Community Rights, Conservation and
	Contested Land, 241.
254	Magole, L. I., & Magole, L. (2011). From Community Based to Community Driven; The
	evolution of the Commons Management in the Okavango Delta, Botswana.
255	Makuvaza, S. (2016). The management of the Matobo Hills in Zimbabwe: perceptions of the
	indigenous communities on their involvement and use of traditional conservation practices.
	Leiden University Press.
256	Mamba, H. S., Randhir, T. O., & Fuller, T. K. (2020). Community attitudes and perceptions
	concerning minoceros poaching and conservation: A case study in eSwatini. African Journal
257	Of Wildlife Research, 50(1). Mandudza, W. C. (2010), Paopla and Parke: On the Palationship Batwaan Community.
251	Development and Nature Conservation Amid Climate Change in South-Fastern Zimbabwa
	In Climate Change-Resilient Agriculture and Agroforestry (pp. 471-491) Springer Cham
258	Mansourian S Higgins-Zogih L Dudley N & Stolton S (2008) Poverty and protected
250	areas Protected Areas in Today's World. Their Values and Renefits for the Welfare of the
	Planet. 18.
259	Manwa, H., & Manwa, F. (2014). Poverty alleviation through pro-poor tourism. The role of
	Botswana forest reserves. Sustainability, 6(9), 5697-5713.
260	Manyena, S. B., Collins, A. E., Mudimba, F., & Mudimba, D. (2013. March). 'Are vou serious
	to ask me about who owns wildlife?'Politics of autonomy over wildlife resources in the

	Zambezi Valley, Zimbabwe. In <i>Forum for Development Studies</i> (Vol. 40, No. 1, pp. 87-109). Routledge.
261	Mapedza, E. (2007). Keeping CAMPFIRE going: Political uncertainty and natural resource management in Zimbabwe.
262	Marker, L., & Fund, C. C. (2005). Conservation of the Cheetah in Namibia. <i>Cheetah Conservation Fund. Annual Progress report. Otjiwarongo, Namibia.</i>
263	Masilo-Rakgoasi, R. (2002). Assessment of the community-based natural resource management approach and its impact on the Basarwa: the case of Xaixai and Gudigwa communities. <i>Pula: Botswana Journal of African Studies</i> , <i>16</i> (2), 162-166.
264	Massé, F. (2013). Wildlife, cattle, and people in the limpopo national park: a more-than-human political ecology of conservation-induced displacement and resettlement.
265	Massé, F. (2016). The political ecology of human-wildlife conflict: Producing wilderness, insecurity, and displacement in the Limpopo National Park. <i>Conservation and society</i> , <i>14</i> (2), 100-111.
266	Matose, F., & Watts, S. (2010). Towards community-based forest management in Southern Africa: do decentralization experiments work for local livelihoods?. <i>Environmental Conservation</i> , 310-319.
267	Matseketsa, G., Chibememe, G., Muboko, N., Gandiwa, E., & Takarinda, K. (2018). Towards an understanding of conservation-based costs, benefits, and attitudes of local people living adjacent to Save Valley conservancy, Zimbabwe. <i>Scientifica</i> , 2018.
268	Maughan Brown, A. M. (1998). <i>Revisiting community based natural resource management: a case study of the Tchuma Tchato project in Tete Province, Mozambique</i> (Doctoral dissertation).
269	MAVIS, T. (2019). MANAGING ENVIRONMENT FROM BELOW: THE MATERIALITY OF COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION FOR ECOLOGICAL SUSTAINABILITY IN ZIMBABWE. Ethiopian Journal of Environmental Studies & Management, 12(3).
270	Mayberry, A. (2015). <i>Human dimensions of human-elephant conflict in Botswana: Exploring visible and hidden well-being impacts</i> (Doctoral dissertation).
271	Mayberry, A. L., Hovorka, A. J., & Evans, K. E. (2017). Well-being impacts of human-elephant conflict in Khumaga, Botswana: exploring visible and hidden dimensions. <i>Conservation and Society</i> , <i>15</i> (3), 280-291.
272	Mbaiwa, J. (2011). The effects of tourism development on the sustainable utilisation of natural resources in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. <i>Current Issues in Tourism</i> , <i>14</i> (3), 251-273.
273	Mbaiwa, J. E. (2003). The socio-economic and environmental impacts of tourism development on the Okavango Delta, north-western Botswana. <i>Journal of arid environments</i> , 54(2), 447-467.
274	Mbaiwa, J. E. (2004). The success and sustainability of community-based natural resource management in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. <i>South African Geographical Journal</i> , 86(1), 44-53.
275	Mbaiwa, J. E. (2005). Enclave tourism and its socio-economic impacts in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. <i>Tourism management</i> , <i>26</i> (2), 157-172.
276	Mbaiwa, J. E. (2005). The problems and prospects of sustainable tourism development in the Okavango Delta, Botswana, <i>Journal of sustainable Tourism</i> , 13(3), 203-227.
277	Mbaiwa, J. E. (2005). Wildlife resource utilisation at Moremi Game Reserve and Khwai community area in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. <i>Journal of environmental management</i> , 77(2), 144-156.
278	Mbaiwa, J. E. (2007). Local community attitudes towards wildlife conservation and community based natural resources management in Ngamiland District, Botswana. <i>Natural resources management and people</i> , 19-26.
279	Mbaiwa, J. E. (2008). Tourism development, rural livelihoods, and conservation in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. Texas A&M University.
280	Mbaiwa, J. E. (2011). Changes on traditional livelihood activities and lifestyles caused by tourism development in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. <i>Tourism management</i> , 32(5), 1050-1060.

281	Mbaiwa, J. E. (2015). Community-based natural resource management in Botswana.
	In Institutional arrangements for conservation, development and tourism in Eastern and Southern Africa (pp. 59-80). Springer Dordrecht
282	Mbaiwa, J. E. (2018). Effects of the safari hunting tourism ban on rural livelihoods and wildlife
	conservation in Northern Botswana. South African Geographical Journal, 100(1), 41-61.
283	Mbaiwa, J. E., & Kolawole, O. D. (2013). Tourism and biodiversity conservation: the case of
	community-based natural resource management in Southern Africa. CAB Reviews, 8(10), 1-10.
284	Mbaiwa, J. E., & Stronza, A. L. (2010). The effects of tourism development on rural livelihoods
	in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. Journal of sustainable tourism, 18(5), 635-656.
285	Mbaiwa, J. E., & Stronza, A. L. (2011). Changes in resident attitudes towards tourism
	development and conservation in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. Journal of environmental
286	Mhaiwa I F Thakadu O T & Darkoh M B K (2008) Indigenous knowledge and
200	ecotourism-based livelihoods in the Okavango Delta in Botswana <i>Botswana Notes and</i>
	Records, 62-74.
287	McGregor, J. (2005). Crocodile crimes: people versus wildlife and the politics of postcolonial
	conservation on Lake Kariba, Zimbabwe. Geoforum, 36(3), 353-369.
288	McNeely, J. A. (1993). Economic incentives for conserving biodiversity: lessons for
	Africa. Ambio, 144-150.
289	McNutt, J. W., Stein, A. B., McNutt, L. B., & Jordan, N. R. (2018). Living on the edge:
	characteristics of human–wildlife conflict in a traditional livestock community in D_{a}
200	Bolswalla. Wildlije Research, 44(7), 540-557. Mdhlano, S. E. Gandiwa, E. Muhoko, N. & Mashana, C. (2018). Local knowledge and
290	perceptions of vulture conservation in communities living
291	Mearns, K. (2015). Applying sustainable tourism indicators to community-based ecotourism
	ventures in southern Africa. Athens Journal of Tourism, 2(3), 179-194.
292	Meer, T. (2010). Finding the community in community-base natural resource management: the
	case of Ndumo Game Reserve, South Africa (Doctoral dissertation).
293	Meer, T., & Schnurr, M. A. (2013). The community versus community-based natural resource
	management: the case of Ndumo game reserve, South Africa. Canadian Journal of
204	Development Studies/Revue canadienne d'etudes du developpement, 34(4), 482-497.
294	communities in three southern African initiatives. In workshop on transhoundary protected
	areas in the governance Stream of the 5th World Parks Congress Durban South Africa (Vol
	12, p. 13).
295	Mfune, O. (2012). From fortresses to sustainable development: the changing face of
	environmental conservation in Africa, the case of Zambia (Doctoral dissertation, University of
	Glasgow).
296	Mhuriro-Mashapa, P., Mwakiwa, E., & Mashapa, C. (2018). Socio-economic impact of human-
	wildlife conflicts on agriculture based livelihood in the periphery of Save Valley Conservancy,
207	Southern Zimbabwe. The Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences, 28(3), 905-914. Milgroom, L. (2012), Elaphants of damograpy: An unfolding process of resultingment in the
291	Limpopo National Park.
298	Milgroom, J. (2015). Policy processes of a land grab: At the interface of politics 'in the air'and
	politics 'on the ground'in Massingir, Mozambique. Journal of Peasant Studies, 42(3-4), 585-
	606.
299	Milgroom, J., & Spierenburg, M. (2008). Induced volition: Resettlement from the Limpopo
200	National Park, Mozambique. <i>Journal of Contemporary African Studies</i> , 26(4), 435-448.
300	Mirja, S., Göttert, T., Mann, C., & Zeller, U. (2020). Transfrontier Conservation Areas and
	Human-wildlife Conflict: The Case of the Namibian Component of the Kavango-Zambezi $(KAZA)$ TECA Scientific Reports (Nature Publisher Crown) 10(1)
301	(MALA) ITCA. Scientific Reports (Numler Lubisher Group), 10(1). Mkhwanazi N S (2018) Synergy between protected conservation areas and community
501	development: The case of Hluhluwe-Imfolozi Game Reserve KwaZulu-Natal Province South
	Africa (Doctoral dissertation, University of Pretoria).

302	Modise, O. M., Lekoko, R. N., Thakadu, O. T., & Mpotokwane, M. A. (2018). Toward
	Sustainable Conservation and Management of Human-wildlife Interactions in the Mmadinare
	Region of Botswana: Villagers' Perceptions on Challenges and Prospects. Human-Wildlife
	Interactions, 12(2), 8.
303	Mogaka, H. (2001). Economic aspects of community involvement in sustainable forest
	management in Eastern and Southern Africa (No. 8). IUCN.
304	Mogende, E. (2016). The politics of Kavango-Zambezi (KAZA) TFCA in Botswana (Doctoral
	dissertation, University of Cape Town).
305	Mogende, E., & Kolawole, O. (2016, August). Dynamics of local governance in natural
	resource conservation in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. In Natural Resources Forum (Vol.
	40, No. 3, pp. 93-102). Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
306	Mohamed-Katerere, J. (2001). Participatory natural resource management in the communal
	lands of Zimbabwe: What role for customary law. African Studies Quarterly, 5(3), 115-138.
307	Mombeshora, S., & Le Bel, S. (2009). Parks-people conflicts: the case of Gonarezhou National
	Park and the Chitsa community in south-east Zimbabwe. Biodiversity and
	Conservation, 18(10), 2601-2623.
308	Mombeshora, S., & Le Bel, S. (2010, June). Community based game ranching and politics in
	Chiriwo Ward of Mbire District, Zimbabwe.
309	Moore, L. E. (2010). Conservation heroes versus environmental villains: perceiving elephants
	in Caprivi, Namibia. Human Ecology, 38(1), 19-29.
310	Mopelwa, G., & Blignaut, J. N. (2006). The Okavango Delta. The value of tourism:
	economic. South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences, 9(1), 113-127.
311	Mosetlhi, B. B. T. (2017). The influence of Chobe national park on people" s livelihoods and
	conservation behaviors. Botswana documents.
312	Mosimane, A. W., & Aribeb, K. M. (2005). Exclusion through defined membership in people-
	centered natural resources management: Who defines?.
313	Mosimane, A. W., & Silva, J. A. (2015). Local governance institutions, CBNRM, and benefit-
014	sharing systems in Namibian conservancies. <i>Journal of Sustainable Development</i> , 8(2), 99.
314	Moswete, N., & Inapa, B. (2015). Factors that influence support for community-based
	Potession Lournal of Factourism $14(2,2)$ 242 262
315	Botswand. Journal of Ecolourism, $14(2-3)$, $243-203$. Moswate N. Nkape K. & Tsame M. (2017). Wildlife tourism safaris, vehicle decongestion
515	routes and impact mitigation at Chobe National Park Botswana In Wildlife tourism
	environmental learning and ethical encounters (pp. 71-88) Springer Cham
316	Mramba S I (2004) The peace parks initiative: a breakthrough towards sustainable natural
510	resource management in Southern Africa? South African Journal of Environmental Law and
	Policy, 11(2), 213-235.
317	Muboko, N., & Bradshaw, G. J. (2018). Towards resolving local community and protected area
	management conflicts: Lessons from the Chitsa community and Gonarezhou National Park,
	Zimbabwe. Int. J. Dev. Confl, 8, 62-79.
318	Muchapondwa, E. (2001). An overview of community based wildlife conservation in
	Zimbabwe. Goteborg University, Sweden.
319	Muchapondwa, E. (2003). The economics of community-based wildlife conservation in
	<i>Zimbabwe</i> (No. 130).
320	Muchapondwa, E., & Ngwaru, T. (2010). Modelling fugitive natural resources in the context
	of transfrontier parks: Under what conditions will conservation be successful in Africa (No.
	170).
321	Mudimba, T., & Tichaawa, T. M. (2019). Perceptions of Local Residents and Authorities on
	Human-wildlife Coexistence in Zimbabwe (Doctoral dissertation, University of Johannesburg).
322	Mufudza, P. (2016). Impact of income generating projects on the rural livelihoods: the case of
	Mwenezi Fish Conservation Project, Zimbabwe (Doctoral dissertation, University of
	Limpopo).

323	Mugadza, A. T. (2012). Biodiversity conservation through Transfrontier Conservation Areas
	(TFCAs) and the rights of local communities: reconciliation through sustainable
224	<i>development</i> (Doctoral dissertation, North-west University). Multiplication $M_{\rm e}$ Colleville K (2012) Easters offacting the success of concerning his diversity.
324	in national parks: A raview of case studies from Africa International Journal of
	Riodiversity 2013
325	Mulonga S & Murphy C A (2003) Spending the money: The experience of conservancy
020	benefit distribution in Namibia up to mid-2003 (No. 63). Windhoek, Namibia: Directorate of
	Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism.
326	Mulonga, S., Suich, H., & Murphy, C. A. (2003). The conflict continues: Human wildlife
	conflict and livelihoods in Caprivi. Directorate of Envirnomental Affairs, Ministry of
	Environment and Tourism.
327	Munthali, S. M. (2007, February). Transfrontier conservation areas: Integrating biodiversity
	and poverty alleviation in Southern Africa. In <i>Natural resources forum</i> (Vol. 31, No. 1, pp. 51-
278	00). OXIORI, UK: Blackwell Publishing Ltd. Muntifering L P. Clerk S. Linkleter W. L. Hebeeh F. Clerte L. Jacobs S. & Knight A.
328	Multifiering, J. K., Clark, S., Linklater, W. L., Hebach, E., Cloele, J., Jacobs, S., & Kilight, A. T. (2020). Lessons from a conservation and tourism cooperative: the Namibian black
	rhinoceros case. Annals of Tourism Research, 82, 102918.
329	Muposhi, V. K., Gandiwa, E., Bartels, P., & Makuza, S. M. (2016). Trophy hunting,
	conservation, and rural development in Zimbabwe: issues, options, and
	implications. International Journal of Biodiversity, 2016.
330	Murombedzi, J. C. (2010). Agrarian social change and post-colonial natural resource
	management interventions in southern Africa's 'communal tenure'regimes. Community rights,
	conservation and contested land: The politics of natural resource governance in Africa, 32-51.
331	Murphree, M. W. (1996). Wildlife in sustainable development: approaches to community
222	participation. Member $Q_{1}(2002)$ C_{1} is in K_{2} A_{2} in G_{1}^{2} C_{2} is a U_{1} U_{2} U_{2}
332	Murphy, C. (2005). Community tourism in Kunene: A review of five case studies for the WILD
333	<i>Project</i> (No. 04). Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism. Murphy $C_{\rm e} A_{\rm e}$ (2008). Living in a Global Commons, the case of residents of a national park in
555	the Kayango-Zambezi Transfrontier Conservation Area (KaZa TFCA) southern Africa
334	Murphy, C. A., & Suich, H. (2003). Mashi Craft Marketcrafts and Livelihoods in
	<i>Caprivi</i> (No. 57). Windhoek: Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment
	and Tourism.
335	Musavengane, R., & Leonard, L. (2019). When race and social equity matters in nature
	conservation in post-apartheid South Africa. Conservation & Society, 17(2), 135-146.
336	Mutandwa, E., & Gadzirayi, C. T. (2007). Impact of community-based approaches to wildlife
	management: case study of the CAMPFIRE programme in Zimbabwe. The International
227	Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology, 14(4), 336-344.
337	Mulanga, C. N., Mudoko, N., & Gandiwa, E. (2017). Protected area stall and local community viewnoints: A qualitative assessment of conservation relationships in Zimbabwe Plas
	2 one 12(5) e0177153
338	MUTEKWA V (2016) FOREST GOVERNANCE CONSERVATION AND LIVELIHOODS:
550	THE CASE OF FOREST PROTECTED AREAS AND LOCAL COMMUNITIES IN NORTH-
	WESTERN ZIMBABWE (Doctoral dissertation, RHODES UNIVERSITY).
339	Muyengwa, S. (2015). Determinants of individual level satisfaction with community based
	natural resources management: A case of five communities in Namibia. Environments, 2(4),
	608-623.
340	Muzeza, D. (2013). The impact of institutions of governance on communities' livelihoods and
	sustainable conservation in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Park (GLTP): the study of
	Makuleke and Sengwe communities (Doctoral dissertation, Cape Peninsula University of
211	1 ecnnology). Muzianski L M & Maassa K E (2015) Asting supervisite methicity in i
341	MUZITATION, J. M., & MEATINS, K. F. (2015). Active community participation in nature conservation and tourism management: A case study analysis of the state of power relations in
	conservation and tourism management. A case study analysis of the state of power relations in

	Southern Africa. <i>The Environment People Nexus in Sustainable Tourism: Finding the Balance</i> , 35.
342	Muzirambi, J. M., & Mearns, K. F. (2018). Charity or Partnership? Striking a relational balance in wildlife conservation and ecotourism development. <i>Journal of Tourism and Hospitality Management</i> , 6(2), 80-92.
343	Muzirambi, J. M., & Mearns, K. F. (2018). Management of cost and benefit sharing in protected areas: a case of Phinda private game reserve, Umkhanyakude District, Kwazulu-Natal. <i>Collaboration & Co-creation Opportunities in Tourism</i> , 91.
344	Myburgh, K. (2003). Community participation and sustainable development in the establishment of the Ai-/ Ais/Richtersveld Transfrontier Conservation Park (Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University).
345	Naidoo, R., Weaver, L. C., Diggle, R. W., Matongo, G., Stuart-Hill, G., & Thouless, C. (2016). Complementary benefits of tourism and hunting to communal conservancies in Namibia. <i>Conservation Biology</i> , <i>30</i> (3), 628-638.
346	Namanha, L. D. S. (1999). Artisanal fishing and community based resource management: a case study of Tchuma Tchato project in Mozambique (Doctoral dissertation).
347	Nepal, S. K. (1997). Sustainable tourism, protected areas and livelihood needs of local communities in developing countries. <i>The International Journal of Sustainable Development</i> & <i>World Ecology</i> , 4(2), 123-135.
348	Newsham, A. (2002). <i>Participation: Process, Problematics and CAMPFIRE</i> . Edinburgh University, Centre of African Studies.
349	Newsham, A. (2007). Knowing and deciding: Participation in conservation and development initiatives in Namibia and Argentina.
350	Ngonidzashe Mutanga, C., Vengesayi, S., Gandiwa, E., & Muboko, N. (2015). Community perceptions of wildlife conservation and tourism: A case study of communities adjacent to four protected areas in Zimbabwe. <i>Tropical Conservation Science</i> , 8(2), 564-582.
351	Ngwenya, B. N., & Kgathi, D. L. (2005). Community based natural resource management and social sustainability in Ngamiland, Botswana.
352	Nhancale, C. C. (2007). Participatory governance for sustainable management of natural resources in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Park: The case of Parque Nacional do Limpopo, Moçambique (Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: University of Stellenbosch).
353	Nijhawan, S. (2008). Understanding human-large carnivore conflict in Chobe, Botswana (Doctoral dissertation, Thesis (MSc), Duke University, Durham).
354	Nilsson, D., Baxter, G., Butler, J. R., & McAlpine, C. A. (2016). How do community-based conservation programs in developing countries change human behaviour? A realist synthesis. <i>Biological Conservation</i> , 200, 93-103.
355	Njiru, L. M. (2007). Understanding the effects of a protected area on livelihoods of a neighbouring local community: a case study of Mokolodi Nature Reserve, Botswana (Doctoral dissertation).
356	No, B. (2013). The Politics of Wellbeing, Conservation and Development in Chiawa, Zambia.
357	Noga, S. R., Kolawole, O. D., Thakadu, O. T., & Masunga, G. S. (2018). 'Wildlife officials only care about animals': Farmers' perceptions of a Ministry-based extension delivery system in mitigating human-wildlife conflicts in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. <i>Journal of rural studies</i> , <i>61</i> , 216-226.
358	Nott, C., & Jacobsohn, M. (2004). Key issues in Namibia's communal conservancy movement. <i>Rights, resources and rural development: Community-based natural resource management in Southern Africa</i> , 194-199.
359	Nott, C., Davis, A., & Roman, B. (2004). The Torra Conservancy in Namibia. <i>Rights, resources and rural development: community-based natural resource management in Southern Africa</i> , 199-209.
360	Novelli, M., & Gebhardt, K. (2007). Community based tourism in Namibia: 'Reality show'or 'window dressing'?. <i>Current Issues in Tourism</i> , <i>10</i> (5), 443-479.

361	Nsukwini, S. B.(2018). Tourism development as a poverty alleviation strategy in community-
	owned conservation areas: a case study of a protected area in KwaZulu-Natal. Collaboration &
	Co-creation Opportunities in Tourism, 91.
362	Ntuli, H. (2015). An economic and institutional analysis of community wildlife conservation in
	Zimbabwe (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Town).
363	Ntuli, H., & Muchapondwa, E. (2017). A bioeconomic analysis of community wildlife
0.64	conservation in Zimbabwe. <i>Journal for Nature Conservation</i> , 37, 106-121.
364	Ntuli, H., & Muchapondwa, E. (2018). The role of institutions in community wildlife
265	Conservation in Zimbadwe. International journal of the commons, 12(1).
305	Ntuli, H., Jagers, S. C., Linell, A., Sjostedt, M., & Muchapondwa, E. (2019). Factors
	resources: the case of the Great Limpone Trans frontier Conservation Area. <i>Biodiversity and</i>
	Conservation 28(11) 2977-3003
366	Ntuli H Muchapondwa F & Okumu B (2018) Can local communities afford full control
500	over wildlife conservation? The Case of CAMPFIRE in Zimbabwe (No. 766)
367	Ntumi C P (2012) A landscape approach to elephant conservation in Mozambiaue (Doctoral
507	dissertation. University of Pretoria).
368	Nustad, K. G. (2013). 'Property' and 'Rights' in a South African Land Claim Case. In: Worlds
	of human rights: the ambiguities of rights claiming in Africa. Brill. (Eds. Derman, B., Hellum,
	A. & Sandvik, K.).2013
369	Nuulimba, K., & Taylor, J. J. (2015). 25 years of CBNRM in Namibia: A retrospective on
	accomplishments, contestation and contemporary challenges. Journal of Namibian Studies:
	History Politics Culture, 18, 89-110.
370	Nyaruwata, S. (2011). TOURISM, BIODIVERSITY CONSERVATION AND RURAL
	COMMUNITIES IN ZIMBABWE. Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa, 13(8), 225-
0.51	
371	Oberholzer, S., Saayman, M., Saayman, A., & Slabbert, E. (2010). The socio-economic impact
270	of Africa's oldest marine park. <i>Koedoe</i> , 52(1), 1-9.
512	conservation paradigm: can agricultural communities co-exist with elephants? A five-year case
	study in East Caprivi Namibia <i>Biological conservation</i> 93(3) 381-391
373	O'Connor, A. (2018). Strengthening conservation through localized definitions of wellbeing:
	understanding what is meant by'A Good Life'in Namibia's Zambezi Region (Doctoral
	dissertation, University of British Columbia).
374	Odendaal, N., & Shaw, D. (2010). Conservation and economic lessons learned from managing
	the Namibrand Nature Reserve. Great Plains Research, 29-36.
375	Osborn, L. (1998). Elephant/human conflict around Maputo elephant reserve,
	Mozambique. Department of Zoology, University of Cambridge, IUCN, Maputo.
376	Oviedo, G., Van Griethuysen, P., & Larsen, P. B. (2006). Poverty, equity and rights in
077	<i>conservation: technical paper and case studies.</i> Graduate Institute of Development Studies.
311	Paksi, A., & Pyhälä, A. (2018). Socio-economic impacts of a national park on local indigenous
	Ivennoods: The case of the Bwabwata National Park in Namibia. Senti Ethnological Studios 00, 107,214
378	DADK T & THONDHI ANA C (2011) DDVI AND CONSEDVATION ADEAS
578	INDIGENOUS PEOPLE I IVELIHOODS AND
379	Parry D C & Campbell B M (1990) Wildlife management areas of Botswana <i>Botswana</i>
517	Notes and Records, 65-77.
380	Parry, D., & Campbell, B. (1992). Attitudes of rural communities to animal wildlife and its
	utilization in Chobe Enclave and Mababe Depression, Botswana. Environmental
	conservation, 19(3), 245-252.
381	Parviainen, T. (2012). Role of community forestry in rural livelihood and poverty alleviation
	in Ohangwena and Caprivi Regions in Namibia.
382	Pellis, A., Van der Duim, V., Meyer, D., Saarinen, J., & Zellmer, K. (2011). Modern and
	traditional arrangements in community-based tourism: Exploring an election conflict in the

	Anabeb conservancy, Namibia. New alliances for tourism, conservation and development in Eastern and Southern Africa, 127-46.
383	Pettersson, R. (2014). Conservation for development: a literature study of the socioeconomic effects of the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area.
384	Phuthego, T. C., & Chanda, R. (2004). Traditional ecological knowledge and community-based
	natural resource management: lessons from a Botswana wildlife management area. Applied
	<i>Geography</i> , 24(1), 57-76.
385	Pienaar, E. F., Jarvis, L. S., & Larson, D. M. (2013). Creating direct incentives for wildlife
	conservation in community-based natural resource management programmes in Botswana. <i>The</i>
201	Journal of Development Studies, 49(3), 315-333.
386	Plotzki, S. (2019). IS TRANSFRONTIER CONSERVATION OVERCOMING THE
	PITFALLS OF LARGE-SCALE COLLECTIVE ACTION? A case study of the Great
297	Deputracy C & Spangeley A (2001) Practical strategies for pro poor tourism wilderness
38/	Pouliney, C., & Spenceley, A. (2001). Practical strategies for pro-poor tourism, wilderness
388	Sataris South Africa. Rockian Day and Nutritu Louge.
500	Cusack I I (2020) A multispecies assessment of wildlife impacts on local community
	livelihoods. Conservation Biology.
389	Rasoazanabary, E. (2011). The human factor in mouse lemur (Microcebus griseorufus)
	conservation: local resource utilization and habitat disturbance at Beza Mahafaly, SW
	Madagascar (Doctoral dissertation, University of Massachusetts Amherst).
390	Ratshivhadelo, T. (2018). A study of land use conflicts in Mapungubwe area (Doctoral
	dissertation).
391	Reid, H., Fig, D., Magome, H., & Leader-Williams, N. (2004). Co-management of contractual
202	national parks in South Africa: Lessons from Australia. <i>Conservation and Society</i> , 377-409.
392	Richard, A. F., & Ratsirarson, J. (2013). Partnership in practice: making conservation work at
	Beza Manaraly, southwest Madagascar. <i>Madagascar Conservation & Development</i> , 8(1), 12-20.
393	Rihoy, E. (1998). Natural resource tenure in Southern Africa: An overview of key issues and
	policy options for communal areas in southern Africa. Oxfam.
394	Rihoy, E., & Maguranyanga, B. (2007). Devolution and democratisation of natural resource
	management in southern Africa: a comparative analysis of CBNRM policy processes in
	Botswana and Zimbabwe.
395	Rihoy, L., & Maguranyanga, B. (2010). The politics of community-based natural resource
	management in Botswana. Community rights, conservation and contested land: The politics of
206	natural resource governance in Africa, 55-78.
390	resilience in Zimbabwe's CAMPEIRE programme Community Rights Conservation and
	contested Land: the Politics of Natural Resource Governance in Africa.
397	Robins, S., & Waal, K. V. D. (2008). 'Model tribes' and iconic conservationists? The Makuleke
	restitution case in Kruger National Park. Development and Change, 39(1), 53-72.
398	Roe, D. (2015). Conservation, crime and communities: case studies of efforts to engage local.
399	Roe, D., Grieg-Gran, M., & Schalken, W. (2001). GETTING THE LION'S SHARE FROM
	TOURISM: PRIVATE SECTOR-COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS IN NAMIBIA Volume.
	International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED).
400	Rogerson, C. M. (2006). Pro-poor local economic development in South Africa: The role of
10.	pro-poor tourism. <i>Local environment</i> , <i>11</i> (1), 37-60.
401	Rutina, L., Mosepele, K., & Masunga, G. (2016). CHALLENGES FACING NATURAL
	KESUUKCES MANAGEMENT: HUMAN-WILDLIFE CO-EXISTENCE IN THE
402	UKAVANGU DELIA, BUISWAINA. <i>aeita</i> , 23(20), 27. Pulance A. & Spanoolov A (2014) Creating Lyvyry Ecotoprism with the Level Community
402	Case Study <i>Endeva</i> : GIZ
403	Rylance, A., & Spenceley, A. (2014). Strong community partnership through long term leasing
	Case Study. Endeva: GIZ.

404	Rylance, A., & Spenceley, A. (2016). Applying inclusive business approaches to nature-based
	tourism in Namibia and South Africa. Turizam: međunarodni znanstveno-stručni
405	<i>časopis</i> , 64(4), 371-383.
405	Saarinen, J. (2010). Local tourism awareness: community views in Katutura and King Nehale
406	Conservancy, Namiola. Development Southern Africa, 27(5), 715-724.
400	communities? Development Southern Africa, 20(4), 588,600
407	Salerno I Bailey K Gaughan A F Stevens F R Hilton T Cassidy I & Hartter I
107	(2020). Wildlife impacts and vulnerable livelihoods in a transfrontier conservation
	landscape. Conservation Biology.
408	Salomão, A. (2006). Towards people-centered woodland management in Mozambique: can this
	make a difference?: community-based natural resources management in miombo forest in
	Mozambique and the fight against poverty.
409	Samantha Garvin, M. The jumbo problem of living with elephants: Varying perspectives on
	human-elephant conflict in Chobe District, Botswana.
410	Sammy, J. (2001). Conflicts in the Co-management of Community Development and
	Conservation in the Northern Okavango Panhandle, Botswana. University of Northern British
	Columbia, International Studies. Master thesis-,(2006. May 6th): "On internal conflict" [e-
411	mail to Margrethe Haug][online].—Available through e-mail: worldmingler@ yahoo. ca.
411	Saminiy, J., & Opio, C. (2005). Problems and prospects for conservation and indigenous community development in rural Botawana, Davelopment Southern Africa, $22(1)$, 67.95
412	Community development in Tutal Botswalla. Development Southern Africa, 22(1), 07-85. Scanlon L L & Kull C A (2000) Untangling the links between wildlife benefits and
412	community-based conservation at Torra Conservancy Namibia Development Southern
	Africa, 26(1), 75-93.
413	Schiffer, E. (2004). Community Based Natural Resource Management in Namibia: How Does
	<i>it Influence Local Governance?</i> (Doctoral dissertation, Univ).
414	Schiffer, E. (2004). How Does Community-based Natural Resource Management in Namibia
	Change the Distribution of Power and Influence?: Preliminary Findings (No. 67). Directorate
	of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism.
415	Schnegg, M., & Kiaka, R. D. (2018). Subsidized elephants: Community-based resource
	governance and environmental (in) justice in Namibia. <i>Geoforum</i> , 93, 105-115.
416	Scholte, P. (2003). Immigration: a potential time bomb under the integration of conservation
417	and development. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 32(1), 58-64.
41/	Schuernolz, G. (2006). KAZA IFCA PROJECT EXTERNAL REVIEW 2006.
418	Schuerholz, G., & Baldus, R. (2007, September). Community based wildlife management in
	support of transfrontier conservation: the Selous-Massa and Kawango Upper Zamoezi challenges In Parks Pages and Partnership conference (pp. 9-12)
/10	Schuster B & Thakadu O T (2007) Natural Resource Management and People CBNRM
717	Support Programme Occasional Paper No. 15.
420	Sebele, L. S. (2005). The social impacts of community-based tourism: a case study of Khama
_	<i>Rhino Sanctuary Trust in the Central District of Botswana</i> (Doctoral dissertation).
421	Sebele, L. S. (2010). Community-based tourism ventures, benefits and challenges: Khama
	rhino sanctuary trust, central district, Botswana. Tourism management, 31(1), 136-146.
422	Sebotho, D. L., & Toteng, E. N. (2010). Exploring prospects for enhancing community
	participation in protected area management: a case study of the Moremi Game Reserve
	area. Botswana Notes and Records, 100-111.
423	Seddon, N., Butchart, S., Tobias, J., Yount, J. W., Rémi Ramanampamonjy, J., &
	Kandrianizahana, H. (2000). Conservation issues and priorities in the Mikea Forest of south- west Madagasaan $O_{\rm min}$ $\frac{24(4)}{287}$ 204
424	west initial gase A. f_{r} Roitumele W. S. (2018). Community based comel costantian in
424	Botswana: Current status and future perspectives. <i>Journal of Camelid Science</i> , 11, 22, 49
425	Selier I & Page B (2014) DRY SEASON FIXED_WING AFRIAL SURVEY OF LADGE
74J	MAMMALS IN THE NORTHERN TULI GAME RESERVE AND MAPUNGURWE
	NATIONAL PARK AND OF ELEPHANTS IN THE GREATER MAPUNGUBWE

	TRANSFRONTIER CONSERVATION AREA, BOTSWANA, SOUTH AFRICA AND ZIMBABWE AUGUST 2014
426	Sellamuttu, S. S., de Silva, S., Khoa, S. N., & Samarakoon, J. (2008). Good practices and lessons learned in integrating ecosystem conservation and poverty reduction objectives in wetlands. <i>Wetlands and Poverty Reduction Project. International Water Management Institute, Colombo</i> .
427	Shackleton, S., & Campbell, B. (Eds.). (2000). Empowering communities to manage natural
	resources: case studies from Southern Africa (p. 200). SADC Natural Resources Management
	Programme.
428	Shackleton, S., Campbell, B., Wollenberg, E., & Edmunds, D. (2002). Devolution and community-based natural resource management: Creating space for local people to participate and benefit. <i>Natural resource perspectives</i> , 76(1), 1-6.
429	Shaffer, L. J. (2009). Human–environment interactions on a coastal forest-savanna mosaic in
100	Southern Mozambique.
430	Shinn, J. E. (2016). Adaptive environmental governance of changing social-ecological systems:
	Empirical insights from the Okavango Delta, Botswana. Global Environmental Change, 40,
401	50-59.
431	Shongwe, L. B. (2007). The implications of transfrontier conservation areas: a comparative
	policy analysis study of sustainable development in South Africa between the great Limpopo
	dissertation University of Pretoria)
432	Siamundele S (2011) The Impact of Community-Based Wildlife Management Model on Food
	Security as Proxy Indicator for Human Development in Game Management Areas in
	Zambia (Doctoral dissertation, Dissertation for the Award of Master Degree of Arts in Natural
	Resources and Peace of the University for Peace, Zambia).
433	Sibanda, M. (2010). The urban and rural spaces: consequences of nature conservation and the
	rural to urban migration: a case of the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area,
	Zimbabwe Sector. Journal of Sociology and Social Anthropology, 1(1-2), 23-32.
434	Sibanda, M. (2015). Realms of conservation or "wildlife liberation": a case of Sengwe in Zimbabwe. <i>Social Dynamics</i> , <i>41</i> (2), 253-272.
435	Sillero-Zubiri, C., & Laurenson, M. K. (2001). Interactions between carnivores and local
	communities: Conflict or co-existence?. CONSERVATION BIOLOGY SERIES-CAMBRIDGE-
	, 282-312.
436	Silva, J. A., & Khatiwada, L. K. (2014). Transforming conservation into cash? Nature tourism
137	Silva I. A. & Mosimane A. (2014). "How could I live here and not be a member?": economic
437	versus social drivers of participation in Namibian conservation programs Human
	Ecology, 42(2), 183-197.
438	Silva, J. A., & Mosimane, A. W. (2013). Conservation-based rural development in Namibia: a
	mixed-methods assessment of economic benefits. The Journal of Environment &
	Development, 22(1), 25-50.
439	Simelane, L. (2018). Environmental justice and development projects: a case study of a
	landscape approach to biodiversity conservation in the Eco-Lubombo programme-
	Swaziland (Doctoral dissertation).
440	Simelane, T. S., Kerley, G. I. H., & Knight, M. H. (2006). Reflections on the relationships
	between communities and conservation areas of South Africa: The case of five South African
	national parks. <i>Koedoe</i> , 49(2), 85-102.
441	Simpson, M. C. (2009). An integrated approach to assess the impacts of tourism on community
4.40	development and sustainable livelihoods. Community development journal, 44(2), 186-208.
442	Sims-Castley, K., Kerley, G. I., Geach, B., & Langholz, J. (2005). Socio-economic significance
	Drovince Parks 15(2) 6.18
1/13	Sinthumule N. I. (2014) Land use change and hordering in the Greater Manunoubus
545	Transfrontier Conservation Area (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Town).

444	Sinthumule, N. I. (2016). Multiple-land use practices in transfrontier conservation areas: the case of Greater Mapungubwe straddling parts of Botswana, South Africa and Zimbabwe. <i>Bulletin of Geography. Socio-economic Series</i> , <i>34</i> (34), 103-115.
445	Sinthumule, N. I. (2017). Unfulfilled promises: An exposition of conservation in the Greater Mapungubwe Transfrontier. <i>Africa Today</i> , <i>64</i> (1), 55-73.
446	Sinthumule, N. I. (2018). Conservation, Displacement and Social Injustice at the South African Section of Greater Mapungubwe Transfrontier. <i>Development and Society</i> , 47(2), 261-284.
447	Sinthumule, N. I. (2020). Borders and border people in the Greater Mapungubwe Transfrontier. <i>Landscape Research</i> , 45(3), 280-291.
448	Snyman, S. (2012). Ecotourism joint ventures between the private sector and communities: An updated analysis of the Torra Conservancy and Damaraland Camp partnership, Namibia. <i>Tourism Management Perspectives</i> , <i>4</i> , 127-135.
449	Snyman, S. (2014). Partnership between a private sector ecotourism operator and a local community in the Okavango Delta, Botswana: The case of the Okavango Community Trust and Wilderness Safaris. <i>Journal of Ecotourism</i> , <i>13</i> (2-3), 110-127.
450	Sommerville, M., Jones, J. P., Rahajaharison, M., & Milner-Gulland, E. J. (2010). The role of fairness and benefit distribution in community-based Payment for Environmental Services interventions: A case study from Menabe, Madagascar. <i>Ecological Economics</i> , 69(6), 1262-1271.
451	Sommerville, M., Milner-Gulland, E. J., Rahajaharison, M., & Jones, J. P. (2010). Impact of a community-based payment for environmental services intervention on forest use in Menabe, Madagascar. <i>Conservation Biology</i> , 24(6), 1488-1498.
452	Spenceley, A. (2003). <i>Tourism, local livelihoods and the private sector in South Africa: case studies on the growing role of the private sector in natural resources management.</i> IDS.
453	Spenceley, A. (2005, August). Tourism in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area. In <i>Relating strategic visions to local activities that promote sustainable tourism development.</i> <i>Transboundary Protected Areas Research Initiative Workshop proceedings, Wits Rural</i> <i>Facility, Kruger National Park</i> (pp. 14-16).
454	Spenceley, A. (2006). Tourism in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Park. <i>Development Southern Africa</i> , 23(5), 649-667.
455	Spenceley, A., & Barnes, J. (2005). Economic Analysis of Rhino Conservation in a Land-Use Context within the SADC. <i>CREDITS</i> :.
456	Spenceley, A., & Goodwin, H. (2007). Nature-based tourism and poverty alleviation: Impacts of private sector and parastatal enterprises in and around Kruger National Park, South Africa. <i>Current Issues in Tourism</i> , <i>10</i> (2-3), 255-277.
457	Spenceley, A., & Seif, J. (2003). <i>Strategies, impacts and costs of pro-poor tourism approaches in South Africa</i> . PPT.
458	Spenceley, A., Dzingirai, P., & Tangawamira, Z. (2008). Economic impacts of transfrontier conservation areas: Tourism in the Greater Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area. A report to the IUCN Southern Africa Sustainable Use Specialist Group and the University of the Witwatersrand.
459	Spenceley, A., Snyman, S., & Rylance, A. (2019). Revenue sharing from tourism in terrestrial African protected areas. <i>Journal of Sustainable Tourism</i> , 27(6), 720-734.
460	Spenceley, A. (2006). ECOTOURISM: Benefits for conservation and local people?. <i>AFRICAN</i> WILDLIFE-EPPINDUST-, 60(3), 16.
461	Spierenburg, M. (2013). 'We agreed to move, but we did not do so freely'. Resettlement from the Limpopo National Park, Mozambique. In <i>Worlds of Human Rights</i> (pp. 101-128). Brill.
462	Spierenburg, M., Steenkamp, C., & Wels, H. (2006). Resistance of local communities against marginalization in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area. <i>Focaal</i> , 2006(47), 18-31.
463	Spierenburg, M., Steenkamp, C., & Wels, H. (2008). Enclosing the local for the global commons: community land rights in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area. <i>Conservation and society</i> , 6(1), 87-97.

464	Steenkamp, C., & Urh, J. (2000). Makuleke Land Claim: Power Relations and Community- based Natural Resource Management. IIED.
465	Stein, A. B., Fuller, T. K., Damery, D. T., Sievert, L., & Marker, L. L. (2010). Farm management and economic analyses of leopard conservation in north-central Namibia. <i>Animal Conservation</i> , <i>13</i> (4), 419-427.
466	Stevens, J. (2018). Understanding human-elephant interactions in and around Makgadikgadi Pans National Park, Botswana (Doctoral dissertation, University of Bristol).
467	Stone, L. S., & Nyaupane, G. P. (2015). Why Africans do not visit their national parks: A case of Botswana. <i>The Environment People Nexus in Sustainable Tourism: Finding the Balance</i> , 56.
468	Stone, L. S., & Stone, T. M. (2011). Community-based tourism enterprises: challenges and prospects for community participation; Khama Rhino Sanctuary Trust, Botswana. <i>Journal of Sustainable Tourism</i> , <i>19</i> (1), 97-114.
469	Stone, M. T. (2006). Community-based natural resources management (CBNRM) and tourism: The Nata Bird Sanctuary Project, Central District, Botswana (Doctoral dissertation, University of the Witwatersrand).
470	Stone, M. T. (2013). <i>Protected areas, tourism and rural community livelihoods in Botswana</i> . Arizona State University.
471	Stone, M. T. (2015). Community empowerment through community-based tourism: the case of Chobe Enclave Conservation Trust in Botswana. In <i>Institutional arrangements for conservation, development and tourism in Eastern and Southern Africa</i> (pp. 81-100). Springer, Dordrecht.
472	Stone, M. T. (2015). Community-based ecotourism: A collaborative partnerships perspective. <i>Journal of Ecotourism</i> , <i>14</i> (2-3), 166-184.
473	Stone, M. T., & Nyaupane, G. P. (2016). Protected areas, tourism and community livelihoods linkages: A comprehensive analysis approach. <i>Journal of Sustainable Tourism</i> , 24(5), 673-693.
474	Stone, M. T., & Nyaupane, G. P. (2018). Protected areas, wildlife-based community tourism and community livelihoods dynamics: spiraling up and down of community capitals. <i>Journal of Sustainable Tourism</i> , 26(2), 307-324.
475	Störmer, N., Weaver, L. C., Stuart-Hill, G., Diggle, R. W., & Naidoo, R. (2019). Investigating the effects of community-based conservation on attitudes towards wildlife in Namibia. <i>Biological Conservation</i> , 233, 193-200.
476	Strickland-Munro, J. K., Moore, S. A., & Freitag-Ronaldson, S. (2010). The impacts of tourism on two communities adjacent to the Kruger National Park, South Africa. <i>Development Southern Africa</i> , 27(5), 663-678.
477	Suich, H. (2013). Evaluating the household level outcomes of community based natural resource management: The Tchuma Tchato Project and Kwandu Conservancy. <i>Ecology and Society</i> , <i>18</i> (4).
478	Suich, H. (2013). The effectiveness of economic incentives for sustaining community based natural resource management. <i>Land Use Policy</i> , <i>31</i> , 441-449.
479	Suich, H., & Murphy, C. A. (2002). <i>Crafty women: The livelihood impact of craft income in Caprivi</i> (Vol. 48). Wildlife Integration for Livelihood Diversification (WILD) Project, Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism.
480	Suich, H., Busch, J., & Barbancho, N. (2005). Economic impacts of transfrontier conservation areas: baseline of tourism in the Kavango-Zambezi TFCA. <i>Cape Town, South Africa: Conservation International.</i>
481	Sutton, W. (1998, August). The costs of living with elephants in Namibia. In <i>Proceedings from the workshop on cooperative regional wildlife management in Southern Africa</i> (pp. 57-71).
482	Suzuki, Y. (2001). Drifting rhinos and fluid properties: the turn to wildlife production in western Zimbabwe. <i>Journal of Agrarian Change</i> , 1(4), 600-625.
483	Swatuk, L. A. (2005). From "project" to "context": Community based natural resource management in Botswana. <i>Global Environmental Politics</i> , 5(3), 95-124.

484	Swatuk, L. A. (2005). Peace parks in southern Africa. In Draft paper presented at Environmental Change and Security Program Symposium: Parks for Peace or Peace for Parks.
485	Swemmer, L., Grant, R., Annecke, W., & Freitag-Ronaldson, S. (2015). Toward more effective benefit sharing in South African National Parks. <i>Society & Natural Resources</i> , 28(1), 4-20.
486	Swemmer, L., Landela, R., Mdungasi, P., Midzi, S., Mmatho, W., Mmethi, H., & Twine, W. (2020). It's Not Just About the Worm: Social and Economic Impacts of Harvesting Imbrasia Belina larvae (Kruger National Park, South Africa). <i>Conservation and Society</i> , <i>18</i> (2), 183.
487	Swemmer, L., Mmethi, H., & Twine, W. (2017). Tracing the cost/benefit pathway of protected areas: A case study of the Kruger National Park, South Africa. <i>Ecosystem services</i> , 28, 162-172.
488	Symons, K. (2017). Trans-frontier conservation and the neoliberalisation of nature: the case of the Ponta do Ouro Partial Marine Reserve, Mozambique.
489	Tapela, B. N., & Omara-Ojungu, P. H. (1999). Towards bridging the gap between wildlife conservation and rural development in post-apartheid South Africa: the case of the Makuleke community and the Kruger National Park. <i>South African geographical journal</i> , <i>81</i> (3), 148-155.
490	Tavuyanago, B. (2016). Living on the fringes of a protected area: Gonarezhou National Park (GNP) and the indigenous communities of South East Zimbabwe 1934-2008 (Doctoral dissertation, University of Pretoria).
491	Taylor, M. (2007). CBNRM for Whose Benefit? A Case Study of Subsistence Hunting on the Boundaries of Botswana's Northern Protected Areas. <i>NRM and People in Botswana</i> , 27.
492	Tchakatumba, P. K., Gandiwa, E., Mwakiwa, E., Clegg, B., & Nyasha, S. (2019). Does the CAMPFIRE programme ensure economic benefits from wildlife to households in Zimbabwe?. <i>Ecosystems and People</i> , <i>15</i> (1), 119-135.
493	Tembo, S. (2010). An examination of the residents' perceptions of impacts of nature based tourism on community livelihoods and conservation: case study of Chiawa Game Management Area, Zambia (Doctoral dissertation).
494	Thakadu, O. T. (2005, August). Success factors in community based natural resources management in northern Botswana: Lessons from practice. In <i>Natural Resources Forum</i> (Vol. 29, No. 3, pp. 199-212). Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing, Ltd
495	Thakadu, O. T., Mangadi, K. T., Bernard, F. E., & Mbaiwa, J. E. (2005). The economic contribution of safari hunting to rural livelihoods in the Okavango: The case of Sankuyo village. <i>Botswana Notes & Records</i> , <i>37</i> (1), 22-39.
496	Thakholi, L. (2016). <i>Modes of land control in transfrontier conservation areas: a case of green grabbing</i> (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Town).
497	Thomas, G. D. (2006). <i>Human-crocodile conflict (Nile crocodile: Crocodylus niloticus) in the Okavango Delta, Botswana</i> (Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University).
498	Thondhlana, G., Shackleton, S., & Muchapondwa, E. (2011). Kgalagadi Transfrontier Park and its land claimants: a pre-and post-land claim conservation and development history. <i>Environmental Research Letters</i> , 6(2), 024009.
499	Tichaawa, T. M., & Mhlanga, O. S. W. A. L. D. (2015). Community perceptions of a community-based tourism project: A case study of the CAMPFIRE programme in Zimbabwe. <i>African Journal for Physical Health Education, Recreation and Dance</i> , 21(Supplement 2), 55-67.
500	Tucker, B. (2007). Applying behavioral ecology and behavioral economics to conservation and development planning: an example from the Mikea forest, Madagascar. <i>Human Nature</i> , <i>18</i> (3), 190-208.
501	Turner, S. (2013). Community-based natural resource management and rural livelihoods. In <i>Rights Resources and Rural Development</i> (pp. 59-80). Routledge.
502	Twyman, C. (1998). Rethinking community resource management: managing resources or managing people in western Botswana?. <i>Third World Ouarterly</i> . <i>19</i> (4), 745-770.
503	Twyman, C. (2000). Livelihood opportunity and diversity in Kalahari Wildlife Management Areas, Botswana: rethinking community resource management. <i>Journal of Southern African</i> <i>Studies</i> , 26(4), 783-806.

504	Twyman, C. (2001). Natural resource use and livelihoods in Botswana's wildlife management areas. <i>Applied Geography</i> , 21(1), 45-68.
505	Van Amerom, M., & Büscher, B. (2005). Peace parks in Southern Africa: bringers of an African Renaissance?. <i>Journal of Modern African Studies</i> , 159-182.
506	Van der Merwe, S. J., Lues, J. F. R., & Avenant, N. L. (2009). Pastoral farming and wildlife management influences on lion/livestock interaction in the Kgalagadi-South, Botswana: a synopsis. <i>Journal for New Generation Sciences</i> , 7(1), 203-214.
507	Vanderpost, C. (2007). Protected areas in Ngamiland, Botswana: investigating options for conservation-development through human footprint mapping. <i>International journal of environmental studies</i> , 64(5), 555-570.
508	Venter, F. J., Naiman, R. J., Biggs, H. C., & Pienaar, D. J. (2008). The evolution of conservation management philosophy: Science, environmental change and social adjustments in Kruger National Park. <i>Ecosystems</i> , <i>11</i> (2), 173-192.
509	Viljoen, J. H., & Naicker, K. (2000). Nature-based tourism on communal land: the Mavhulani experience. <i>Development Southern Africa</i> , 17(1), 135-148.
510	Virtanen, P. (2005). Community-based natural resource management in Mozambique: a critical review of the concept's applicability at local level. <i>Sustainable Development</i> , <i>13</i> (1), 1-12.
511	Watts, S., & Faasen, H. (2009). Community-based conflict resolution strategies for sustainable management of the Tsitsikamma National Park, South Africa. <i>South African Geographical Journal</i> , <i>91</i> (1), 25-37.
512	Weaver, L. C., & Skyer, P. (2003, September). Conservancies: Integrating wildlife land-use options into the livelihood, development and conservation strategies of Namibian communities. In <i>5th World Parks Congress, Durban</i> .
513	Webster, K. C. (2019). <i>Expanding the Kavango-Zambezi (KAZA) TFCA: Experiences from Botswana</i> (Doctoral dissertation, Faculty of Science).
514	Wells, M. P. (1997). <i>Economic perspectives on nature tourism, conservation and development</i> (Vol. 55). Washington, DC: Environment Department, World Bank.
515	Whande, W. (2007). Trans-boundary natural resources management in southern Africa: local historical and livelihood realities within the Great Limpopo Trans-frontier Conservation Area.
516	Whande, W. (2010). Windows of opportunity or exclusion? Local communities in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area, South Africa. <i>Community Rights, Conservation and Contested Land: The Politics of Natural Resource Governance in Africa</i> , 147-173.
517	White, S. C., & Jha, S. (2013). The Politics of Wellbeing, Conservation and Development in Chiawa, Zambia. <i>Wellbeing and Poverty Pathways</i> .
518	Wienand, J. J., Leslie, A., von Gerhardt-Weber, K., Knight, A. T., & Kidd, M. (2013). Elephant water point usage in a fenced reserve: a case study from Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi. <i>Woody vegetation change and elephant water point use in Majete Wildlife Reserve: implications for water management strategies</i> , 76.
519	Wily, L., & Mbaya, S. (2001). Land, people, and forests in eastern and southern Africa at the beginning of the 21st century: the impact of land relations on the role of communities in forest future (No. 7). Iucn.
520	Witter, R. (2013). Elephant-induced displacement and the power of choice: moral narratives about resettlement in Mozambique's Limpopo National Park. <i>Conservation and Society</i> , <i>11</i> (4), 406-419.
521	Witter, R., & Satterfield, T. (2019). Rhino poaching and the "slow violence" of conservation- related resettlement in Mozambique's Limpopo National Park. <i>Geoforum</i> , 101, 275-284.
522	Wolmer, W. (2003). Transboundary conservation: the politics of ecological integrity in the Great Limpopo Transfrontier Park. Journal of Southern African Studies, 29(1), 261-278.
523	Yurco, K., King, B., Young, K. R., & Crews, K. A. (2017). Human–wildlife interactions and environmental dynamics in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. <i>Society & Natural Resources</i> , <i>30</i> (9), 1112-1126.
524	Zanamwe, C., Gandiwa, E., Muboko, N., Kupika, O. L., & Mukamuri, B. B. (2018). Ecotourism and wildlife conservation-related enterprise development by local communities

	within Southern Africa: Perspectives from the greater Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation,
	South-Eastern Lowveld, Zimbabwe. Cogent Environmental Science, 4(1), 1531463.
525	Zettelmeyer, W., Rozemeijer, N., & Woodhill, J. (2008). External Review of IUCN
	2007. Report on Linking Conservation to Livelihoods in Africa (Objective 2).
526	Ziobro, W. (2014). Kavango-Zambezi Transfrontier Conservation Area and its influence on
	the communities in its Botswana borders (Master's thesis, UiT Norges arktiske universitet).